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. ,;‘_SUMMARY OF THESIS
This thesiéfexamines the effect of the existence of the United
Nations upon the Palestine Question, from its reference to the U.N.
by Britain on April: 2, 1947, to the admission of Israel to the U.N.
on May 11, 1949,

It examines how the United Nations Special Committee on Palestine
was established in the First Special Session of the U.N., and traces
in detail the Committee's activities in Palestine, the Arab States,
and Germany. The preparation of the Committee's report and the reactions
" of the different parties involved in the Palestine Question are then
described. In the Second Regular Session, a full description is given
of the establishment of the Ad Hoc Committee on the Palestinian Question,
its activities, and the events in the General Assembly:which led to
partition being recommended for Palestine in the form it was. The forces
throughout the World behind these events are explored as fully as
possible. Russian,'American, and British policies after the Second
Regular Session and the work on Palestine of the Palestine Commission,
the Trusteeship Council, and the Security Council are described. The
reasons for the calling of the Second Special Session, its events and
results are examined., British, American, and Russian attitudes to
Israel after its declaration as a state are described covering the
period to the First Truce in the Arab Israeli War of 1948, the Truce
itself, the Ten Days Campaign, the Second Truce, and the Second Regular
Session. The thesis concluded with the events surrounding the admission

of Israel to the United Nations,
There are appendices on the United Nations Special Committee

on Palestine, the boundaries of its partition plan, and population

statistics of the plans proposed divisions.

(iv)



NOTE ON REFERENCES

United Nations documents are refered to by the classification
used in the U.N. e.g. A/C.1/149 would be the 149th document
submitted to the First Committee and A/705 the 705th submitted
to the General Assembly. In a few cases, which have been noted,
the same document appears twice with different classifications,
. generally due to appearing first in a committee then being

re-issued for use by the General Assembly.

Books are refered to by the surnames of author or editor only,
except where additional detail is necessary to avoid confusion,
Full details of author, title, publisher, and date and place of

publication are given in the bibliography.

(v)



CHAPTER ONE

THE FIRST SPECIAL SESSION, APRIL 28-MAY 15, 1947
i)The Acceptance of the British Proposal to Establish a United

Nations Special Committee on Palestine,
The Palestine Question was first grought to the attention of

the U.N. on April 2, 1947, when Sir Alemander Cadogan transmitted
the following message from the British Government, to the

Secretary-General :=

"His Majesty's Government in the United Kingdom
request the Secretary-General of the United Nations
to place the Question of Palestine on the Agenda of
the General Assembly at its next regular annual
session. They will submit to the Assembly an account
of their administration of the League of Nations
Mandate and will ask the Assembly to make recommendations
under Article 10 of the Charter, concerning the
future government of Palestine."

Sir Alexander added that, "In making this request, His
Majesty's Government draw the attention of the Secretary-General
to the desirability of an early settlement in Palestine, and to the
peseibility that the General Assembly might not be able to decide
upon its recommendation at the next reguaa; annual session unless
some preliminary study of the question had been made under the
auspices of the United Nationsf Theg therefore request the
Secretary-General to summon, as soon as possible, a special session -
of the General Assembly for the purpose of constituting and
instructing a special committee to prepare for the consideration,
at the regular session of the Assembly, of the question refered to

in the preceding paragraph."(l)
With 11 days, 28 countries had replied to the Secretary-
General in favour of holding a special session on the British

proposal. This provided the majority, required under the U.N.

Charter, authorising a special session.

1.4/286

(1)




The Arab states then decided to enter a rival proposal, "The
termination of the mandate over Palestine and the declaration of

its independence."(1)

The first two meetings were spent on procedural matters.(2)
Oswaldo Aranha (Brazil) was elected President of the General
Assembly. His suggestion that the normal rules of procedure should

apply to the Special Session was adopted.

The General Committee then held 4 meetings to decide which

items it should recommend the General Assembly to place on its
agenda, (3)

1,5cidentical proposals were submitted by Egypt, Iraq, Syria,
Lebanon, and Saudi Arabia, on April 21, 1947 (A/287 to A/291)

2.Meeting No.68, Monday 28 April, 1947, dealt with,

1.The opening of the session by the Chairman of the Belgian
delegation,

2.The election of the Credentials Commlttee.

3.The election of the President,

4,The admission of Siam.

5.0rganisation (i.e. the acceptance of normal rules of
procedure).

6.The election of the Vice-Presidents.

Meeting No.69, later on Monday, 28 April, dealt with,
1.The election of the Chairmen of the Main Committees,
2.The report of the Credentials Committee.

30No.28, Tuesday, Aprll 29, 194?, at 11 a.m.

No.29, " " 3 pem.
No.30, Wednesday " 30 " " 11 a.m.
No.31’ L] L] n " " 3 p.m.

(2)



The Committee consisted of the President of the General

Assembly, its 7 Vice-Presidents, and 6 Chairmen of Cormittees(1l).

At its first meeting, the Arabs, represented by Egypt,
apparently thought it a waste of time to oppose'the British item,
since a majority of U.N. members had already approved it in
principle by agreeing to the Special Session. Hassan Pasha (BEgypt)
contented himself with the vague objection to "the item as it

stands," but did not force a vote.

More significant was a very early statement of British policy.
Asaf Ali (India) challenged British sincerity in calling the Special
Session. Press reports, he declared, of Lord Hall's speech in the
House of Lords, had indicated that Britain was not prepared to
accept U.N. recommendations. Since in the General Committee such
a challenge was not in order, and the Chairman pointed this out to
Asaf Ali, Sir Alexander Cadogan's insistence on replying shows the
importance Britain attached to making the British position clear
at an early stage. He replied:-
"] cannot imagine His Majesty®s Government carrying
out a policy of which it does not approve...if it were
a decision we could not reconcile with our consciences,
should we single handed be expected to expend our blood

and treasure in carrying it out?®
At the second meeting, the representatives of Iraq, Lebanon,

Saudi Arabia, and Syria, were present to sponsor their proposal.

Mr., Jamali (Iraq) acted as spokesman.

1,Brazil, Canada, China, Czechoslovakia, Ecuador, Egypt, Honduras,
India, Poland, Sweden, United Kingdom, U.S.A.; UsSeS<Re.

3)



He concentrated mainly upon attacking the legality of Jewish
claims. During the First World War, Arabs had aided the Allies,
and had been promised their independence, in return. However, this
promise was superfluous, because President Wilson of America had
put forward the principle of self-determination. The Mandate System
had been intended to lead countries towards independence. Independence
had been achieved in Syria, Lebanon, Transjordan, and Iraq, and he
saw no reason why Palestine should be made an exception, against the
wishes of its people. The Balfour Declaration and the Palestine
Mandate had been mistakes, and this was demonstrated by Britain's
inability to make the Mandate work. Zionism, he declared, was

simply imperialism at its worst.

Only towards the end of his statement didMr. Jamali turn to
practical politics. He urged that Zionism was disturbing the whole
Arab World, and jeopardising the status of Jewish minorities in

other Arab countries.

He concluded that, after 20 committees and 3 white papers,
a U.N. special committee was unnecessary. The solution was simple.
Palestine should be given its independence, in accordance with’

the U.N. Charter,

The Arab proﬁosal found little favour, even with Arab
sympathisers, like Asaf Ali (India), who declared the British
proposal did not rule out the solution proposed by the Arabs.

He considered it would be better to let both sides state their case
before taking a decision. America strongly opposed the Arab item.
U.S.A. opinioh was that the Special Session had only been called to
establish a special committee, not to take decisionsg -~

Russia, Poland, and Czechoslovakia, however, were careful not
to commit themselves to either side. Russia and Czechoslovakia
declared that they would like the substance of the Palestine

Question discussed, if only to help the proposed special committee.

%)



The other members of the Committee, apart from Brazil
(Chairman), followed the American lead. The Arab proposal was
decisively defeated, receiving only one vote (Egypt) against
8, with 5 abstentions (Russia, Poland, Czechoslovakia, India,
and Brazil)., The General Committee, therefore, in its report
to the General Assembly, recommended only that the Assembly
consider the British proposal to establish a U.N. special
committee on Palestine. This report was debated in 2 meetings of

the Assembly. (1)

Mr. El-Khouri (Syria) and Mr. Jamali (Iraq) made detailed
attacks upon the inclusion of the British proposal. Both, However,
were ruled out of order for attempting to discuss the substance of
the Palestine Question, Mr. Malik (Lebanon) then tried to lead the
Assembly astray by suggesting that some aspects of the Palestine
Question were more appropriate to the other four U.N. cormittees
than to the First (Political and Security) Committee, which most
members, until then, had considered the natural choice to deal
with the Palestine Question. Mr. Malik was unsuccessful, and the

Chairman declared the British proposal adopted,

Mr. El-Khouri, in the next meeting, spoke in support of .
the Arab proposal. He declared some states were eager to vote
for a special committee before hearing any evidence. However,
when he tried to go into detail, in support of the Arab proposal,
he was again ruled out of order. The Arabs then bégan to accept
that their proposal might be rejected. Hassan Pasha (Egypt) made
the point that a vote against the Arab item did not necessarily
mean a vote against Palestine's independence. Mr., Jamali declared
that. although a special committee was unnecessary, it could be
instructed to investigate how Palestine might be given its

independence,

1.No.70 and No.71, Thursday, Mayl, 1947, 11 a.m. and 3 p.m.

(5)




Other states then spoke against discussing the Arab proposal.
Colombia, however, suggested that, although a special committee
was necessary, it could be instructed to study the "termination of
the Mandate over Palestine and the declaration of its independence."
Mr. Entezam (Iran) %ﬂszed on this point, and suggested a votebe taken
on the Colombian proposal, which, if accepted, could have allowed
the Arabs to withdraw their proposzl, without complete defeat. The
President, however, hastily called for a vote on the Arab item, which

was rejected, and the debate was, therefore, closed.(1)

The Arabs did, however, muster 15 votes, including the U.S.S.R.

bloc, the Moslem countries, and Argentina.

Russia then proposed that the General Assembly hear representatives
of the Jewish Agency, before taking any decision. This was debated
in the General Committee, but received no support. Instead, no
objection was raised to a joint U.S.A./U.K. proposal that all
requests for hearings by the U.N. be refered to the First Committee.

This General Committee recommendation, however, was considerably

debated, in 4 meetings of the General Assembly.(2)

After Russia had again urged that the Jewish Agency be heard
by the Assembly, the delegates seem to have become absorbed by the
question of whether the Agency should be heard by the Assembly or
the First Committee. Finally, a composite resolution of Chile,
Uruguay, Byelorussia, Yugoslavia, and Argentina, prepared during

the lunch break, between Meetings No.74 and 75, was accepted. (3)

1.Dr.Aranha's handling of the debate was widely criticised in the
press, mainly on grounds of lack of command of English, but, in
this case, he seems deliberately to have frustrated Arab aims.,
2.,No.72 to 75, Saturday May 3, 11 a.m. to Monday, May 5, 2.30 p.m.
3.4/305 (also classified as A/C.1/144)

(6)



This instructed the First Committee to hear the Jewish Agency, and
refered other communications to that Committee, for its decision.

A vote to close the debate was taken despite Arab protests, approved,
and the joint proposal was accepted by 44 votes to 7 with 3 abstentions,

In view of the same delegates' later efforts in the First
Committee to emphasise the Arab Higher Committee's equal status to
the Jewish Agency, it seems that they had simply forgotten about
the Arab Higher Committee, and intended no disparagement,

(7)



ii)The Establishment of Unscop's Terms of Reference.
The delegates reassembled the following day as the First

Committee to discuss the British proposal. Altogether, 11 First

Committee meetings were held during the First Special Session.

During these meetings, another meeting each of the General Committee

and the General Assembly were held.(l)

During.these meetings U.S.A. policy was to avoid
committing America in any way, and also to prevent Russia
from involving herself.(2) America wanted the proposed special

committee on Palestine to consist of §mall, independent powers,

with terms of reference giving them the maximum possible freedom. .

Russia, however, was anxious to take part in a committee which
would have real power to establish Palestine's independence,

and therefore favoured the inclusion of the Great Powers. The
small powers generally followed the U.S.S.R. stand, but were
helpless in face of the other Great Powers' refusal to serve

on the special committee, The Arabs lacked an effective plan of
attack within the U.N. Their first proposal on the committee's
terms of reference appeared on May 10, 1947, after proposals of
America, Argentina, and El Salvador. This suggests that the Arab
states had difficulty in agreeing on tactics., Also, when the Arab
proposal was presented, it was obvious, by then, that such a

proposal stood no chance of being accepted.

By far the most effective exponent of the Arab cause was
Asaf ATi (India), who suggested numerous compromises which could
not be easily opposed, e.g. by concentrating on the question of
independence, he forced u4merica into the embarrassing position

of seeming to oppose Palestine's independence.

1.First Committee meetings 46-56, Tuesday May 6 to Tuesday
May 13, 1947. -

General Cormittee meeting No.34, Wednesday May 7, at 2.30 po.m.

General Assembly " No.76 " wongon 445 pom,

2,Granados pp.5-6

(8)



The first meeting was taken up by a squabble on procedure
between Argentine and America, Both presented proposals asking
for the Arabs of Palestine to be heard as well as the Jewish Agency.
America,rhowever, wanted Britain's advice on who should represent
the Palestine Arabs given special consideration, or even to be
accepted outright.(1) Naturally, delegates were unwilling to bind
themselves, in advance, to accept a British decision, Since there
was no other viable representation for the Palestine Arabs than the
Arab Higher Committee, American tactics appear misguided and

over cautious.

Over lunch, after the first meeting, American and Argentinian
delegates agreed to amalgate their proposals, and the result was
presented to the afternoon session.(2) First, Johnson (U.S.A.)
asked Cadogan (U.K.) if the Arabs of Palestine were represented by
the Arab Higher Committee. Cadogan replieéd, definitely, that they
were. Johnson then proposed that a hearing be granted to the Arab
Higher Committee as well as the Jewish Agency. DBritain was still
to have a special position in the choice of other applicants for
hearings. This last aroused further opposition, and the proposal
was accepted, following amendment to establish a subcommittee to

examine applications from other organisations for hearings.(3)

The whole debate threatened to become irrelevant, since the
Arab Higher Committee had withdrawn an earlier application to
state its case at the U.N., on grounds that the Jewish Agency was
being given higher status by the General Assembly instruction to
the First Committee to grant a hearing to the Agency, but leaving

the Committee application to the First Committee's discretion. (4)

1.A/C.1/146 (Argentina) and A/C.1/147 (4merica)
2.A/C.1/148

3.4/C.1/151

4,4/C.1/143 (Cablegram of May 4, 1947)

9)



This problem was solved by Asaf Ali's (India) suggestion that
the General Assembly should be recalled to accord equal honour
to the Arab Higher Committee as to the Jewish Agency. In the
necessary preliminary General Committee meeting, a formula was
agreed, that "to grant a hearing" to the Arab Higher Committee
was the correct interpretation of the General Assembly's
intention, and this was suggested to the General Assembly,
where it was eagerly accepted. Debate had hardly begun, when
a proposal by Entezam (Iran) was accepted. The formula also
proved acceptable to the Arab Higher Committee.

Rabbi Silver presented the Jewish case to the First
Cormittee at its 5th meeting of the Special Session.(1)
Following a rehersal of promises made to the Jews since 1917, and
broken, Silver concentrated on 3 points. First, the Jewish Agency
would give the committee complete co-operation. Since most states
were anxious not to become involved in the Palestine Question,
Silver's statement was calculated to make the committee appear
viable, someﬁhing onto which the problem could be unloaded,
and, therefore, U.N. members would be likely to support it.
Secondly, Silver urged that the committee visit the Bgﬂplaced
persons' camps in Germany. He implied that a solution to the
Palestine problem might also solve the refugee problem. Again,
this was a telling argument, for many governments were under
pressure to help the displaced persons for humanitarian reasons,
but had good political reason for doing nothing. Thirdly, he
attempted to place responsibility for Palestine on Britain. He

declared, "a decisive contribution can only be made by the
Mandatory Government.” This was a real appreciation of the

1.No.50

(10)



situation, and gave another opportunity for U.N. members to
avoid responsibility by placing it on Britain, and simultaneously
putting pressure on Britain to produce a solution favourable to

the Jewish Agency.

Mr, Henry Cattan presented the Arab Higher Committee's
case to the First Committee's 7th meeting of the Special
Session.(1) He concentrated almost completely on legal issues.
The Arabs, he declared, were not against the Jews, but simply
against invaders. Jewish economic developments in Palestine were
not a justification for a take-over. Displaced persons were a
World problem, not Palestine's. Jewish historical claims were

false or irrelevant,

On the recommendation of the subcommittee on applications,(Z)
no further testimony was heard, and delegates set about framing the
comnittee's terms of reference., Already, Argentine and America
had submitted proposals, but discussion had been judged premature
until after the hearing of the Jewish Agency and Arab Higher
Committee.(3) The Argentine proposal was complex, although
it contained features which were incorporated in the Committee's
final recommendations, e.g. that the special committee should have
"the widest powers to ascertain and record facts," that it should
receive "written and oral testimony...from the Mardatory Power,"
and that it should report 'mot later than 1 September, 1947." The
really controversial features were that the five permanent members
of the Security Council "should not be excluded," and that the

remainder of the committee should be chosen on a complex geographical

basis.

10N0052

2,4/C.1/164

3,A4/C.1/149 (Argentine) and A/C.1/150 (U.S.A.)

(11)



The American proposal was much simpler. It was couched in
very general terms, apart from practical details of organisation,
Its most important feature was to name 7 countries as members
of the committee, all of which later served.(l) Before meeting
No.50, El Salvador had circulated a vague proposal that the
committee should produce proposals on Palestine leading to "the
destiny it deserves."(2) This did not survive debate apart from
a minor paragraph refering to the interest of Islam, Judaism,
and Christianity in Palestine, which persisted into the committee's
terms of reference. At meeting No.57, a further subcommittee

was set up to try to reconcile these proposals.(3)

The subcommittee reported to the next meeting, but made
no recormendations on membership, a question which was postponed.
The only controversial proposal in their report was that the
committee should bear in mind that independence was the "ultimate
purpose" of their work.(4) Mr Gromyko (U.S.S.R.) promptly began
to emphasise the importance he attached to Palestime's independence,
Russia prepared a resolution for the next meeting, which implied
support for the Arabs.(5) By emphasising that the committee
should investigate "on the spot" he implied that the committee
should not visit the displaced persons' camps, a vital element
in the Jewish case. The proposal further declared that the
committee should prepare proposals for establishing, "without
delay, the independent state of Palestine." Asaf Ali (India)
realising that if the committee were instructed to prepare plans
for the independence of Palestine, it implied rejection of partition,
tried to preserve the Russian principle by incorporating the Russian

proposal with the subcommittee's, in a further proposal.(6)

1.Canada, Czechoslovakia, Iran, Netherlands, Peru, Sweden,
and Uruguay.
2,A/C.1/156
3.Argentine, Australia, China, Egypt, El Salvador, France, Russia,
Britain, America, Canada, and Czechoslovakia,
4,A/C.1/165
5.4/Ce1/166
6.4/C.1/167

(12)



The Philippines then produced a practical draft of

terms of reference, leaving blank the names of the members.(l)
It was only at this point, that Iraq produced the first Arab
proposal. (2) This emphasised that independence for Palestine
was the commission's "primary purpose," and that it should
consider the effect of its proposals on the }Middle East as a
whole. This proposal came too late to be taken seriocusly,

and obviously better tactics would have been to try to amend

the draft, produced by the subcommittee, in Arab favour.

Still attempting to produce an agreed text, the subcommittee
was enlarged to include-”Iraq and Philippines, and met 3 times,
during the weekend, May 10-11. It reported to the First Committee
on Monday May 12, but had only been able to produce a text with
many alternative paragraphs. These were debated and voted
consecutively, with the exception of membership, which was

postponed again.(3)

Chile proposed that, in the preamble, the words "future
government of Palestine" should be changed to "question of Palestinei™
Cadogan (U.K.) acgepted this readily, and this indicates, that, at
this stage, Britain was looking for a widér solution from the U.N.
than simple advice on how Palestine should be governed by Britain.

The Arab states certainly appreciated the change of emphasis.

They objected to "question," insisted that there was no "question,"
and declared that the U.N. had only to follow its Charter.

However, Chile's proposal was adopted by a large majority.(4)

(13)




Russia then indicated that she was changing her tacticsy
in a manner which might suit the Jewish Agency. Poland introduced
a proposal that the committee should visit the displeced persons'
camps in Germany and the internment camps in Cyprus, where Britain
was holding illegal immigrants to Palestine.(1) This was rejected,

and the committee received simply the "widest powers."

There was no objection to the committee determining its

own procedure,

Panama and Guatemala were not satisfied that the'committee
had not been implicitly denied the right to visit Cyprus and

Germany, therefore they proposed the committee should investigate

“gherever it may deem convenient," which was accepted with "convenient"

amended to Museful” at Australia's suggestion.(2)

Paragraph 5 then led to conflict. Iraq had prepared an
alternative, emphasising that Palestine should become independent.
America obviously did not like this, but equally obviously did
not want to vote against independence for any country, therefore
introduced an ambiguous motion, allowing Palestine independence, but
not explicitly unpartitioned.(3) France solved the problem by
suggesting leaving out the embarrassing paragraph, and this was

readily done,

Very little interest was taken in the religious clause,

and the simplest version was chosen,

In paragraph 6, Russia again had an opportunity to emphasise

that she wanted Palestine independent. The Russian proposal for

(14)



the establishment "without delay, the independent State of
Palestine," also incorporated in the Indian amalgamation of
subcommittee text and Russian text, was pressed by Russia,

but rejected.(l) Gromyko (U.S.S.R.) then insisted that Poland
persist with an almost identical proposal, (2) which was rejected
likewise, The majority of delegates prefered to let the committee

"submit such proposals as it may consider appropriate."

The deadline for the committee to submit its report
was fixed at September 1, 1947, and the Secretary-General
authorised to make the necessary arrangements. The First

Committee then turned to the question of membership.

Since most of the permanent members of the Security Council
had refused to serve, Argentina withdrew her proposal on
membership. Norway then tried to interest the delegates in a
compromise scheme, but failed. Russia, however, persisted in
proposing great powers. Two Russian proposals and one Polish were
rejected before the Committee decided to accept an Australian
proposal to have a committee of 11, not including the 5
permanent members.(3) Since America had already proposed 7 members
and Chile 2, (4) Bolivia suggested voting on the 9, and they were
accepted. Australia and India were voted in, in preference

to Philippines and Siam, to complete the 11.

Finally, a vote was taken on the Committee's recommendations
as a whole, Of the Arab states, Saudi Arabia and Lebanon abstained.
Malik (Lebanon) explained his country did not want to be associated
in any way with the report. The other Arab states voted against it.

The report was therefore approved by 39 votes to 3, with 10

abstentions.

1.4/C.1/166 and A/C.1/167

2.A/C.1/174

3.4/C.1/149 (Argentine), A/C.1/177 and alternative (Russia),
4/C.1/166 (Poland), and 4/C.1/178 (Australia),.

4%,4/C.1/ (America) and A4/C.1/180 (Chile).

(15)



The delegates reconvened the next day as the General
Assembiy to give the report of the First Committee full authority
as a General Assembly resolution. No change of attitude was
expected, Iraq and Syria restated their previous positions,
'emphasising that Palestine should be made an independent state.
However, Gromyko (U.S.S.R.), after his early attempts to get
Palestine's independence written into the Commission's terms
of reference had failed, began a fresh approach. He described
his ideal solution as a sort of bi-national state, "independent,
dual, homogenous, Arab-Jewish," but, if relations between Arabs
 and Jews were so bad as to make this impossible, then partition
might be the best solution. This statement indicates that the
Russians had decided, at this time, that their main aim, the removal
of the British presence in Palestine, might be better served
by supporting partition than by supporting the Arab demands for
immediate independence as a unitary state.

The gaining of Russian support was a great step forward for
the Jewish Agency, but does not seem to have been the result of
theif diplomacy. Instead, it seem to have come as a complete
surprise, (1)

In the final vote, most of the abstainers decided, presumeably
on their governments' instructions, to vote for the resolution.
Lebanon and Syria decided to vote against. The final vote therefore,
was 45 in favour, 7 against, and 1 abstention (siam). The 7

votes against were the Arab states plus Afghanistan and Turkey. (2)

1.Horowitz Chapter 24
2.For the terms of reference, including a list of members, see
App.I
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iii)Reactions to the Establishment of Unscop.
The reaction of the Jewish Agency to the establishment of

Unscop, as the United Nations Special Committee on Palestine

quickly became known, was to make a firm decision to fight for
partition. Until this time it had been possible for the Agency
to avoid committing itself completely, although it had produced
a partition plan for discussion in London, at the end of 1946,
However, at the U.N. it was necessary to make definite proposals
which would be brought to the attention of the whole World. At
a meeting of the Jewiwh Agency Executive, Aubrey Eban and David
Horowitz were nominated liason officers to Unscop, and Moshe
Shertok, the head of the Agency Political Department, gave

them clear instructions "to work for the establishment of a Jewish
state in a suitable area of Palestine."(1) By Unscop's first
meeting, May 26, 1947, the Agency had offered full co-operation
and had formally applied to establish liason.(2)

The Agency was optimistic, but realised a hard struggle lay
ahead. Ben Gurion, in the Vaad Leumi on May 22, spoke at length of
the "moral and political value of the Soviet Union's approach to
the dual problem of the Jewish people and Palestine." However,
he warned against undue reliance on the words of statesmen. (3)

In the Agency Executive meeting, Shertok was likewise cautious.
"The decision,"he said, "to exclude the big powers directly was
taken in Committee after a long debate in the General Assembly.

But their influence will, no doubt, be evident behind the scenes,"(4)

The decision to work for partition had one great advantage;
it was the policy favoured by Chaim Weizmann, therefore the Agency

€ould rely on his influence and prestige. Of course, Weizmann had

1.Horowitz p.159

2.Times May 27, 1947, and Unscop Report, Vol.l, p.4, para.30
3.Times May 23, 1947 i

4 Horowitz p.159
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been in the political wilderness ever since the VWorld Zionist
Congress at Basel, but this did not prevent the Agency using

his services or Weizmann rendering vital aid to the Zionist
cause., Indeed, at times, Weizmann being officially a private
individual was an advantage. The Agency could present the most
extreme demands, which were really bargaining counters, against
which Weizmann could present, as a moderate compromise, the maximum
they really hoped for. The right tactics to follow seem to have
caused some confusion at first in the Zionist Organisation.(l)
In fact, Ben Gurion made public that the Agency would accept
partition, in a speech to the Vaad Leumi.(2) Silver promptly
telegraphed a "strongly worded rebuke," and Ben Gurion was
severely criticised in the Palestine Jewish press. Finally,
when the Agency Executive met on May 26, he was severely
"reprimanded.” Altogether, the Jews took considerable trouble
to give the impression that partition would not necessarily be

welcome. (3)

Agency decisions, of course,‘S%d not bind Irgun or Stern
Gang. Begin of the I.Z.L. particu%y believed in a Jewish state
incorporating the whole of the original mendated Palestine,
_ including Transjordan. On May 15, 1947, when it was obvious Unscop
would be established, the New York Herald Tribune carried a full
page advertisement for funds for terrorists. Begin ignored resolutions
of the U.N. of May 15 and the Vaad Leumi of May 22, condemning
terrorism. However, his attitude to Unscop is contradictory.
While denying charges that his activities after May 15 were designed
to attract Unscop's attention, he appeared to be very proud of the
meeting he arranged with the Unscop Chairmen, 8 days after Unscop's

arrival.(4)

1.Weisgal and Carmichael p.297, Eban states that "responsibility
oscillated between Ben Gurion in Jerusalem and Silver in
New York."

2.Times May 23, 1947, reporting May 22,

3.Times May 27, 1947

4,Begin pp.293-4
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Unlike the Jewish Agency, the establishment of Unscop was
the signal for a major dispute among the Arabs. The Arab Higher
Committee announced, on June 19, that it would boycott Unscop.
No Palestinian Arab was to discuss any political matter with any
member of Unscop. None was to take up a position with Unscop
except as a result ofbeing employed on Government sefvice. Vhen
Unscop arrived, the Committee organised a 15 hour protest strike,
and the Mufti issued a statement, in the most extreme terms,
calling on Arabs to unite against invaders. Later, rallies were
organised at Haifa, Jaffa, and Jerusalem, protesting against
Zionist immigration. The Arab League, however, aiter a
preliminary statemant declaring Unscop established contrary to

the U.N. Charter, 11 days later declared they would co-operate

with Unscop.

The motives of the Arab League appear quite understandable.
They had fought, both against Unscop being established, and against
Unscop's terms of reference. However, once Unscop had been
established, if the Arab case were not put to it, then the Unscop
Report would inevitably be very strongly biassed towards the Jews,
for Unscop would have a choice of producing a report which satisfied
Jews only, or nobody. The Arab Higher Committee does not seem
to have appreciated this, or considered it irrelevant. The best
explanation of the Committee's action may be that the Mufti saw a
settlement coming as a result of Arab pressure on Britain.
Zionist success seemed associated with Zionist terrorism. However,
by early 1947, the Mufti must have been fairly confident that the
Arabs could put on the same sort of pressure, for he had managed
to co-ordinate the activities of his own group (Al Fut;wwah) with
Al Najjadah and the Moslem Brotherhood. By ﬁnscop's departure,

Arab terrorism had become a real problem. (1)

1.Hurewitz p.29%4
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The Palestine Government did not welcome the establishment
of Unscop, but was not in'a position to refuse them entry. Neither
did they want to be involved in defending the British record.
They, therefore, received Unscop politely, tried to restrict
themselﬁes to giving factual information, and at the same time
tried to demonstrate that they alone held power in Palestine.
They objected to Unscop's request for them to appoint a liason
officer, within the meaning of Unscop's rules of procedure,
because thgy objected to being placed on the same level as the
Jewish Agency and Arab Higher Committee, which was a possible
jnterpretation of Unscop's rules. Also, they were not prepared
to bind themselves to "supply such information or render such
assistance as the Committee may require," which was the duty of
the liason officers, specified in Unscop's rules. However, just
before Unscop left Palestine, the Palestine Government declared that
their liason officer, MacGillivray, was a liﬁ%on officer within
the meaning of Unscop's rules of procedure, and, at a farewell
party the High Commissioner, Sir Alan Cunningham stated his views

regarding a solution.

During most of Unscop's stay in Palestine, however, there was
jl1-feeling between Unscop and the Palestine Government. The
pro-Jewish delegates, Granados (Guatemala) and Fabregat (Uruguay)
became most unpopulér, but the pro-Arab Abdur Rahmanﬁpointed
remarks and persistent questioning annoyed Sir Henry Gurney.
Finally, relations became very strained during the death sentence

question,

(20)



CHAPTER TWO

THE UNSCOP INVESTIGATION, MAY 15-SEPTEMBER 1, 1947,

i) Unscop at lake Success.
At the request of the General,Assembly, the Secretary-

General nominated for Unscop a secretariat of nearly 60, In
charge was Dr. Hoo, an experienced diplomat, formerly Chinese
minister to Switzefland, a linguist proficient in French, English,
Russian, and German, as well as Chinese. He held the post of
Assistant Secretary-General in charge of Trusteeship, on which

he was considered an authority. How far he influenced Uncop's
work is difficult to estimate. He was always discrete, and
seldom ventured an opinion, but he was continually seen with
Sandstrom (Unscop Chairman), whom he accompanied on his meetings

with Begin, Haganah, and Abdullah,

Hoo was supported by his principal secretary, Dr. Alphonso
Garcia Robles, a Mexican lawyer, Director, General Political
Division, Department of Security Council Affairs, who seems to
have kept strictly to routine business, and his aide, Dr. Ralph
Bunche., Bunche probably had more influence on the shape of the
Unscop report than any other member of the Secretariat, and
possibly more than some members oé Unscop. He identified the
Jewish struggle with his own efforts to overcome racial prejudice
against himself as a negro, took a considerable part in the
preparation of the Report, and earned the highest praise from
Jewish writers.(l) He was also chairman of the subcommittee
dealing with Unscop's tour of Palestine, and his sympathetic

attitude must have helped the Jews impress Unscop.

1,Horowitz pp. 159 and 176
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By Unscop's first meeting, the Secretariat had prepared a
"Working Documentation on Palestine," containing general information
and the most important documents dealing with previous attempts

at a solution.

Unscop met, for the first time, on Monday May 26, 1947,
at Iake Success. The Secretary-Géneral presided, but only 5
~delegates, Hood (Australia), Rand (Canada), Granados (Guatemala),
Entezam (Iran), and Sandstrom (Sweden), were sble to attend.
Fabregat (Uruguay) had been called to Montevideo, and the rest had
not arrived. The Secretary-General's speech of welcome was heard
in public session, then the Committee went into private session
to discuss its future work. Since only 5 members were present,
election of officers and adoption of rules of procedure was
postponed, but a Preparatory Working Group was formed to work
out ﬁroposals on various organisational details for the consideration
of the full Committee, This group met 3 times in the Empire State
Building, and produced provisional rules of procedure, which were
adopted at the second meeting, on Junez2, 1947, Also at this
meeting, rule 31, concerning liason officers, was communicated to
the Jewish Agency, Arab Higher Committee, and the Palestine
Government. Unscop's first press release was authorised,
inviting organisations which wished to give evidence to the
Conmittee in New York to submit statements in writing, on the
basis of which hearings wmight be granted.(1) Finally, a plan of
work was adopted. Unscop would first, after arriving in Palestine,
request the Palestine Government to provide factual information,
then the Jewish and Arab liason officers would be asked to comment
upon it. Next would follow a brief survey of the country, and

last would come hearings of witnesses.

1.In the end, no hearing was granted in New York.
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The first disagreement arose over the election of Unscop's

Chairman. Sandstrom (Sweden) had been in Stockholm when

nominated to Unscop, and had planned to fly direct to Palestine,
but "several friends" of Granados (Guatemala) had suggested that
Granados should be Chairman, and "a move began in that direction.
Professor Fabregat of Uruguay had left word for Roberto Fontaina,
one of the Uruguayan delegates, to propose my name. Dr. Brilej
supported supported this move," therefore, Britain and America
caused "a high U.N. official to wire him (8andstrom) to alter his
plans and hasten at once to New York so that he would be present

at thé voting and insure his élection. “Shortly before the second
meeting, Dr. Hoo invited all the delegates, save Granados, Brilej,
and Fontaina, to lunch, over which they agreed to support Sandstrom.
Granados, therefore, was outvoted.(l) Granados did not even
become Vice-Chairman, this, probably to satisfy the Latin American
bloc, went to Dr. Ulloa (Peru). The Vice-Chairman, however, had
1ittle power, and Dr. Ulloa in the end did not even go to Palestine
but delegated all his duties to his alternate, Dr. Garcia Salazar.

Disagreement continued. Certain delegates had informed
the press that Unscop was to visit the displaced persons' camps
in Germany and Austria., Since Unscop later did visit the camps,
it is probable that most delegates were then in favour of a visit,
But the question was shelved, because a decision to visit the camps
would have been interpreted by the Arabs as a recognition of the
validity of the Jewish case. This would certainly have destroyed
all hope of Arab co-operation in Palestine, which was already very.

much in doubt.

1,Granados pp.13-15 Although Granados was inclined to
over-dramatise events, this account is consistent with
activities of Unscop later.
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Another question which caused disagreement was whether
to contact any of the terrorists. Hood (Australia) had contacted
underground movements as a delegate to the recent Balkan Commission,
but he refused to reveal his methods. In the end, each delegate
was left to make arrangements as he thought fit, although

Sandstrom made it clear he agreed with contact, in principle.

The delegates also decided to make private arrangements for travel
to Palestine. Most wanted to break their journey in London, but
Bntzam (Iran) protested at what might appear an official visit

A

suggesting bias in British favour.
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ii)Unscop®s Early Work in Palestine, June i4-June 17, 1947
At first the Palestine Government considered housing Unscop
in the Y.M.C.A, building opposite the King David Hotel, and

within the security area closely guarded by British troops.

However, the Government finally decided that U.N. representatives
should not need military protection, and housed them in Kadimah
House, a new building in the Jewish area of Rehavia, which had
been intended as police accommodation. Three Arab policement were
provided as gﬁards. The choice of location and police was a tacit
admission by the Government that it considered Unscop could

expect more trouble from Arabs than Jews. However, the
Government decided that Unscop's meetings should be held inside

the security area in the Y.M.C.A.

An advance party of the Secretariat arrived on June 5, 1947,
and Sandstrom, who had decided to fly direct to Palestine, arrived
with 2 others on June 14. He was met by the Chief Secretary of the
Government, Sir Henry Gurney, and he informed the press that Unscop
would tour Palestine, visiting both Jewish and Arab areas "to get
the feel of the land and the background of the situation."” He
later visited the High Commissioner, Sir Alan Cunningham, with
Dr. Hoo and Dr. Robles. The remainder of Unscop arrived on June 15,

and their first official meeting in Palestine(l) was on June 16.

At this meeting was read a telegram from the Secretary-General
informing the Committee that the Arab Higher Committee was
refusing to co-operate with Unscop. The delegatq;’do not at first
seem té have taken this very seriously, after all, the Committee

had made a great show of refusing to give evidence to the Special

1.No.5
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Session, but had relented after a suitable formula had been
devised to satisfy their dignity. Sandstrom was authorised
to appeal over Jerusalem Radio for full co-operation from
"3]]1 elements of the populafion." He also asked for Unscop
to be_sent written statements and requests for hearings

from interested parties. The Arab Higher Committee, however,
never weakened, and on July 8, Unscop sent the Committee
secretary a further appeal for co-operation. This was

immediately rejected.(l)

£t Unscop's first meeting in Palestine, the most
controversial matter was whether the meeting withtthe Palestine
Government, decided upon in their plan of work, should take place
in camera. The Government had announced that they would meet
Unscop in camera, to the press, on May 29, 1947. However, this
had never been mentioned in New York, and most delegates were
still unaware of this statement until the first Palestine
meeting. Granados, however, produced a copy of the Palestine
Post, which indicated that Sandstrom had made an unauthorised
press release on June 16, that Unscop would meet the Government
in camera. Sandstrom was embarrassed., Most delegates would
have prefered a public hearing. However, since private hearings
had been promised to all who requested them, and there was no
way of compelling the Government to a public session, Unscop
gave in. Unscop did announce, however, that it prefered public
hearings, and did not approve the Government’s desire for a private
hearing. At the press conference, Sandstrom had difficulty
explaining that the Palestine Government was not dictating

Unscop's procedure.

1.For the text of the exchange of letters between Unscop and
the Committee see Unscop Report, Vol.II, p.6. Annex 7 and 8.
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In its original plan of work, Unscop had decided to ask
the Palestine Government for "factual information on its
constitution and functions, together with other relevant data."
However, when Unscop reached Palestine, the Palestine Government
presented them with copies of the "Survey of Palestine," which
had been prepared for the Anglo-American Committee of Inquiry,
1945-6, plus a supplement bringing the information up to 1947,
prepared specially for Unscop. Altogether, it was 1524 pages,
in 4 volumes, Not satisfied with this, the Government, for its
meeting produced a 14 page memorandum on the administration of
Palestine under the Mandate. Unscop's meeting with the Government,

therefore, was to "seek further information."

The meeting took place on Monday June 16. The Palestine
Government was represented by Sir Henry Gurney and Mr. D.C.
MacGillivray, their liason officer. Sir Henry began with an
outline of Palestine's constitution and administration. He was
then'questioned on detail, and MacGillivray provided most of the
statistical answers. To direct the discussion, Sandstrom had
prepared a list of questions, directed first at details of Palestine’s
administration, legal system, education, industry, and trade,
and secondat the extent to which Jews and Arabs had developed
as separate communities. Most Unscop delegates were happy to
follow Sandstrom's lead. In fact, their questions showed they
had not digested the information in the Survey of Palestine, and
most queries were answered by reference to the appropriate volume,
chapter, and page. However, Sir Abdur Rahman (India) and Jorge

Garcia Granados (Guatemala) asked vequointed questions.,
Rahman questioned Gurney closely on the numbers of the

native population which had obtained positions of authority,

explaining he was just trying to find out how far Britain had
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carried out the League of Nations Mandate. Gurney refused to be
drawn into damaging admissions, as Rahmen's questions were
obviously intended. Granados went further than simple cross-
examination, but tried to call into question the right of the
Palestine Government to make laws regulating Jewish immigration,
but his questioning was cut short by Sandstrom. The meeting was
closed when it became obvious that further discussion was pointless
until the delegates had digested all the material already

available to them.

The following afternoon, Unscop heard Moshe Shertok,
Head of the Political Department of the Jewish Agency, and
the Agency liason officer, David Horowitz, give evidence.
M though the meeting was scheduled only to obtain information
from the Agency, Sandstrom invited Agency comments on the Palestine
Governmenés publications, available to Unscop. Shertok then gave
his appreciation of the situation, and then he and Horowitz answered
questions, The content of Shertok's speech indicatesthat, at this
stage, the Agency was being careful to appear reasonable, and
concentrated on facts. However, implicit in it was a Jewish
claim to all Palestine which would have a Jewish majority if
Jews were allowed to enter Palestine freelys He also touched
on Jews historical claims to land, even beyond Palestine,
including Transjordan, emphasised Jewish achievements in Palestine,
énd stressed that Jewish economic developments, and Jewish
jmmigration, brought benefits to the whole community, including
Arabs, Finally, he sought to prove that Palestine could absorb

all Jews who wished to come.

At this point again, most delegates remained uncommitted,

but Rahman took great pains to force Shertok to admit that laws
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restricting immigration were not necessarily wrong, and were
quite properly applied in many parts of the World., Entezam
(Iran) also showed lack of Sympathy with the Jewish case.
Granados, however, put the Jews in a much more favourable light,
by asking for a comparison between the percentage of Jews in
the population and the percentage of Palestine's revenues

contributed by the Jews,
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iii)Unscop'’s Tour of Palestine.
Following their plan of work, Unscop next made a tour of

Palestine. Their itinerary was based on suggestions of the
Jewish Agency, the Palestine Government, a third version based

by Blom (Netherlands) on the previous two, and the recommendations
of a subcommittee of alternate delegates, with Bunche as Chairman.
Jewish policy was to take advantage of the Arab boycott to present
Jewish industry, agriculture, and civilisétion at its best; and
the Arabs' at its worst. Unscop alternate delegates obviously
had far too inadequate a knowledge of Palestine not to tbe

guided by Agency recommendations, and MacGillivray does not

seem to have opposed their suggestions.(1) Horowitz managed to
have the superiority of Jewish industry impressed on the
Committee by his suggestion, which was accepted, that Jewishhand
Arab factories should not be visited in equal_numbers but in

proportion to their total numbers.

In the end more Arab factories were visited than was
strictly allowed by this rule. However, no modern Arab factories
were visited. Arab factories included the Karaman? Dick, and Salti
cigarette factofy at Haifa, on June 19, the Golden Spindle textile
factory at Beit Dajan, on June 24, the Palestine Iron and Brass
foundry a% Jaffa, on June 24, the Riad building Estate at Jaffa,
on June 24, the Shaker soap factory at Nablus, on June 28. The
Jews displayed the Shemen soap factory at Haifa, on June 19,
the Alta textile factory at Haifa, 6n June 19, the Elite chocolate
factory at Tel Aviv, on June 25, Goldberg's laboratory for
precision optical instruments, at Tel Aviv, on June 25, and Weizmamn's
private laboratory in the Daniel Sieff Institute, on July 3. Jews
also impressed by the Permanent Imdustrial Exhibition of Palestine

Products, visited by Unscop in Tel Aviv, on June 25.

0}
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Probably the Jewish Agency did not ask for Horowitz's
suggestion to be adhered to rigidly, because it was vitally
importaht for the Jews to impress Unscop with their agriculture.
This was because the Jews could only make a reasonable claim to
unrestricted immigration if they could prove that they could
increase agricultmral production to feed them. However, Jewish
agriculture was restricted by limitations on Jewish land purchase
imposed in 1939, and the vast mejority of agricultural production
was by Arabs. Jews had a more than proportional representation
in agriculture, and used it to demonstrate their show-piecss,
particularly where they had reclaimed the desert at Beth Haarava
Kibbutz by the Dead Sea, and Revivim,eNir Am, and Hefetz Haim, in
the Negev. Other Jewish agricultural settlements included Zichron
Yaakov, Mishmar Haemek, Nahalal, Dan, Kfar Giladi, on June 30,
and Yavne on July 3. Despite Arab traditional skills, particularly
in citrus, cereals, and olives, Arab agriculture was only
represented by a visit to the Kadoorie Agricultural School,
which was really a Government institution, and a visit to a
fruit farm run by a Radi eff., Nabulsi, In Jerusalem, Unscop
visited the Hebrew University, Palestine's Jewish past was
emphasised by a visit to the ruins of Jericho and Elisha's well,
and, while being shown Jewish agriculture, Unscop was shown 10

variations on the Jews)special social group, the kibbutz.

However, Jews were careful to explain that Jews and Arabs
could work together., Haifa was chosen as Unscop's first visit,
because it was a mixed community. There, the Mayor gave his
address of welcome in Hebrew, which was translated into English
by the Arab town clerk, and then by a Jew into Arabic., The
next day Unscop visited the Palestine Potash Company, which
employed equal numbers of Jews and Arabs. Also, a Jew at
Revivim claimed to Granados that the Ababs were really friends

with the settlers, but had been warned to stay away by the British,.
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Everywhere, Unscop was overwhelmed with Jewish hospitality,
which contrasted strongly with the hostile reception from the
Arabs, However, the Higher Committee's boycott was not completely
effective. At a few places the Arab Mayors were willing to talk
to Unscop, but at most Arab towns receptions were arranged by
the local British representative. Unscop, however, was always
most unwelcome in Arab factories, officds etc., Sometimes

there was a point blank refusal, at others excuses were made.

During the whole tour, the Jewish liason officers lost
no opportunity to press their case. There can be no doubt that
the impression gained during this tour of an advanced Jewish
civilisation, only capable of helping its backward neighbour,
the Arab civilisation, had a great influence upon the Unscop

Report.,
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dv.)The Question of the Death Sentences,

The most controversial matter, in Unscop's earliest days
in Palestine, was what to do, if anything, about the death
sentences passed on three Irgun terrorists captured after
attacking Acre Gaol, on May 14, 1947. The sentences were passed
on June 16, 1947, the very day on which Unscop held its first
hearing in Palestine, and Jewish propagandists claimed the Palestine
Government had chosen the day deliberately, to demonstrate its

strength to Unscop at the expense of the prisoners.

The sentences worried Sandstrom (Sweden) and Granados
(Guatemala). Granados met Sandstrom on an evening walk, and suggested
that they should approach the Palestine Government informally,
and urge that the executions would lead to disorder likely to
prejudice Unscop's work. They agreed to take advantage of a reception
to be held the next evening, June 18, by Sir Alan Cunningham.

Granados was to press his views on General MacMillan, the British
commander in chiefi in Palestine, who was therefore responsible for
the military courts which tried terrorists., Sandstrom was to
approach Cunningham himself. However, MacMillan only replied that
it was his duty to administer the laws of Palestine, and that only
the High Commissioner could grant clemency. Sandstrom either had
no opportunity to speak to Cunningham, or had changed his plans
because he had just received a petition from the relatives of the

condemned. (1)

The same evening Sandstrom invited all delegates to his
room for an informal discussion of the death sentence question,
which implies he was no quite sure whether Unscop was competent
to deal with the matter, and an informal meeting where delegates
could speak more freely, might be more fruitful than a proper '

meeting. The problem was that Unscop's terms of reference only

1.For text see Unscop Report, Vol.2, annex 10, pp.li-12
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covered investigations, and the only basis for action on the
death sentences was the resolution of the General Assembly
calling for all parties to "refrain from..othe.threat or use of force, or
any other action which might create an atmosphere prejudicial

to an early settlement of the question.of Palestine," However,
should this appeal be ignored, there was no procedure
recommended for Unscop to follow to try to enforce the appeal.
Sandstrom (Sweden) had miscaleulated, if he thought the matter
could be settled informally. As soon as he announced the
purpose of the meeting, heated arguments began, plus persistent
demands from Hood (Australia) that the meetiﬁg be made into

a regular Unscop session. Informal discussion proving fruitless,
Hood's demand was granted, but it required 3 more meetings to

arrive at a decision.

Most delegates considered the question beyond Unscop's
terms of reference, but, in view of the U.N. resolution against
actions which might hinder Unscop's work, they considered
Unscop's opinion should be communicated to the Palestine
Government. A resolution was prepared with difficulty.

Granados (Guatemala), Fabregat (Uruguay), Brilej (Yugoslavia's
alternate delegate), and Simic(Yugoslavia) who arrived during

the discussions, argued that Unscop had full competence to
eriticise the Palestine Government, and wanted to do this in

a strongly worded resolution. Rand {Ganada) and Blom (Netherlands)
were unwilling even to express concern, but were willing that

the Palestine Government be notified that the majority of

Unscop were concerned. Rahman (India) declared Unscop was not
competent to do anything at all. Hood found it difficult to

come to a decision. He agreed Unscop might be exceding its terms

of reference, but still wanted Unscop to express concern.
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Finally, Sandstrom was authorised to inform the relatives
of the condemned that the question was outside Unscop's terms
of reference, but the "proper authorities" were being informed
of the relatives® petitiony, and to send a copy of the petition
to the Palestine Government, with a covefing letter, in which
it was stated that, "the majority of the members of the Committee
have expressed concern as to the possible unfavourable
repercussions that the execution of of the three death sentences
ecsesomight have upon the fulfilment of the task with which the
- General Assembly has entrusted the Committee."(1)

The reaction of the Palestine Government was immediate
and hostile. Without waiting for the letter to go through
U.N. channels, Sir Henry Gurney sent a reply, based on press
reports. He declared that the sentences had not been confirmed,
therefore the matter was still sub judice, and therefore Unscop's
corments were inappriopriate. He, further, denied the suggestion,
also implied in the letter, that the sentences had been passed
deliberatgly on "the day on which the Committee held its first
meeting in Jerusalem."(2) On receiving this letter, the majority
of delegates decided that it was pointless to persue the matter,

although they did not necessarilty accept Gurney's views.

1.For the text of this letter see Unscop Report, Vol.I, p.6, para.51

2.For the text of Gurney's letter see Unscop Report Vol.Z2,
annex 155 pp.13-14. Gurney sent a reply, after receiving
Unscop's letter officially, in which he quoted the Emergency
Regulations to show the case was still sub judice, informed
Unscop that clemency was a royal prerogative, delegated to the
High Commissioner, with which His Majesty's Government never
interfered, aﬁd declared that the normal administration of
justice could not be interpreted as a threat to peace.

For text, see same volume, annex 16, p.i4,
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v)Unscop and the Underground Movements.,
The Jewish underground, i.e. organisations which were

illegal under the lawssof Palestine, and which carried out acts
of violence against British soldiers or property, consisted of
the Haganah, which was really a branch of the Jewish Agency,

and the Irgun and Stern Gang which tried to press more extreme
demands than the Agency. Evidence is available only for

some contacts between the underground and Unscop. Since

all contacts were arranged privately, there may have been others

unrecorded.

On June 26, 1947, Sandstrom, accompanied by Hoo and Bunche,

met Menachem Begin, the Irgun leader, and, about two weeks later CJEB

met Granados (Guatemala) and Fabregat (Uruguay). Both visits
were arranged by American press men. At both meetings, Begin
declared that all Palestine should be given to the Jews as their
national home, and that the Jews were really due to Transjordan
as well, He also asked for Unscop to make re;;;sentations on
behalf of the terrorists under death sentence, not only against
the sentence but against the prison conditicns. None of the
delegates were much impressed. BEven Granados, who was coming

to sympathise very strongly with the Jews, considered his

demands too extreme and impractical, and urged him to refrain from

reprisals against the executions, if they were carried out. (1)
However, Begin kept in touch with Fabregat, Granados, and Bunche,
in Geneva, in August, 1947, during the preparation of Unscop's
report, via his agent Samuel Katz.(2)

The meeting with the Haganah took place towards the end of

Unscop's stay in Palestine. Again, for security reasons, Sandstrom

1.,For accounts of the meetings, see Begin pp.294-307, Granados

pp.147-6}, Horowitz p.178.
2.,Katz p.170 and p.175
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only was invited, with Hoo and Bunche as assistants. The Haganah
leaders presented the same demands as the jewish Agency had

been presenting at public hearings. In reéponse to questions
prepared by Sandstrom, they declared they would accept a
partitioned Palestine, but only if it was a viable state. If

such a state was not offered, the Haganah would "do its utmost

to continue Jewish immigration," and iWould not "permit peace in
Palestine" as long as there was a regime there which sought the
"liquidation of Zioniiit aims." The Hagéhah stated it was confident
it could deal with any Arab resistance to a solution which
admitted Jewish claims, even if Arab resistance included the

Arab states, provided that no large power supported the Arabs.

It was nofworried about danger to Jewish communities in Arab
countries in such a conflict, since "one of the first acts of

a Jewish state would be to transfer them to Palestine.”

Meanwhile, illegal immigration was the only way of attaining
Zionist objectives. There was only peace in Pzlestine, at that
moment, because of Unscop's presence, and the Haganah could

only ¥cope with terrorist activity" if "immigration and settlement"
were "freely permitted in Palestine."(1) The meeting with the
Haganah, unlike his meeting with Begin, was discussed by Sandstrom
with the whole Committee, and made a great impression.(2) It

was a strong argument for partition that Haganah could prevent
peace in a unitary state and continue illegal immigration

against the wishes of an Arab majority, while, with Haganah help,

Britain could easily enforce any partition scheme,

1.Granados pp.183-88
2 ,Horowitz Chapter 27
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vi)The Evidence of the Jewish Agency.

The Jewish Agency, having dedided to work for "a Jewish
state in a suitable area of Palestine,™ made it obvious in their
evidence what this state was to be.. It was to be the
recommendations of the Peel Commission, of 1937, plus the Negev.
Peel had suggested a Jewish state in the coastal plain and
all Galilee. The rest of Palestine, he considered, should be
re-united with Transjordan, except for a few strategic areas
which would rema2in under the Mandate. This would have deprived
the Jews of Jerusalem. However, the Agency seems to have decided
that Jerusalem, buried deep in predominantly Arab territory,
could not be extracted from Unscop. Jerusalem remained a
sedondary objective, and the Agency concentrated on the value
of the Negev to the Jews.

Agency tactics were to continue to press as hard as
possible for their official program of a Jewish State in all
Palestine, and to represent any reduction of their aim as a
great concession. Any other solution than their official
program, or partition was rejected vehemently. The Agency did
not want Unscop to be impressed with Dr. Magnes' idea of a
bi-national state, which had so much impressed the Anglo-

American Commission of Inquiry.

Ben Gurion opened the Jewish case, laying the foundations
upon which.later witnessed based a huge mass of technical detail.
He declared the Jews to be a people in their own right, who had
historical and religious connections with Palestine. This people
needed a home because of their insecurity, due to lack of statehood,
and being permanent minorities in all countries. Palestine was
quite suitable, because the land was largely waste, but capable of
development. It had been promised to the Jews internationally,
and, he claimed, quoting the Feisal-Weizmann agreement of 1919,

even the Arabs had agreed to this. Home, he claimed, meant &
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had meant a Jewish state in the whole of Palestiney and he
quoted several statesmen and the Peel Commission Report to

support this,

While discussing the Peel Commission, Ben Gurion quoted at
length its views that partition would benefit both Jews and Arabs,
and stated that, while at the subsequent Zionist Congress a
considerable minority had been against partition in principle,

many had been willing to discuss a state based on this plan.

Ben Gurion then returned to the promises which had been
made concerning a national home for the Jewish people. These
had been embodied in the Mandate for Palestine, but Britain did not
keep them. Instead, Britain had deliberately obstructed the Jews.
The worst example was the White Paper of 1939, which restricted
Jewish immigration and land purchase. Ben Gurion particularly

emphasised his opposition to the White Paper.

He then spoke at lengith on the Jewish contribution to
the Palestine economy, which he claimed had benefittéd the Arabs.

Finally, he turned to possible solutions. He ruled out a
bi-national state in any form, specifically mentioning that
proposed by Hashoﬁer Hatzair, a Jewish organisation, although he
admitted that they were proposing a "full-blooded Jewish solution."
This implicilly ruled out any other version, including Dr. Kagnes'.
He then declared that, ™Only by establishing Palestine as a Jewish
state can the true objectives be accomplished: immigration and
statehood for the Jews, economic development and social progress

for the Arabs,

He emphasised that co-operation with the Arabs was quite

possible, and that the current difficulties were the entire
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reSponsibility of the ex-Mufti, in charge of the Arab Higher
Committee, and concluded that, "Co-operation between Jews and Arabs

will prove the truest blessing for both peoples.”

Various witnesses enlarged on Ben Gurion's statements. Rabbi
Fishman explained further the Jew's historical and spiritual
conneéctions witﬁ Palestine. He emphasised that the Jews did not
want a theocratic state, because they were "members, not only
of one religion, but of one nation.™ They did not want to
"adapt to an alien life," and had "only one homeland in the World-
the land of Israel." David Horowitz supported Ben Gurion's
claim that Palestine was largely waste land, by quoting various
statistics, He emphasised that the Jews could develop# this land,
and this would benefit the Arabs., Of course, for this, Jewish
immigration was necessary on a large scale, and demonstrated
this with graphs, illustrating that Palestine's Gross National
Product was related to immigration of Jews. Although Jews were
found in a2 limitfed range of occupations, outside Palestine, he
claimed that they could adapt themselves to any kind of employment
necessary in building up a state. His statistics showed Jews in
Palestine to be distributed in occupations, in a pattern similar
to the average man throughout the World. Horowitz, without
going into very great detail, sought to prove the Jewish presence
had contributed to Arab economic progress, and the reduction in
the Arab mortality rate. Mr. F. Bernstein concentrated on Ben
Gurion's claim that Britain had deliberately set out to prevent
the Jewish national home. He charged Britain with causing trouble
between Jews and Arabs and restricting Jewish économic development,
to provide an excuse to limit immigration. The British Government,
he claimed, had turned the Arabs against the Jews, by concealing
from the Arabs the fact that much Arab economic progress was due

to the Jewish presence. He claimed the potential of Palestine

(%0)



industries was "nearly unlimitﬁéd," and would have been developed
to a far greater extent, but for British obstruction. He
dismissed the Arab League's boycott of Palestine manufactures

as in?efective and against Arab interests.

Mr. E Kaplan gave a final summing up of the Jewish case.
His.main points ﬁere that, "Jewish immigration has created msw
new economic absorbtive capacities,™ and had "given great impetus
to economic progress...to the benefit of all." The Jews had
already established "a self-sufficient Jewish economic entity,"
and Palestine had great potential for development, given large
scale immigration, which could be financed international

N

co-operation.

This concluded the main presentation of the Jewish case,
and the witnesses made themselves available for questioning
in the order in which they had appeared. Various other organisations
also gave evidence, some associated with the Jewish Agency, and
some with ideas of their own, but no representatives of the Palestine
Arabs appeared. This occupied 7 days, then Moshe Shertok made
a final appearance for the Agency to answer any Questions arising
from the evidence of other organisations, and to give a final

summing up of the Jewish case.

Weizmann appeared before Unscop as a private individual.
The Agency appreciated the advantage of this, for he could put
the case for partition openly, the objective for which the Agency
was working, but which for tactical reason; was much less than their

official demand.(l) Weizman was, in fact, working closely with the

1.Weisgal and Carmichael p.297
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Agency.(l) Weizmann appeared before Unscop, just after Ben Gurion

had been questioneq,/gor the first time by Unscop. The timing

appears to haée been deliberate. Ben Gurion was at his most
intransigent, which contrasted considerably with the statements

he had made earlier in the Vaad Leumi, for which he had been

criticised by Silver. Weizmann appeared at his most reasonable,

When Ben Gurion appeared again, after Weizman, he appeared more
moderate, though still more extreme than Weizmann, giving the impression
he might, in the end, accept Weizmann's proposals. Unscop, in
questioning Ben Gurion, for the first time, was maihly interested in

a bossible conflict between Jews and Arabs, This, Ben Gurion
emphatically denied existed. When he was questioned on what might happen
if there was an attempt to impose a Jewish state on the whole of
Palestine, he was evasive, even to such a direct question as when
Rahman (India) demanded, "Would it not mean war between the Jews and
Arabs? Let us put it straight. Would it not mean an absolutely

bloody war between you and the Arabs?" He was equally evasiQe when
asked if the Jews wanted the U.N. to impose a solution, or what

sort of a timetable the Jewus had in mind for the establishment of a

Jewish state,

Weizmann appeared as a complete contfast. He praised the
jdeals he saw behind the Balfour Declaration, and excused the
mytilitarian motives which had inspired many of its supporteszs.

He emphasised Jewish homelessness, and insisted that only Paleétine
was acceptable to the Jews as a home. He declared, making it clear
his knowledge was from personal experience, that the statesmen
behind the Balfour Declaration really meant a Jewish state to emerge
eventually., For this, immigration was necessary. The Arabs opposed
this, but only from a natural resistance to change. Britain had
introduced the White Paper of 1939 as "appeasement™ to Arab
reactionaries. It had been a contradiction of the Mandate, and had

(D7

(42)



provoked acts of Jewish terrorism, "which are un-Jewish, contrary
to Jewish ethics, contrary to Jewish tradition,” l‘Ieanwhile,
exclusion from Palestine had resulted in thousands of Jews dying

in the gas chamber. The White Paper was not even a clever political
expedient, for Arab opposition to the Jews was only due to "one
small group of men headed by the Mufti.” The national home did
not then exist, and Jewish energy sﬁould be used in building it,
not, for example, in dissipating their energies in rebuilding
Europe. The Mandate had been workable, but had ceased to be
workable dus to the administrators® Mlack of confidence.," A
solution ﬁas needed, which could only be partition. Transjordan
had been separated from Palestine, and the Jews had to accept that,
They also had to realise that they could not have the whole of
Palestine, Weizmann suggested the Jews should have the area
recommended by the Peel Commission, plus the Negev. This would

be accepted by.the Arabs, except the Mufti, who did not matter,

and could be implemented by moral force alone., In conclusion, he
admitted that his agreement with Feisal, in 1919, had been overtaken
by events. He thought a bi-national state impractical because it
was not a final solution, but he thought some sort of economic
union of the two states in partitioned Palestine was possible.

When questioned further on the possibility that Arabs might try

to violate a partition scheme, he replied some Jews might also, but

he hoped everybody would accept it eventually.

After Weizmann, various other witnesses reappeared. Ben
guridn appeared more reasonable, and said that the Agency would
consider ; state in "Mess than the whole of Palestine." Kaplan,
Horowitz, Bernstein, and Rabbi Fishman cleafed up a few points of
detail. Then followed evidence by Jewish organisations, including

the Vaad Leumi, which declared, from the first, that it supported
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the Agency position, the Chief Rabbinate.and Agudath Israel, who
supported the arguments of Rabbi Fishman, the Jewish Women's
Organisation of Palestine and the General Federation of Jewish
ILabour who explairjed their contributions to Palestine society

and their support for the Agency program. Moshe Shertok returned
in two final meetings to answer questions and sum up for the
Agency. He managed to introduce many new items of evidence, and
informed Unscop that, at the Second Regular Session, the Agency was
going to ask the U.N. to abolish the White Paper and allow large

scale Jewish immigration,

Long before the end of the session, Unscop was suffering
from a surfeit of evidence, possibly even to the extent of
reacting, to a small degree, égainst the ever present Zionist
arguments. However, this was more than counter-balanced by an -
invitation to visit Weizmann in his home. The invitation was
prompted by the Agency, and two groups visited Weizmann, on June 23
and 29, Bunche was particularly impressed, but Entezam (Iran),
who opposed partition.®could not disguise his feelings," and Rahman

(India) the strongest opponent of partition, refused the invitation,(1)

1.Vera Weizmann p.217 Horowitz Chapter 27 Weisgal p.245
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vii)The Evidence of the Hebrew Communists, Ihud, and the League

for Jewish Arab Rapprochement and Co-operation.
Apart from the Jewish Agency's demand for Palestine to be

made a Jewish state, with a broad hint that partition might be
acceptable, and Weizmann's open advocacy of partition, the only
other solution presented with any clarity was for a bi-national
state. The Communists claimg to be presenting ideas for a solution
but their evidence is so vague and contradictory, it is impossible
to say they had agreed on anything beyond an early withdrawal by

Britain,

The Communists gave evidence in three separate meetings.
In the first, they accused Britain of holding on to Palestine for
strategic reasons, particularly Middle East oil, but they also
implied as a base against Russia. To facilitate holding Palestine,
Britain had repressed the people, and deliberately aroused
antagonismebetween Arabs and Jews, on the principle of "divide
et impera." The solution was simple. End the Mandate, and Jeus
and Arabs would find they had no quarrel. As for the displaced
persons, they should be helped to go where the liked, even to
Palestine. However, Palestine after a British withdrawal was
not precisely described. The Communists considered a state would
arise, "independent, democratic, bi-unitaridn state, which meanss
a single state inhabited and governed by the two peoples, Jews and
Arabs, having equal rights." After considerable questioning, the
Communists said that the state would have an assembly elected by
proportional representation, and they declared, in this state, there
was no possibility of a conflict between a minority of one race

and a majority of another.

In a second incoherent meeting, the Communists cldimed not
to have heard of Dr. Magnes' proposals, given in public the previous

day, and published in his book, "Towards a Union in Palestine,"
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published February 1947, therefore they could not say whether

they supported them. Under close questioning, they suggested

an additional assembly, in their proposed constitution, containing
Jews and Arabs in equal numbers, However, they seemed not to

have given a possible constitution any real thought, and Rahman
(India) made obvious his disgust at their inadequacy. They did
however, insist, once again, Britain had to leave Palestine quickly.
Communists concluded with a new group of witnesses under the

title of the Palestine Communist Union. These suggested "territorial
federalism," and then after Britain withdrew, a constituent assembly

of Jews and Aﬂﬁbs in equal numbers under U.N. supervision.

‘Dr. Magnes presented his proposals in a manner% which impressed
Unscop, even if it did not convince.(l) He declared that cé-operation
between Arabs and Jews was not only desirable but possible, and he
wanted an "honourable and reasonable compromise"between "Arab natural

rights" and "Jewish historical rights.” .The Anglo-Ametiean Eomnttbee

had been right to suggest that Palestine should be neither Jewish
nor Arab, but, unfortunately, it had not suggested a constitution.
Magnes, therefore, proposed his own. Majority rule, he considered,
was impractical, because of the disparity in numbers between the
two races. Therefore, he'proposed that the Palestine Government
should set up a commission of Jews and Arabs in equal numbers,

to draft a constitution., In case of deadlock, decisions should be
taken by a tribunal appointed by the U.N., which would be necessary
for some time. 100,000 Jews should be admitted from the displaced
persons' camps in GErmany and Austrii immediately, and further
immigfation should be allowed, limitted only be the economic
absprbtive capacity of Palestine, until Jews were present in ejual
numbers to the Arabs, then it should cease. Magnes considered that

100,000 Jews should not frighten the-Arabs, and after this, it was

fBGranados pp.143-4 Magnes represented Ihud.
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unlikely that enough immigrants would even arrive to give the Jews

parity with the Arabs, as provided in the constitution.

The League for Jewish Arab Rapprochement and Co-operation,

consisting of Ihud, Hashomer Hatzair, and several lesser

organisations and individuals, proposed a similar scheme to Magnes,

except that they believed Jewish immigration should be unlimitted.
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viii)The Evidence of the Church of England, the Church of Scotland,

the Ashkenasic Jewish Community, and the Father Custos of the

Holy Land.
Respresentatives of the churches provided information, but only

to help Unscop, not as support for a solution proposed by them. The
Churches of England and Scotland declared that Jews and Arabs could
live in peace perfectly easily, and the conflict arose because of the
leaders on b-th sides. The Ashkenasic Community complained that
neither thé Palestine Government nor the Vaad Leumi treated it
fairly, and wanted its position safeguarded in any settlement.

The Father Custos wanted Unscop to bear in mind the significance of
the Holy Places of Palestine to people all over the World. He agreed
to provide Unscop with a list of places for which, he considered,

special provisiol was neeessary.
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ix)The BEvidence of the Government of Palestine.

Unscop' last formal hearing in Jerusalem was with the
Palestine Government, which was represented by Sir Henry Gurney,

Mr. D. C. MacGillivray, Mr. B. De Bunsen, and Mr. M. Hogan.

Unscop's intention was to ask questions on matters arising from the
other evidence, already presented, but Sir Henry Gurney requested
that they should consider first the main points contained in a
éupplementary memorandum to the "Survey of Palestine." This was

a strongly worded refutation of Jewish ecriticism, and occupied most

of the meeting.

Gurney denied Ben Gurion's charge that Britain had frustrated
the development of the national home. Instead, only Britain had made
it possible. This fact had been concealed by extremists to support
their demands. Howeverj; there was no need to grant "the most extreme
Jewish demends in thé face of bitter opposition from the inhabitants
of the country." He further emphasised that the Jews ignored the
obligations of the Mandate towards the Arabs. It was wrong to claim
Jews died in concentration camps because they could not get into
Palestine. They had died there because the War had closed the frontiers
of Europe, and, in fact the total of iﬁmigration allowed under the
White Paper had not even been fillédiuntil the War was over, (n
the,gﬁrrent problem of illegal immigration, he declared "illegal"
immigration was illegal, and that was all there was to say., Britain had
not turned Palestine into a police state by the emergency regulations.
In fact, the regulations had been introduced before the VWar to protect
Jews, and had been welcomed by them. Jewish terrorism made it
necessary for them to remain in force, and for the presence of large
numbers of troops. The Palestine Government had not fomented trouble
between Jews and Arabs, and censorship was not directed against Jews

alone, but had prevented many inflammatory statements by Arabs.
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x)Hearing the Arab States

By Unscop's terms of reference, it could consult governments,

and, towards the end of Unscop's stay in Palestine, the question

arose of whether to consult the Arab states., Rahman(India) and
Entezam (Iran) were in favour, but several others wondered whether

to do so would be to establish these states as interested-parties,

and, if so, whether this was desirable. Entezam saw representatives

of the Arab states privately in Jerusalem, and obtained agreement that,
if they were approached officially, they would meet with Unscop, in
one of the Arab states., He proposed this to Unscop, and it was accepted.
Unscop and the Arab states, therefore, agreed to meet at Sofar, in
Lebanon. The only exception was Transjordan. Abdullah, obviously
wanting a separate meeting with Unscop, made the peculiar excuse that,
as Transjordan was not a member of the U.N. he could not meet

with them at Sofar, but, instead, invited them to Amman.

Abdullah's invitaetion caused some controversy in Unscop.
At first, Unscop decided to postpone discussion until after the Sofar
meeting, but Sandstrom made arrangements with Abdullah for a visit
of himself and a few other delegates privately, This led to accusations
of underhand practice against Sandstrom, and, in the end, Fabgregat
refused to go becauseof a quarrel 3? accommodation available on
the aeroplane to Amman, Rahman, beeause he thought the visit wrong
in principle, Hood, because he was not interested, and Granados,
because he thought no good could come of it. Abdullah, in public,
supported the stand consistently taken by all the Arab states, but
when asked whether he would join with the Arab states in opposing
a Jewish state established by the U.¥., with force, he replied, privately,
"That is a very serious statement to make, for it clearly means declaring
war on the United Nations..Transjordan would not take such an extreme

attitude.™(1)

1.Granados p.210 This quotation id second hand i.e. Granados did
not go to Amman.
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Unscop heard evidence from representatives of the Arab League,
at meetings on July 22 and 23, 1947, in the Grand Hotel, Sofar. The
first meeting was public, to allow the Arab League to present a
prepared statement in the presence of the press. The second was
private, to allow Unscop to put questions arising from the statemeht.
The Arabs views at this_conferencgf/were almost identic2l with those
put forward at the London Conference, September 1946. There was a
minor concession, that any immigrant who had obtained citizenship
from the Mandatory Government, would be allowed to retain it in the
unitafy state which the Arabs proposed. Previously, they had
demanded a 10 year residence qualification., The manner in which
the Arab case was presented must have had an unfortunate effect on
Unscop. There was no attempt to present evidence, building up an
argument leading to an inevitable conclusion. Nor was Unscop treated

with the respect to which it must have become accustomed in Jerusalem.

Finally, the Arab states made it clear, whatever Unscop recommended
would count for nothing with them unless it was a complete

acceptance of their demands,

The first meeting began with a speech of welcome by the
Vice-President of the Council of Lebanon, in which, before Unscop
had heard a.word of Arab evidence, he declared that the Arab states
would "destroy the home of evil in the Middle East." Hamid Frangie
then prefaced his reading of the League statement by saying that
"any investigation of so obvious a question has become unnecessary,"
and the Argb Governments were not even going to bother to go through
all the arguments in their favour. He concentrated on Palestine's
right to self-determination and the need to maintain peace in the
Middle East. He quoted promises made by the Allies in the First World War,
declaring that the Balfour Declaration contradicted them.

Also, the Declaration was contrary to Article 22 of thé League of

Nations Charter. The King-Crane Commission, too, had, in 1919,
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reported that, "a national home for the Jewish people is not
equivalent to making Palestine into a Jewiskh state." He then
declared that Jewish ambitions went far beyond the current frontiers
of Palestine, and that Jews planned to realise these ambitions

by terrorism. Meanwhile, the state which the Zionists planned

in Palestine was completely impractical, and could not possibly

absorb the immigration which the Zionists wanted.

During the second meeting the Arabs tried to stick to agreed
answers to Unscop's questions, previously presented in writing.
However, under examihation, they began to argue their case more
freely and effectively. Unscop's main question was what would be
the attitude of the Arab League if the U.N. tried to establish a
Jewish state in Palestine., This embarrassed the representatives.
At first, they declared a Jewish state could not possibly be
established. Then, when pressed, they agreed that such a decision
would be contrary to the U.N.Charter, and would, therefore, "make

us free to make our own decisions there."
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xi)Unscop®s Visit to the Displaced Persons' Camps,

After the Sofar meeting, Unscop travelled to Geneva to
prepare its report for the Second Regular Session of the U.N.
However, the first business in Geneva was the questioned, postponed
at Lake Succeés, of visiting the displaced persons® camps. The
question had been raised again, briefly, during Unscop's stay in
Palestine, but no delegate pressed for a decision uatil after

the meeting with the Arab states, probably inccase the states

were offended and refused to meet Unscop. Granados and Fabregat
were eager for a visit, in order to get evidence of Jews' desire

to go to Palestine. Rahman (India) and Entezam (Iran) were just

as eager for the visit not to take place, presum#ably because

they did not want this desire emphasised. Hood was in favour

of a visit., In his case, however, it did not mean he supported

the Jewish case. Until then, he had not been particularly
sympathetic, and explained his desire for a visit was simply to
find out if opinion had changed among the refugees since the
Inglo-American Committee of Inquiry. Hood (Australia) seems to have
felt it possible that fewer Jews would want to go to Palestine in 1947
than in 1946, Simic (Yugoslavia) was against a visit as a waste of
time, because the Jews' desire to go to Palestine was common

knowledge. (1)

When the question was voted, Granados (Guatemala), Fabregat
(Uruguay), Hoqa (Australia), Rand (Canada), Blom (Netherlands),
and Sandstrom (Sweden) were in favour. Rahman, Entezam, Simic,
and Salazar (Peru) were against. Brilej (Czechoslovakia)
abstained, The next question was the composition of the visiting
delegation. Most delegates were in favour of sending their

alternates, and getting down to work in Geneva on the preparation

of the Unscop Report. Granados and Fabregat, however, were

1.Information in this section is drawn from the report of
Subcommittee 3, which visited the camps (Unscop Report annex 18)
and Granados Chapter 20 and 21,
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were eager to go themselves and persuaded Unscop to allow
delegates to choose whether to send their alternates or to go

in person. Granados claims that the other delegates were
embarrassed when only Granados and Fabregat of the delegates wanted
to go, and Hood changed his mind and visited the camps to make sure
neither Granados nor Fabgregat became Chairman of the subcommittee,

Hood, therefore, was elected.

The subcommittee met on July 31 and August 1, 1947, to draft
an itinerary and terms of reference. These were approved by Unscop,
and stated that, "The Sub-Committee shall visit selected representative
assembly centres for Jewish refugees and displaced persons in '
Germany and Austria, with a view to ascertaining and reporting to
the Committee on the attitude of the inmates of the assembly
centres regarding resettlement, repatriation, and immigration
into Palestine."(1) The subcommittee then visited 5 camps in
Germany, between August 8 to 14. All but one, the Hohne Camp,
near Bergen-Belsen in the British Zone, were American controlled.
The total of inmates was over 23,000, and about 85% were Polish,
Not all were Jews. The subcommittee then split. 8 members visited
2 centres in Vienna, containing about 6,250 Romanian Jews, while
Mohn (Swedish alternate) and Spits (Netherlaqﬁ alternate) visited
3 more camps in Germany and 1 in Austria., All 6 camps were American -

controlled.

Evidence was collected by means of a standard questionnaire,
which asked how the person had become a refugee, whether he would
like to return home, would he like to emigrate, and where, and why.
They were also asked if they had applied for immigration into
Palestine before the War, and what was their attitude to Palestine.
Many officials also were interviewed, particularly Rabbi Bernstein,

the official adviser on Jewish affairs to the Military Governor,

1,Unscop Report Vol.l, pp.7-8, para.68
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UeS. Zone, Germany, Lieutenant Colonel McFeeley, Chief of the
Displaced Persons Divisions, .U.S. Zone, Austris, General Clay,
the American Military Governor, and General Sir Brian Robertson

of the British Army in Germany.

The subcommittee reported to Unscop that, “practically

all the persons...wish, more or less determinedly, to go to
Palestine." They did not want to return home through fear of
anti-semitism, and because of their "incapability to start life
again in places haunted by memories of endured horrors." Nor were
they willing to consider other countries than Palestine, there
being "a reasonable estimate...who would in fact accept offers...
if they were firm offers and-éot merely hopeful expectations, would
be some 20 to 25%." The subcommittee declared that "such a
situation must be regarded as at least a component in the problem
of Palestine." It suspected that part of the desire to go to Palestine
might be the result of indoctrination, and pointed out that

several Jewish organisations were in a position to impress

Zionism on the refugees. However, particularly in the Romanian

case, the desire, was the result of Jewish education in general

plus "present political, economic, and social conditions" and

memories of Nazi persecution, and, in any case, the origin of the
desire had no effect on whether it was a factor in the Palestine
problem, Most Jewish fefugees regarded Palestine as their owm country,
aﬁd, if they were left alone Arab-Jew relations would be satisfactory.
Even if they were not, they felt the Yishuv could take care of

itself.

The delegates were deeply moved by the distress they had seen,

and included in their report a special plea that action should be taken

to help displaced persons apart from the Palestine Froblem. This plea
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was repeated in Unscop's report, as one of its unanimous
recommendations, although it was outside Unscop's terms of
reference. The report also influenced both Unscop's majority and
minority plans. The majority declared "Jewish immigration is the
central issue in Palestine today," and the minority agreed that
immigration was "closely related to the solution of the Palestine

question."(1)

1,Unscop Report Vol.l, p.47 (majority) and p.64 (minority)
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xii)The Preparation of the Unscop Report,
By the time the subcommittee had finished its -tour of the

refugee camps, each delegate had developed his own view of the

problem, and his own deductions on how the problem might be

solved,

--Hood (Australia) had been very reticent throughout the whole
of the Uhséop investigation, which now makes an estimate of his
opinion difficult. However, certain facts suggest he was eager
to avoid embarrassing Britain, e.g. he did suggest a compromise
which enabled Unscop to avoid a clash with Qpacop over vhether the
first hearing should be in public or camera;-H;-did refuse to allow
Unscop, despite Sandstrom's wishes,xdiscuss the letter from the
relatives of the condemned Irgun terrorists informally; he then
abstained from the resulting resolution; he was in favour of a visit
to the refugee camps but only because they might have changed their
opinions; he was unwilling to let Granados or Fabregat, who had
become extreme critics of Britain, occupy positions of authority,
even at cost to his convenience. On a solution, Hodd stated that
he did not think a choice easy. Partition was not practical,
and, possibly, a U.N. trusteeship might have been best. However,
he considered Unscop's real task was to bresent the facts to Unscop,
with as many possible solutions as Unscop could, and Unscop should
then let the U.N. decided

Rand (Canadd), like Hood, wanted to avoid embarrassing Britain.,
He had made no fuss over the Palestine Government's desire to be heard
in camera, or over the question of the condemned, in which he said
Unscop could not inteffere with the laws of Palestine. However,
he had developed a bias towards the Jews, due to Arabs' hostile
behaviour and the public relations work of the liason officers
and Weizmann, He believed a solution possible, because he was

impressed by Jews' administrative ability, and because he thought
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the Arabs would not produce any real opposition, Because of his
association with the Jews, it is reasonable to suppose that his
proposals were inspired by them. He wanted partition, but did not
believe the 2 states could be economically independent, and wanted
some sort of treéty guaranteeingeconomic co-operation written into
their constituions. However, his main aim was to produce a
satisfactory solution, and within Unscop, he was willing to

compromise.

Lisicky (Czechoslovakia) appears to have been influenced by
the Czech desire not to offend Russia, which resulted in him
favouring partition. However, he also wanted good relations with
the Czech neighbour, Yugoslavia, therefore, at Geneva he began
to suggest a joint Czech-Yugoslav federal state plan. However,
the Yewish Agency managed to contact Masaryk, who, in a recent
conversation with Stalin, had learned that Stalin favoured the
Agency line, Lisicky was informed of this, and he cimsistently

supported partition, thereafter.

Granados (Guatemala) had, at first, favoured a cantonisational
plan, but Horowitz (Agency liason officer) persuaded him against
this. From then on, he worked for partition, accepting the Jewish
Agency's case to such an extent that,/even the Agenc¥>/thought he
often lost touch with reality. Granados believed the establishment
of a Jewish state would solve the whole Jewish problem. They were
entitled to a state, not only beéause of anti-semitism, but because
they were "a highly civilised and capable community in Palestine,"
Britain was preseﬁt purely for selfish reasons, and her presence
led to violence. However, although he would not admit the Arabs had
any right to Palestine, he did think that some provision had to

be made for theme
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Rihinani: (India) gave his views at considerable length in
his reservations to the Unscop Report. He considered that the Balfour
Declaration should not have been made, and that the iandate was
in conflict with the Covenant of the League of Nations. However,
in his opinion, this did not invalidate the Mandate. In_fact, if the
Mandate were found to conflict with the Covenant at any time, then
the Mandate should be followed. This reasoning, he seems to have
felt necessary in order to avoid coming to the conclusion that all
the Jews who had entered Palestine since the Mandate had no right there
and ought to be expelled. He was at pdins to deny he wished any Jew
then resident in Palesting,/expelled. However, he completely rejected
the Agency's case, based on history, religion, their economic
contribution, their homelessness, their international promises,
and their suffering., He considered immigrants were being used by
the Agency to establish a state. This, he considered not justified
under the Mandate. His solution was that all immigration should
cease, all Jews then in Palestine should become citizens of Palestine,
and Palestine should be a unitary state. Bi-national or cantonal
systems were impractical. Partitioq,/he considere@,/particularly
impractical, as it was impossible to produce two viable states,
and any Jewish state would be surrounded by hostile Arab states.
This ruled out completely any plan for an autonomous Jewish state,

or partition with economic union,

Entezam (Iran) had decided that the object of the Mandate was
to establish a national home for the Jews, and that this task had
been completed. He suggested a bi-national state, on the lines of
Dr. Magnes', but he was ready to compromise, he said, claiming

he had had no instructions from his government.

Blom's (Netherlands) opinion is very difficult to estimate,
because he hardly ever stated his views directly However, he
implied that he would like Unscop to suggest a solution which

would allow Britain to remain in Palestine. He did not think
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absolute independence was possible, therefore there had to be some
supervising authority, but he did not think a H.N. Trusteeship
suitable., Also, on the question of immigration, he considered
Unscop was not competent to give a decision, and a higher authority
was needed, This should have been given by the League of Nations,
which no longer existed. Blom seemed to imply, therefore, that

a decision on immigration should be taken by the U.N. as the League's
successor, but he was strangely reluctant to say so explicitly.
However, he did give his views on the transitional period necessary
between the end of the Mandate and any solution coming into force,,
in a memorandum.

"l ,A transitional period is unavoidable.

2,The solution must be imposed. o

3.Hence the use of force appears indispensible,

4,Such a force probably cannot be an international
force."(1)

Therefore, it is probable Blom's solution would have been for
Britain to remain in Palestine, impose a solution, and administer
Palestine until that solution was accepted by Jews and Arabs. By
asking for a postponement of a decision on the immigration question,
it is at least possible that he considered the current British

regulations of 1,500 per month about right.

Salazar (Peru) had decided that the object of the Mandate was
to establish a national home for the Jews, and that this had been
achieved. Independence for Palestine was therefore due. However,
since Jews and Arabs would not co-operate, Palestine would have to
be partitioned, with, perhaps, the most tenuous links between the
two states. The enmity between Jews and Arabs made it necessary
to establish a Jewish state only in those areas where Jews were in
a majority, to avoid a large discontented minority in the Jewish state,
Salazar's solution, therefore would have produced a Jewish state too

small to be acceptable to the Jewish Agency.

1.Granados p.241
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Sandstrom (Sweden) had arrived at definite conclusions, by
the time Unscop reached Geneva. The Mandate should be ended,
independence shoula come after a transitional period, and Palestine
should be partitioned. Partition was essential, because Jews and
Arabs would not co-operate. He rejected a bi-national state because
of the difficulty of framing a constitution, and because partition
would be final, He did not anticipate trouble from the Arabs,
whose threats and protests he regarded as "no more than a form
of Oriental haggling."(1)

Fabregat (Uruguay) had become deeply emotionally involved
in the Palestine Question.(2) He was regarded as a friendby both
the Jewish Agency and the Irgun., His ideas on a solution were
strongly held and not quite consistent. He believed a Jewish state
and an Arab state should be established, and they should be completely
independent, in no way a federation, but believed they should
cd-operate economically, while certain areas of Palestine,
particularly the Negev, should be administered by both states, as
mandated territory with the help of a U.N. nominee. There was
to be a special administration for Jerusalem, which should not be
independent, otherwise a sort of theocracy might arise, Finally,
special arrangements should be made for the transport to Palestine

of Jewish women and children unable to face another European Uinter.

Simic (Yugoslavia) had been working with the Hebrew Communists,
and, on August 7, 1947, presented a memorandum containing a plan
based upon the proposals of the Communist Central Committee. There
was to be a constitution with two houses, one based on proportional

representation, and one with Jews and Arabs in equal numbers, the

1%
approval of both being rquired for legislation. Simic claimed this solution

was practicalbbecezuseit was only the British presence which caused

1.Horowitz p.183

2.The presence of a "well-organised and active Jewish community"
in Montevideo (Kirk p.240) seems not have influenced Fabregat
personally, although it might have resulted in him being chosen

in the first place.
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trouble between Jews and Arabs, Simic's attitude suggested that

he was acting under strict orders from his government. This is -
consistent with the growing estrangement between Yugoslavia and
Russia, and could have been inspired by Yugeslavia being determined

to demonstrate it could take an independent line from Russia.

The Secretariat's opinions are important because it was
agreed, during discussions on procedure, that the Secretariat
should be allowed to submit memoranda on each point in the
program of work in the same way as the delegates., Since there
was very little time to complete the report, and much time was
wasted by disagreements, the Secretariat came to play a large
part in its preparation, and its views must have influenced
points of detail at least. Bunche, who had become deeply
committed to the Zionist cause, took the greatest initiative.

He wanted a final solution, but saw, as the greatest difficulties
implementation and obtaining a 2/3 majority in the General Assembly.
At the beginning of August he had not made up his mind whether two
states were economically viable, and he considered Transjordan's
reactions important, Dr. Hoo and Dr. Robles did not make their

opinions obvious, but both worked on the partition plan.

Two meetings and some informal discussions decided the
procedure to be followed in preparing the Report, the ideas
adopted being mainly worked out by Sandstrom. Unscop's work
was divided intg/’matters of fact, religious interests, and

proposed solutions.

Matters of fact caused no controversy. Unscop had received
many thousands of pages of documents from the Palestine Government,
the Jewish Agericy, and hundreds more from the British Government,
other Jewish and non-Jewish organisations in Palestine and élswhere.
Also, they had the testimony of 18 meetings, and the Working

Documentation on Palestine, prepared by the Secretariat.
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Unscop approved three chapters, based on a summary prepared by the
Secretariat. The first, entitled "The Origin and Activites of
Unscop," contained a summary of the work of the First Special
Session of the U.N., its decisions, Unscop's work at Lake Success,
Palestine, Sofar, Germany, and Geneva, The second, entitled "The
Elements of the Conflict," contained an outline of the geographic,
demographic, and economic factors relating to the Problem of Palestine,
a brief history of Palestine under the Mandate, and a discussion of
the Jewish and Arab claims. The third, entitled "The Main Proposals
Propéunded for the Solution of the Palestine Ruestien,™ contained
summaries of the proposals of the Peel Commission Rebort, 1937,

the Woodhead Commission Report, 1938, the Anglo-imerican Committee
of Inquiry Report, 1946, the Morrison Plan, 1946, and the Bevin
Plan, 1947, plus proposals of Jewish organisations, including those

opposed to the Agency, and Arab states' proposals.(l)

Unscop was reguired to "give most careful consideration to the
religious interests in Palestine of Islam, Judaism, and Christianity,"
therefore a committee of alternate delegates was set up under Spits
(Netherlands alternate). Their report outline4the development of
the extremely complex situation existing in Palestine. Some Holy
Places were fully owned by one sect, but most were owned, jointly,
by two or more, with very complicated systems of use and maintainance.
The committee, therefore recommended that the status quo be allowed
to stand in the new states' constitution. The only exception was the
City of Jerusalem. At first it was refe%%d to the alternates, but
when the delegate§ began to examine partition seriously, the question
arose/ef’to which state, if any, should Jerusalem belong, and
Jerusalem became inextricably bound up with the debate in the main
committee, and, although the alternates produced recormmendations,

their votes were dictated by the main delegates.(2)

1,These chapters formed Chapter I, II, and IV of the Unscop Report.
2.Religious recommendations are found in Chapter III of the
Unscop Report.
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No real progress was made upon recommendations for a
solution, because delegates were afraid to commit themselves to
a proposal which might not be supported by the other delegates,
and because Fabregat (Urugay), Granados (Guatemala), and Hood
(Australia) were absent in Germany. When they returned, therefore,
Rahman suggested the del%;@étes might be willing to speak freely
if discussions were informal, with no record taken. This was agreed,
and Sandstrom put 4 questions in turn to each delegate. When asked
whether the Mandate should be ended all agreed it should. When
asked whether Palestine should be wholly Arab or wholly Jewish,
all agreed it should be neither. When asked whether Palestine
should be bi-national, 3, Rahman (India), Entezam (Iran), and
Simic (Yugoslavia) agreed that it should. When asked whether
Palestine should be partitioned all the others, except Hood
(Australia) agreed it should. Hood insisted it was Unscop's
duty to present all possible solutiocns for the U.N. to make a
choice and refused to commit himself to any. All Unscop
members felt that a joint report was preferable to a majority
and minority report, particularly as in matters of fact there was
no dispute, but separate provision had to be made in the report
" for supporters of the bi-national state and for those who supported
partition. Therefore it was decided to present recommendations

which were generally agreed, a plan for partition, and a bi-national

state plan.(1) The "partitionist" then separated from the "federalists"

in working groups, at Sandstrom's (Sweden) suggestion.

The chapter on recommeﬁdations which were generally agreed
was made up of points in common in the two plans. It was unanimously
agreed that the Mandate should be ended and Palestine given its
independence as soon as possible; that existing religious rights
should be guaranteed; that the General Assembly take immediate steps

to relieve the plight of refugees in Germany; that a transitional

1.Chapter V, VI, and VII of the Unscop Report.
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period was necessary, but it should be short, and
the U.N. should take responsibility ffig Palestine during that
time; Palestine should be democratic, with protection for minorities
and obey the U.N. Charter in its foreign affairs; there should be
economic unity; the capitulations, which gave special rights to
some foreign countries to protect their nationals in Palestine,
which had been suspended-during the Mandate, should be abolished;
the General Assembly should appeal to the people of Palestine not
to commit acts of violence. The last recommendation, that a
solution of the Palestine Problem should ndt be considered a solution
of the Jewish problem in general, was opposed by Fabregat (Uruguay)
and Granados (Guatemala). Granados considered Palestine was quite
capable of accepting all Jews, it was quite practical to transport

them there, and Arab opposition was not important.

In the Working Group on the Federal State, a compromise had
tot%brked out. Rahman(India) wanted a unitary state, Simic (Yugoslavia)
the Communist based plan, previously mentioned (1), and Entezam (Iran)
a cantonal system, involving cénsiderable fragmentation of Palestine.
The compromise, therefore,-was to accept as a middle course, Simic's
plan. Palestine wss to be ruled by two houses, one elected by
proportional representation, the other with an equal number of
Jews and Arabs. Both houses' approval was necessary for legislation.
In case of deadlocky,there would be arbitration by the Head of State
and a Federal Court. Palestine was to be divided into Jewish
and Arab areas, each with locel self-government. The Jews were
to have a coastal strip from Tel Aviv to Acre linked to their
settlementszaround lake Tiberias. West and central Galilee would
be an Arab enclave, the Jews would have the eastern Negev as an
enclave. Jerusalem was to be divided into Jewish and Arab areas.

Immigration was to be controlled by a council of 3 Arabs, 3 Jewus,

and 3 U.N. nominees.

1.pp.61-2
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Very soon after the Working Group on Partition began its
discussions, it concluded that it was impossible to draw boundaries
which produced two economically viable states without putting
unacceptably large minorities in each state; therefore the delegates
compromised by declaring that each state should be independent
politically, but economically united. It was hoped that by
forcing the two states to work together economically, an eventual
political reunion might happen. The group, therefore, divided,
Salazar (Peru), Lisickj (Czechoslovakia), Fabregat (Uruguay) and
Hood (Australia) began to consider possible boundaries, and
Sandstrom (Sweden), Blom (Netherlands), Granados (Guatemala),
and Rand (Canada), assisted by Hoo, Robles, and Bunche, began to

work out a constitution.

The internal constitutional matters of each state were
settled without difficulty. A constituent assembly was to be

elected by each state by universal adult suffrage, and each state

could then settle its own constitution., However, ecdnomic matters
led to problemss. A customs union, common currency, common operation
of transport and communications, and joint economic development of
irrigation-and reclamation schemes ﬁ@gﬂépecified. This was to be
enforced by a treaty, signed simultaneoudly by both states as they
gained their independence. Z=xactly how the granting of independence
was to be supervised caused some controversy. The obvious choice

waé Britain, with perhaps help from America, but Britain had given
Unscop no assurance that shs would implement a plan, and it was clear
from the First Special Session, Britain would not implement a plan

of which she did not approve. Atyeo (4ustralian alternate) suggested
that he be authorised to contact the Foreign Cffice, to find out
British opinion, but the other delegates were againsf this. Finally,

Unscop partition plan recommended that Britain be asked to help,
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which suggests that the delegates thought there was a very good
chance Britain would refuse, but they were afraid, if Britain did
refuse, they would be at a loss to suggest how the plan might be

implemented.

The boundaries group, however, by August 28, 1947, decided
they could not agree, and each of the group was to write his own
recommen@lations. The delegates had refused to compromise their
previously expressed views, and, in two weeks, no progress had been
made., Instead, each delegate had enlarged on his own ideas,
Fabregat (Urugay) had abandoned his idea of a joint Jewish-Arab-U.N.
mandate for the Negév and specizl arrangements for Jerusalem,
Instead, he wanted the Negev partitioned with the rest, west of
Beersheba to the Jews, east to the Arabs, Jerusalem was to be
divided, the 0ld City going to the Arabs, and the new city to the
Jews. Jewish Jerusabem was to be linked with the main Jewish area
by an indentation from the coast. Fabregat justified including
Weétern Galilee in the Jewish state, despite its overwhelmingly
Arab majority, by the success of the Jewish settlements at Nahariva
and Hanita. However, he wanted Jaffa to be an enclave in Jewish
territory. Lisicky (Czechoslovakia) pressed for a wider area than
Fabregat, for the Jewish state, including the whole Hegev, but he
thought the future of western Galilee should be decided by the U.N.
Salazar (Peru) tried to work out a stafe with a reasonably small
4rab minarity for the Jews, and which would be economically viable
even if economic union broke down. He thought in terms of the
Peel Commission's recommendations, and wanted Jerusalem to be an
international city. Hood (Australia) does not appear to have come
to a decision. The group on the constitution, however, had decided
that Jerusalem ought to be internalional, but, apart from Sandstrom,
who seemed to want a similar solution to Salazar, but with western

Galilee in the Arab state, none had worked out any other ideas.
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The failure of the boundaries group, was considered a désaster
by the Jewish Agency. They feared that, either there would be no
partition, or the Jewish state would be extremely small, therefore
the liason officers contacted their two strongest dupporters, Granados
(Guatemala) and Fabregat (Uruguay) to see if anything could be done.
The two Delegates suggested the liason officers approach Rand (Canada),
who promised his support for a viable Jewish state., The problems
were Jerusalem, the Negev, and western Galilee. Most delegates,
Granados, Fabregat, and Lisicky (Czechoslovakia) .excepted, wanted
a compact Jewish state, similar to that recommended by the Peel
Commission, The Agency, however, were totally against this, because
the state would be too small, and Jerusalem and the Negev would be
excluded, Also, some delegates were doubtful about even allowing
western Galllee to the Jews, and, w1téklt the Jewish state would
hardly have been viable. The Agency, therefore, inspired the final
boundaries. The central area, on the coast, with its Jewish majority,
had never been questioned as part of a Jewish state, nor had eastern
Galilee, with its Jewish minority of considerable size and economic
strength. The Agency, therefore, made it clear, it would give up its
claims to Jerusalem, provided it was internationalised, and its claims
to western Galilee, in return for the Negev. The delegates eagerly
grasped the chance of producing recommendations to which, the Jeus
at least agreed, and followed the Agency suggestions, excluding

only the 100,000 Arabs in the Gaza area from the Jewish state.,

The result was boundaries of astonishing complexity, each
state being divided in three, and each part isolated from its other(1)
parts. The plan was drawn up in haste, and, in its final form,
may have owed its shape mainly dwe to Mohn (Swedish alternate)

and Reedman, an economic expert of the Secretariat,

The plan was, therefore, completed just within the time limit

of September.1i, 1947.

1.For a map of the partition plan, see app.2.
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CHAPTER THREE,
REACTIONS TO THE UNSCOP REPCRT AND THE SECOND REGULAR SESSION.

i)Reactions to_the Unscop Report.

The Jewish Agency was delighted with the méority report.
"In the opinion of us all," wrote Horowitz, "it was a brilliant
success which surpassed all our expectations."(l1) The Agency
interpretation of the majority plan, was, naturally, based on their
view of the situation as it was in September, 1947. They assumed
that the Arab leadets were so suspicious of each other that violent
opposition to a plan of partition was unlikely, (2) and that, if
Britain withdrew, Britain could not avoid handing over authority
to states established by the U.N. in an orderly fashion.(3) This
meant that there appeared to be a very good chance of obtaining the
partition plan, which had been very largely inspired by the Agency,
through its liason officers, working unopposed by the Arab Higher Committee,
in all its details. The main fear appears to have been that
Britain would find some excuse to remain in Palestine, perhaps if
the U.N. did not approve partition by a 2/3 majority.(¥) This made
acceptance of the linscop plan by the U.N; vital, because, Weisgal
wrote, "we knew that this was the final nail in the coffin of the
British Mandate."(5)

The advantages of the partition plan, which had so delighted the
Jewish Agency, were that it set up the largest possible deirish state
in which Jews were a majority. Assuming that the U.N. could not
possibly approve a racialist state, or the expulsion of Arabs from
their homes, it was pointless to ask for more. This, of course,
ruled out the usual revisicnist cry for a Jewish state in all

Palestine, or even Transjordan as well. At the U.N., such a proposal

1.Horowitz p.222
2.Sykes p.388
3,Begin p.332-3 says that many people thought the U.N. could
enforce a solution.
4,Until September 26, Britain made no unqualified statement that
she was leaving Palestine, and then few took her seriously at first,

5.Weisgal p.245
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could, too easily, by removal of the discrimination against Arabs,
be converted into exactly the unitary state that the Arabs wanted,
The Yewish state, in the partition plan, however, would dominate
the whole of Palestine economically and strategically. The way would
be open for the extension of Jewish control, perhaps via the joint
economic institutions, when immigration had raised Jewish numbers
sufficiently, over all Palestine. In short, the partition plan
gave the minority of Jews effective control over the majority. As
for Jerusalem, as an international city, it, at least, was not in
Arab hands, and therefore some way tewards becoming Jewish. Of
course, the Agency could find details to criticise, like the Jewish

state having to pay a subsidy to the Arab state to make it viable.

The Irgun rejected the report, remaining consistent in their
demand for all Palestine. However, there is no reason to suppose
that Begin was much less optimistic than the Agency. Katz does not
mention the Irgun reaction, and Begin only criticises the Agency
for hoping for a peaceful implementation, by quoting his "Woice of
Flghtlng Zion," for October 1, 1947, after the British statement

of intention to w1thdraw, which the Irgun, with its extreme assumption

of British malevolence, interpreted at its worst,

The Jewish Agency, however, still had to convince the Zionist
General Council, which met in Zurich from August 25-September 2,
1947, It is an indication of the unsoundness of the partition plan,
as a permanent solution, that the General Council first rejected it,
and a tribute to the plan's possibilities and the perceptiveness of
the General Council, that it was finally accepted by an overwhelming
majority. Revisionist and other proposals to maintain the integrity

of Palestine were decisively defeated.(l)

1.Details in Cohen p.360. Sykes, p.386 called it "the boldest
essay in moderation that the Zionist ruling body ever made."”
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Even at this stage, the Agency attempted to negotiate with
the Arab League, hoping to gain some concessions. A meeting was
arranged by Jon Kimche with A%?m Pasha, the League Secretary,
in the Savoy Hotel, London. The Agency had prepared a scheme
defining the relations between the partition states, guaranteeing
the Arabs against further Jewish expansion, and offering economic
co-operation throughout the Middle Eastﬁ A%}m Pasha, however,
considered negotiations no longer relevant. This conversation

finally convinced the Agenmny that a peaceful solution was impossible.(l).

The Arab reaction to the Unscop Report was consistent with all
their previous statements. They declared complete-opposition to
any settlement which might remove any part of Palestine from Arab
sovereignty. They, therefore, rejected the report in total,
partition plan and federal state plan. On September 19, 1947, the
Arab Leagus Political Committee met at Sofar and announced that
any attempt to implement the Unscop report would be resisted by force
of arms. At a subsequent meeting, in Beirut, on October 9, it was
resolved that the secret decisions, takﬂg at Bludaq/‘in 1946, should
be executed, if Palestine's integrity were threatened, that "military
precautions"be taken on the frontiers, that Palestinians receive
material and moral assistance, and that a defence fund should be set
up.(2) In Palestine, the Arabs were confident that they would
succeed at Lake Success, despite Unscop, or, if not, they would
fight and win, Compromise was rejected utterly. The Arabs, therefore,
put on a brave show, and kept it up until well into 1948. However,
it is possible some of the Arab leaders were neither do confident or
enthusiastic as they seemed, but were unable to make conesessions
because of pressure from their peoples. A%Em Pasha certainly

believed this was the situation.(3)

1.Horowitz pp.233-4
2.Khalil pp.164-5
3.Horowitz p.234
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By September, 1947, pressure had increased on the British
Government to wash their hands of Palestine. The British public
had been particularly horrified by the murder, by the Irgun, of
two sergeants in reprisal for the hanging of three terrorists,

In August there was a financial crisis, and Palestine was costing

£30-40 million p.a. In India, a deliberate British withdrawal,

even if it had been followed by over 2,000,000 Indian deaths, had

taken the problem of India off British hands. Also, on August 28,

the Security Council rejected the Egyptian attempt to have the
Angl6-Egyptian Treaty of 1936 declared invalid. This left Britain

with a legal right to a base in Egypt, as an alternative to Palestine. (1)

Obviously, the British reaction ultimately depended on whether
Unscop produced a plan which Britain felt able to implement.. Since
partition had been discussed since 1937, probably Bevin and his
advisers expected a partition plan, which would be rejected by
both sides, but at least would produce viable states, with the
Jewish state small enough for the Arabs to accept eventually.

At the U.N. request, Britain would implement this solution, and

get out. What Britain had not expected was a partition plan

which did not produce two viable statés, which, therefore, would
require years of supervision, with frontiers of enormous length,
requirimg huge forces of troops to guard, and putting such a hupe
minority in the Jewish state that no Arab could consider it as other
than an enormous injustice, thus undermining tie British position

in the whole Arab World if Britain €o-operated with the U.N. in
implementing the solution. It is impossible to know exactly

what Bevin was hoping for. Sir Alan Cunningham's farewell speech

to Unscop suggested that a solution, could not give Mabsolute justice
to everybody," would not be agreed to ™sholly" by everybody, therefore

a solution had to be imposed, and it had better be imposed soon. (2)

o
1.Mghroe pp.165-7
2.Granados pp.291-2
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Logically, Bevin might have expected areas of Jewish majority to
form a Jewish state. This might Eave resulted in the plan being
similar to the Grady-Morrison plan of 1946, In fact, this would
have been very much the effect if Unscop had given the Negev to

the Arab state. It is possible that Bevin, by threatening to leave
Palestine, during the Second Regular Session, was actually trying
to get America to agree to this, Bevin told Alami, in November,
that America would not accept the Mandate and would insist Britain kept
it. Then Bevin would only agree to stay if given a free hand. (1)
The State Department were certainly quite willing to hand over the
Negev to the Arabé, but Bevin's policy, if such it was, collapsed
completely when Truman intervened against the State Department to

prevent this happening.

The Americans, having shelved the problem with the
establishment of Unscop, had to take it up again, but were in
a state of internal confusion. Truman wanted a Zionist solution,
the State Department wanted good relations with the Arabs, and the
military advised that America could not spare any troops for the
Middle East. These factors made American policy inconsistent and
in¢é¥ective, at least in producing a viable solution. Truman,
naturally, committted America to partition in the opening debate
of the Second Regular Session., However, it was impossible to
reconcile conflicting advice to produce a considered statement of
opinion before October 11. It appears that Truman insisted the
partition plan be supported without any major change. However,
he accepted the Chiefs of Staff advice not to involve Amerdcan
troops. Since American policy was against increase of Russian
influence, this meant that America had to oppose the use of Russian
troops. This, in American calculations, only left Britain to
implement the plan, for no small country would get involved in such
a difficult problem. It would have suited America well for Britain

1.Furlonge pp.148-9
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to implement the Unscop partition plan, bringing down Arab wrath

on British heads. This encouraged much wishful thinking in the
State Department, even as late as April, 1948, that Britain might be
persuaded to do this,
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ii)Establishing the Ad Hoc Comm3ttee.

Three items on Palestine appeared in the Provisional Agenda,

prepared by the Secretariat, for the Secon)Reguler Session of the
U.N.(1) No.21 was the original U.K. request, which had resulted
in the establishment of Unscop. HNo.22 was the Unscop Report.
No.23 was an Arab states' proposal to terminate the Mandate and
establish Palestine's independence as %one state." The Secretary-
General suggested that items 21-3 be dealt with by an ad hoc
committée,(Z) otherwise the First Committee would have been
overloaded and unable to complete its work until long after the

other committees.(3)

In the General Committee, Mr. El-Khoury (Syria) -opposed
the reference of Palestine items to an a8l hoc committee, on
grounds that it should not be made a special case. America and
Britain, however, supported an ad hoc committee as a practical
way of solving U.N. organisational problems, which followed
logically from the First Special Session. The Committee, therefore,
decided to recommend to the General Assembly to establish an "Ad
Hoc Committes on the Palestine Guestion," to deal with items 21-3

of the Provisional Agenda.(4)

When the report of the General Committee was considered by
the General Assembly, Mr. Jamali (Irag) repeated lMr. El-Khoury's
plea that Palestine should not be singled out for special
treatment. Mr, Malik (Lebanon) went further, declaring that
"peculdar standards were being applied" to Palestine, Also, in
an ad hoc committee, alternate delegates would probably be assigned,
and the;efore the problem would not get the attention it deserved,
and make the delegates easily susceptible to pressure. However,

despite Arab protests the Ad Hoc Committee on the Palestinian

1.4/329 July 18, 1947

2.A/BUR/82 September 12, 1947

3. A/BUR/83 ] "

4,General Committee meeting No.35, Wednesday, September 17, 1947,
Committee was Brazil, China, Cuba, France, Mexico, U.S.S.R., U.K.,
U.S.A., Luxembourg, New Zealand, Chile, India, Poland, and Syria.
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Question was established by 26 votes to 11, with 6 abstentions.(1)
This Committee met 34 times between September 25 and November 25,

Its work fell into three parts, general debate and hearing witnesses,
division into subcommittees to prepare possible solutions, and
consideration of subcommittees' reports, During all this time
delegates were under considerable pressure, and on two occasions

the Committee met three times in the day, in order to complete

its work without an unreasonably long delay.(2)

1.Meeting No.90, September 23, 1947 (N.B.slight change of title
during debate).

2.0n Saturday November 22 (mcetings 27-9) and Monday November 24
(meetings 30-2) -
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iii)General Debate and Hearing Witnesses in the Ad H@c Committee.

At the Committee's first meeting(l) Dr. Evatt (4ustralia)

was elected Chairman, Siam Vice-Chairman, and Iceland Rapporteur.
The Committee approved the Chairman's suggestion that the Arab
Higher Committee and Jewish Agency be invited to give evidence(2)
and that business should not otherwise begin, until the Committee
had heard a statement from the U.K., which was to be given the
next day. Meanwhile, the Chairman asked the delegates to consider

a time limit on proposals for solutions to the Palestine Problem.

Creech~Jones (U.K.) delivered the expected statement at the
next meeting.(3) He began with general comments on the Unscop
Report. Britain agreed that the Mandate should be terminated, that
Palestine should be independent, and that displaced persons were
and international responsibility.(8) However, the most significant
statement was that Britain would not enforce a solution, unless
approved by both Arabs and Jews. Of course, the U.K, would not
obstruct a U.N. settlement, but would not enforce it unless the
Apove conditions were met. If they were not, then Creech-Jones
was instructed to say that Britain would withdraw. He warned, therefore,
that any solution that Jdid not meet with the approval of both Arabs
and Jews should be accompanied by a properly worked out plan
of implementation., The effect should have been, and probably was
intended to be a clear warning to Arabs and Jews that it was in their
best interests to compromise, and to the U.N. that they should not
propose plans on the assumption that some-one else was going to

bear the cost of enforcemsnt,

The Arab Higher Committee gave evidence at the third meeting
and the Jewish Agency at the fourth.(5) The Agency answered
questions and gave further information at meeting No.17, and the

Higher Committee at No.18.(6)l:sAlsé 4t.N0.18, Weizmann appeared

1.September 25, 11.a.m.
2.A/AC.14/2 (invitations) A/AC.14/4, A/AC.14/5 (replies)
3,Friday September 26, 11 a.m.

% ,Unscop recommendations I, II, and VI. (see A{P64)
5,September 29, October 2. . Ocotber 17 and 18
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at the request of the Agency, although he was not acting for them

in an official capacity.(l)

The Higher Committee completely rejected both the majority
and minority proposals of Unscop. After a detailed exposition
of the Arab case and condemnation of the Jewish case, the Higher
Committee proposed that there should be an Arab state in the whole
of Palestine. It should guarantee the generally accepted human
rights, protect minority interests and freedom of worship. A
constituent assembly should be elected, by all genuine Palestine
citizens, to draw up a constituion base on the above. A government
then elected on the basis of this constitution should take over
from the Mandatory Government. These proposals were incorporated,
with only detail changes, in a Syrian draft resolution, on Gctober
14, 1947,(2) This indicates that the Higher Committee was working
closely with the Arab states, but the delay of 11 days between the
Higher Committee's appearance and-the Syrian proposal suggests

conflict, in#é&iciency, or both,

The Agency stated that it accepted, in principle, the Unscop
majority plan. It also re-stated the Jewish case and attacked the
basis of the Arab case. Much more important, when later events
are considered, was its declaration that, if force was necessary to
implement a a solution, but British forces were not available and
no other force was forthcoming, then the Agency would maintain order
in its own areas., When U.N. members began to realise that Britain
actually meant what she said when she talked of leaving Palestine,
the chance that the plan of partition might be enforced without
outside intervention, must have weighed, at least to some small
extent, with governments wanting to support the Jews for political
reasons, but not wanting to vote for an unworkable scheme or to

get involved themselves.

1.Weizmann ppj554-5
2.A/AC.14 /22
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In the general debate which followed, 32 states expressed
opinions, with varying degrees of clarity, on the Palestine Problem.
The partition plan was most favoured with 14 states in favour. (1)

The Arab states' proposal for a unitary state in Palestine was next

with 10.(2) The Unscop minority plan died a natural death, with

the support of only 2 of its original 3 supporters.(3) About

half the U.N. did not commit themselves. On secondary issues, there
was an even greater reluctance for members to commit themselves,
particularly over implementation and the connection between

displaced persons and Palestine., Delegates appear either to have
forgotten Creech-Jones' statement of British policy, or chosen to
ignore it.(4) The supporters of the Arab states' plan assumed that
no measures of implementation were needed, and to have forgotten that,
in their scheme, the co-operaﬁion of Britain was necessary in
establishing a provisiohal government, although to a lesser degree
than in the partition plan. 5 of the supportees of partition

ignored implementation or accorded it no consequence in their
speecheSo(S) Russia agreed the question was important, but made no
definite proposals. The American view, that an international force
might be used, was supported by Canada, South Africa, and New Zealand.
Only Czechoslovakia, Sweden, and Guatemala considered the questions

of implementation vitally important.(6)

On the question of displaced persons, Britain made a proposal
that the U.N. should ask all countries to take a share of refugees,

and therefore solve the problem.(7) Since it was Jewish policy that

1.Canada, Czechoslovakia, Guatemala, Haiti, New Zealand, Panama,
Peru, Poland, Sweden, South Africa, U.S.A., U.S.5.R., Uruguay,
Venezuela,

2.Afghanistan, Argentine, Egypt, India, Iraq, Lebanon, Pakistan,
Saudi Arabia, Syria, Yemen, '

3,Iran and Yugoslavia (India was now supporting the Arab proposals)

4.Creech-Jones felt obliged to restate British policy at the close
of debate (meeting No.15 Thursday October 16, 3 p.m.}

5.Panama, Poland, Uruguay,hPeru, Haiti, Yugoslavia.

6.Sweden wanted the permanet members of the Security Council to take —— °
Guatemala (A/AC.14/13) wanted any but them.

7.A/AC 1L /14
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all Jewish refugees should go to Palestine, Britain appeared to be
working against the Agency. The separation of the refugee issue and
the Palestine Question was supported by those delegates who had
spoken in favour of the Arab states' proposal. However, of the
uncommitted, only 2 declared for a separate solution for the refugees. (1)
Yugoslavia made a proposal which partly linked the issues.(2)

Of the supporters of partition, only 2 made definite proposals,

both linking displaced persons with Palestine.(B) Only 4 states

took the realistic view that unless the U.N. produced a plan agreed to
by both Jews and Arabs, any solution progosed by the U.N. was likely
to be ignored, and therefore it was vitally necessary to get the

agrement of both parties, otherwise the U.N. was wasting its time.

America, despite its earlier declaration in favour of Partition,
delayed, until meeting No.1l, its statement of policy. This seems to
have been due to extreme caution, great care being given to the
editing of the text, and the President's approval being required.(4)
This makes the statement worthy of close study, both for what it said, and
for what it did not. America definitdly supported the partition plan,
in the U.N. However, in U.S.A. opinion, the U.N., by discussing
Palestine, had not taken responsibility for Palestine, Responsibility
lay with the Mandatory Power, However, this did not mean that the
U.N. could ifldore the problem of implementing partition. America
would co-operate with the U.N. during a transitional period, would
help the new states economically and financially, and to maintain
law and order. This last might invoﬁ%k a volunteer force, recruited
by the U.N. Enforcement of law and order however, did not refer to
meeting external inervention, which the U.S.A. declared would not
happen. This really was a declaration that, while the U,S5.A. would
fight for partition in the U.id., it would not use its troops to
enforce partition. Instead, America seemed to hope that Britain
could |be persuaded not to throw off responsibility for Palestine,
while|reluctantly admitting Britain could not be relied on to
co-opérate completely.

1.China and Cuba

2,A/AC.14/19 Yugoslavia wanted entry from refugees in Cyprus only.

3.Poland wanted 250,000 admitted immediately, Urugay 30,000 children
added to Unscop's proposals.

4. Hew York Times October 12, 1947 (see Riggs pp.49-50)
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At the next meeting, Russia stated her policy, insisting that
it was unchanged from the First Special Session. The U.S.S.R.
would have liked a unitary state in Palestine, if both Jews and
Arabs would have agreed on one. However, since they would nd agree,
the partition scheme stood more chance of success. Russia did not
approve of the Unscop plan as it stood. Adjustments would have to be
made over frontiers, the arrangements for the transition from
mandatory rule to independence, and the status of Jerusalem.
Although the Soviet-delegate refered to the need to make proper
arrangements for implementing a solution, he did not stress this.

In fact, Russia was not committed to more than qualified support for

partition °

The Arab states' major failure at this stage was their
inability to arouse interest in their scheme to have the Palestine
Question refered to the Intermational Court. The scheme does not
seem to have been well planned. Iraq, on October 14, presented
a proposal to ask the International Court whether the Palestine
Mandate was consistent with Britain's promises to the Arabs during
the First World War.(1) Apparently, the other Arab states found
the idea attractive, and two days later, Egypt and Syria presented
proposals to ask the Court whether the U.N. or any state was
competent to impose partition on Palestine, against the wishes of
the majority of its inhabitaants,(2) If this scheme had succeeded,
then, whatever the Court's ruling, there would have been sufficient
delay for any U.N. action to be left behind by events. However,
nearly all delegates ignored the proposals, and only Iran gave’

support to the Arab states,

On the conclusion of the general debate, the Chairman
(Evatt, Australia) proposed that two committees be established

to deal with some of the proposals. The first was to be a

1.A/AC.14/21
2.A/AC.14/28 and AfAC.14/25
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committee of conciliation, as suggested by El Salvador, to see

if it was possible to get agreement between Jew and Arabi (1)

The second was to consider the U.S.A./Canadian proposal for a
subcommittee to prepare a plan based on the Unscop majority plan.(Z)
The Chairman refeﬂéd to the possibility of a third subcommittee to
prepare a plan based on the Arab states' proposals. This was opposed
by America, who had aiready proposed that the partition plan be
studied exclusively.(3) Russia supported this, and asked the Committee
to take a decision immediately, approving pariition in principle

as a solution. The U.S.S.R. proposal was, however, voted down,
receiving onty 14 votes. Three subcommittees, therefore, were

established. (4)

At the Chairman's suggestion, it was agreed that the committee
on conciliation should, consist of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman
and Rapporteur of the Ad Hoc Committee, and that the subcommittees
on the partition plan and the unitary state plan should be known
as Subcommittee 1 and Subcommittee 2, each consisting of 9 members.
The Chairman also suggested that Subcommittee 1 be composed of
Belgium, Canada, Czechoslovakia, France, Sweden, UeS.S.Rey U.S.A.,
Uruguay, and Venezuela. Belgium promptly refused to serve,
declaring that Belgium had not yet taken up a position on the issue,
Russia tried to get the whole of the permanent members of the
Security Council on Subcommittee 1. Russia presum¢ably hoped that
if Security Council members supported a solution in the Subcommittee,
then they might also support it in the Security Council, which
Russia later made it clear she saw as the supervising authority
to implement a solution. Russia insisted on a vote, despite two
Security Council members (Britain and Belgium) having already

stated they would not serve. The proposal was defeated, 32 to 6.

1.A/AC.14/21

2,4/AC.14/17 and A/AC.14/23

3.A/AC 14 /16 jointly with Sweden

4,Voting was for subcommittee on conciliation, unanimous,
on partition 35 to nil (8 abstentions)
on unitary state 30 " 10 (6 " )

(82)



i.v.)The Acceptance of Partition by the Ad Hoc Committee.

The Committee then azgreed to let the Chairman choose the subcommittees

from those willing to serve.

For convenience, Subcommittee 1 divided into 7 working
groups, each considering one important aspect of the Unscop Report. (1)
These groups recommended no importanf changes to Unscop's
provisions for the Holy Places, citizenship, international
éonventions and financial obligations, or economic union. Jerusalem
was to be controlled by the Trusteeship Council. None of the above
caused any contréversy. Boundaries seem to have caused the Agency
most worry, but delegates regarded implementation as the most
difficult problem. Britain, the Arab Higher Committee, and the
Jewish Agency were invited to send observers to the subcommittees.
Howevery the Higher Committee, true to itscpolicy of complete
non-co-operation with partition, refused to send an observer to

Subcommittee 1.

On boundaries, the most critical area was the Negev, if
it were transfered to the Arab state, then the strangle hold which
the partition plan gave to the Jews over Palestine would be removed.
Yet it was extremely difficult to justify placing many thousands of
Arabs under Jewish rule in an area where Jewish population was
negligible., There was a possibility, how much appreciated by the
Jews it is impossible to say, that, if the Negev were excluded from
the Jewish state, Britain might implement the U.N. partition plan,
at least to the extent of excluding Jews from Arab areas, The Agency

believed that Bevin held the Negev outside Jewish interests,(2)

1.No.1 on Holy Places directed by Czechoslovakia,
No.2 on Bitizenship directed by Uruguay.
No.3 on Irternational conventions and financial obligations
directed by Guatemala,
No.4 on economic union directed by Guatemala.
Wo.5 on boundaries directed by Poland and Uruguay
#5806 on implementation consisting of Canada, Guatemala, Russia, America.
No.7 on Jerusalem directed by Czechoslovakia.
2 . Horowitz p.268 says Bevin said so to Creech-Jones.
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and Britain certainly raised objection to the Jews having the
Negev in the working group on boundaries, They mey have been
right, since Bevin said privately in November, that he would

only stay in Palestine if America gave up interference an gave

him a free hand.(1) Britain apparently did convince the Btate
Department, After consultation with American delegates at Lake
Success, the Department ordered that the U.,S.4, should support the
transfer of the southern part of the Negev to ths Arab state.

The Agency frustrated this jowever, by an appeal, via Weizmann,

to Truman. The President was convinced by Weizmann's presentation
of the case, and countermanded the State Department's orders.(2)
Apart from this, no major change was attempted. Wo real Jewish
objection was made to the transfer of Jaffa to the Arab state.
This was not surprising. Jaffa, in an isolated enclave, was no
theeat to the Jewish state, but its transfer to the Arabs reduced

the Arab minority in the Jewish state,

In discussion of implementation, the wealness of the American
policy became obvious. Debate dragged on for 13 meetings, and the
report of Subcommittee 1 was delayed until Novembbr 19. At first
America persisted in assuming Britain would, finally, implement
a UN. solution. In the end, %he section on implementation might
well have been drafted by the British representative. On Cctober 31,
America proposed that Britain hand over control to the new states,
gradualig)as she withdrew., Withdrawal was to be completed by July 1,
1948, This, in effect, was asking Britain to implement the partition
plan in a mere 6 months transtional period. The reaction of the
British delegate was to repeat the September 26 statement, that
Britain would not implement a plan unless both sides agreed to it.
Russia then proposed that the Mandate should end on January 1, 1948,
and Britain withdraw by April 30. Order was to be preserved by an armed

militia of Jews and Arabs, under Security Council supervision.

1.Furlonge pp.148-9
2,Weizmann pp.561-2 reports his meeting with Truman and influence

of Weizmann over Truman is obvious.

(84)



fmerica and Russia then reconciled their proposals, after an
interval which suggested very careful consultation with their
governments, and possibly talks with Britain.(1) The result was

a joint proposal for the Mandate to end to end on May 1, 1948,
with the new states to become independent by July 1. A commission
of 5 small powers, under directives of the General Assembly, but
supervised by the Sécurity Cohncil, would implement the solution.
The implication was clear., The commission could not possibly
implement any solutiﬁn requiring use of force, but the necessity
for force was becoming seadily more obvious, therefore it was
being assumed that Britain would co-operate with the commission and

implement 2 solution.

British reaction was t> announce that troops would not be
withdrawn completely before August 1, and, while they remained in
occupation of any area, they would retain responsibility for law
and order in that area, but they would not enforce a U.N. solution.
The civil administration would be maintained until it was obvious
the U.N. decision was not accepted by both Jews and Arabs, and
would not necessarily be maintasined in the areas still occupied by
Britain during a withdrawal. In response to questioning, the
British deiegate did not appear well briefed. He declared if the
U.N. approved a solution, Britain would not obstruct it. However,
he had no instructions on the British attitude to the proposed U.N.
commissiont activities,,in areas where the civil administration had
been laid down but were still occupied. He did not know the date when
the withdrawal would begin, the stages it would follow, or even the
exact definition of an occupied area, therefore he could not say which
areas the commisssion might be able to take over before the withdrawal

was completed.,

In response, therefore, the working group altered its plan

so that the Mandate should terminate and Bfitish forces be withdrawn

1.Granados p.253
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on a date to be agreed, but not later than August 1, 1948, Partition
would become effective by October 1, 1948. Britain would maintain

law and order and public services in areas where they were not handed
over to the commission. The five members of the commission were to

be Guatemala, Iceland, Norway, Poland, and Uruguay. During the
activities of the working group, many people were surprised at the
‘c6-operation between America and Russia, apparently not realising that,
although in this case their immediate objectives were similar, their

motives were entirely different.(l)

Subcommittee 2, on the unitary state, completed its work much
more quickly than Subcommittee 1, but refused to release its report
other than simultaneously with that of Subcommittee 1. Its report
asserted that Unscop had failed to consider the legality of the
Balfour Declaration and similar international agreements, and had

ignore the question of the rights of the inhabitants of Palestine to

self-determination., These points should be refered to the International

Court. The Committee declared that Palestine had accepted a
"disproportionately large" number of Jewish refugees, called upon
countries of origin to take them back, and other countries to accept
them where return to their native lands was impossible. A special
committee was suggested to co-ordinate the re-settlement of Jeuws
among U.N. members., Palestine should be established as a unitary
state, on lines previously suggested by the Arab states and the Arab
Higher Committee.(2)

The Committee on Conciliation had no success. Actually, it
does not seem to have tried very hard, although this is understandable,
considering how vehemently both sides were expounding irreconcilable

principles.(3)

1.For the report of Subcommittee 1, see A/AC.14/34 and A/AC.14/34
add. 10

2.For the report of Subcommittee 2, see A/AC.14/32,

3.For the report of Subcommittee ., see A/AC.14/SR.23. For criticism
of Subcommittee, see remarks of france and Syria, General Assembly
meeting No.127, November 28.
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Reports were presented at meeting No.23 of the Ad Hoc
Committee on the Palestinian Question, Wednesday ovember 19,
and discussed at the 11 subsequent meetings between then and

Tuesday, November 25,

Sir Alexander Cadogan (U.K.), now appearing better briefed
than in the working group, clarified the British position, to some
extent, by raising further objections. These indicated that Britain
was going to control Palestine with no interference from the U.N.
until a certain date chosen by Britain, At that date, the Mandate
would end and Palestine become a U.N. responsibility. Britain,
therefore, would not accept Security Council control over the
timing of the end of the Mandate or the British withdrawal, both
of which tégiéfimplied by Subcommittee 1's report. Britain would
not hand over authority to a provisional government, but only to
the U.N. Sir Alexander warned, therefore, that proper provision
for the U.N. to assume control of Palestine still had not been

made.,

In the end, the question of transfer of authority from
Britain to the provisional governments of whatever plan the U.N.
should adopt was never cleared up. Subcommittee 1 held 3 meetings
and struck out the references to Security Council interference,
which Britain found so offensive, but did not clarify the status of
territory still occupied by British troops after Britain had declared
the Mandate ended. Subcommittee 2 should have had an easier task.
It could simply have declared that Britain should transfer authority
to the U.N. commission when the lMandate ended, and that the commission
should then transfer it to the provisional government. However, the
subcommittee refused to accept British dictation and its

recommendations remained unaltered.

America still persisted in trying to soften the blow which

partition would deal to the Arabs, .The inclusion of the Negev in
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the Jewish state was still widely criticised, but American delegates
were under strict orders not to deviate from this part of the
partition plan. However, the Jewish Agency itself responded to this
criticism by offering to transfer Beersheba to the Arab state, and
this was incorporated in an American proposal. (1) The Agency offer
aroused much surprise, and was welcomed as a generous gesture, but
is understandable if it is assumed that the Agency was concerned to
preserve the essentials of the partition plan, and were not worried
. about the transfer of the Arab population of Beersheba from the
Jewish state. Another conciliatory gesture by America towards the
Arabs was the removal of the commission's two most ardent Zionists,
Granados (Guatemala) and Fabregat (Uruguay). America supported a
proposal by Pakistan and Norway that the membership of the commission
should be left to the General Assembly. Granados was very bitter
at being excluded, and afterwards wrote that those who had supported
his membership of the commission changed their minds after American

li%Fon men had spoken to them in the delegates' lounge. (2)

America also remained determined that American troops should
not become involved., When Denmark proposed that the Security Council
should be instructed to regard any attempt to frustrate a UN solution
by force as a threat to peace, which would have obliged the Council
to raise U.N. forces against the Arabs if they carried out their
threats against partition, America objected. Obviously America
considered U.N. forces would probably have to be American. The
result was the Danish proposal was watered down to a simple exhortation

to the Council to do its duty.(3)

Surprisingly, Britain did not object to Subcommittee 1ts

request for the Mandatory power to make available a port for

1.4/AC.14/38
2.Granados pp.258-260
3,4/4C.14/43 and A/AC.14/43 Rev.l, November 24 and 25, 1947
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Jewish immigration, before the Mandate ended. Britain's attitude
seems to have raised some Jewish hopes that Britain would, in the
end, grant this request, but Britain's real intention seems to have
been that, since it was only a request it could be ignored
eventually and, meanwhile, it was better not to make a fuss in the

UIN.

Subcommittee 2's recommendations were voted first., The
proposal for referenée to the International court was defeated, but
with enough votes in favour to show that'many delegations would
have been happy to see the whole problem shelved.(f) The proposal
to ask the Court whether the U.N. could enforce a decsion contrary
to the wishes of the majority of the inhabitants of Palestine was
only defeated by one vote.(2) Of three proposals on displaced
persons, one was actually passed, (3) and the whole section was only
rejected by the Chairman's casting vote.(4) The proposal for a
unitary state, however, was decisively defeated.(5) 4 long list
of amendments, mostly trivial, had been prepared for the report
of Subcommittee 1.(6) Pakistan attempted to get the Subcommittee's
recommendations on boundaries refered to a new commission, but
faiiéd-(?) The plan for partition with economic union was then
accepted, but with nothing like the 2/3 majority required for
approval by the General Assembly.(8)

1,18:25:11 (i.e. votes for:against:abstentions)
2.20:21:13

3.17:14:23, 18:16:21, 15:18:22

4,17:16:26

5.12:29:14

6.A/AC.14 /35240 and 42-L46

7.A/AC. 14 /50

8.25:13:17 (as No.1)
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v.)The Passage of the November 29, 1947, Resolg;ion for Partition.
Although, when the delegates assembled, on November 26, 1947,
to consider, in the General Assembly, the Ad Hoc Committee on the

Palestinian Question®s report, the plan for partition seemed only
to lack one vote for a 2/3 majority, appearances were deceptive.
There was the usual large proportion of abstentions to be found in

a U.N. committee, where many countries were eager not to get
involved in the issue being discussed. In the General Assembly,
however, these countries often committed themselves after consulting
their governments. However, if the supporters of partition divided
the vot;s of former abstAiners equally with the opponents of partition,
then a 2/3 majority would be further away. After November 25,

when the last vote was taken in the Ad Hoc Committee, the supporters
of partition had to gain one extra vote plus two extra votes for
every extra one gained by the opposition., The result was, when 3
previous abstainers, Belgium, Netherlands, and New Zealand announced
support for partition, and 3 others, Philippines, Greece, and Haiti
announced opposition, the partitionists were in a worse position,
needing 4 extra votes. (1) Zionists had hopes of Luxembourg and
France voting for partition,(2) but even this left a deficit of

2 votes, A South American friend told the Jewish Agency leaders,
who were horrified at this situation, "Go home, The sight of your
faces is deﬁoralising your friends."(3) The only solution seemed

to the Agency to be to work for a postponement so that pressure
could be used on uncommitted or weakly committed delegations

to obtain a majority when the partition plan was finally voted.
Zionist supporfers, particularly Fabregat (Uruguay) made long
speeches, to which little attention was paid. This prevented the
speakers' list being completed in meetings 124 and 125. The partitionists
mustered enough votes to prevent a proposed night meeting to

complete the Assembly's business, and therefore a vote was postponed

1.See p.9% for a stage by stage examination of the voting and
potential voting November 26-29 (Table entitled "The Struggle
for Partition").

2.Granados p.267

3.Horowitz p.299



until, at least, Friday, November 28.(1) What was significant
about the partitionists' success in this case was its narrow
marging;yonty 2%,vobessagainstathe inight _mdeting to 21 in favour.
The vote showed that, not only were many abstainers prepared to
see partition rejected, but several who had voted for partition

in Committee were prepared to see it fail to gain a 2/3 majority.

By Friday November 28, 1947, the situation had changed.
Two abstainers, Paraguay and Liberia, had been won to partition,
plus two of the opposition, Haiti and the Philippines. Also,
one of the opposition, Thailand, was absent, the delegate being
disowned by his government as a result of a revolution. This
gave the partitionists 8 votes beyond that required for a 2/3
majority. Zionists and their supporters were eager for an
immediate vote, but when France proposed a postponement to allow
a final attempt to bring both sides together, the majority of the
U.N. approved, showing again that partition was not regarded as
a vital issue by the majority.(2) Not surprisingly, this last
attempt at conciliation failed, and the General Assembly met
for a final debate and vote on Saturday, November 29, 1947,
Lebanon, in an obviously desperate attempt to avoid defeat,
proposed a new federal plan. Iran, with similar motives, tried to
have the General ASsembly adjourned. Both attempts failed when
the Chairman (Brazil) gave the partition vote priority. The final
vote, therefore, was 33 in favour, 13 against, 10 absteations, and

1 absent. Partition of Palestine was, therefore, approved by the

UN.(3)

1.Thursday November 27 was a holiday for Thanksgiving.

2.Voting was 25 to 15,
3.The only surprise between Friday and Saturday was Chile's

move from support to abstention.
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The Struggle for Partition.

Date Votes
November For  hgainst  Abstention Absent Credit/deficit
for partition
25 25 13 17 2 -1
26 (a) 28 16 12 1 =4
®) 30 16 11 - 2
28 34 13 9 1 +8
29 33 13 10 1 7
Key

Hovember 25 is the final vote of the Ad Hoc Committee.

November 26 (a) is the Committee vote adjusted by declarations
of intent of delegates at General Assembly meetings
124 and 125,

November 26 (b) is the above adjusted by Granados' estimate of the
situation on the evening of November 26,

November 28 is the above adjusted by Granados' estimate for

that date plus declarations of delegates,

lovember 29 is the actual vote of the General Assembly on partition.
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vi)The Forces #hich Produced a Majority for Partition.

Much has been written about the Zionists® skill in using

pressure to gain a 2/3 majority in the U.N. However, the effect
of pressure used by the Zionists would have been minimal without
the special advantages they enjoyed in the situation which existed

in November 1947, These advantages tend to be overlooked.

Zionist ideas were always more acceptable in countries with
European and Christian traditions than in other parts of the World,
In European and Christian countries, in the 20th Century, a feeling
of guilt at past persecution of Jews and anti-Jewish prejudice in
general, always lay close to the surface of people's consciences,
In 1947, this feeling was very strongly re-enforced by the
receﬁt revelations of lazi massacres of the Jews in Germany and
eastern Burope. In these countries also, the Jews had their
strongest organisations. This produced a special advantage,
because, in November 1947, of the 57 states in the U.N., 37 could
be described as predominahtly Christian and European in tradition.(1)
The key factoe in Zionist success, however, was their domination of
America, America's large Jewish population, led by Zionist organisations,
was able to sway the American people to the Zionist cause, even
to fol erating barely disguised advertisements for funds for
guns for terrorists, to be used against Britain, which was supposed
to be America'’s most important ally. Through Weizmann, Zionists
had access to the President. Through Jewish donations to party funds,
and Jewish votes, Zionists had a political influence which the
President could not ignore. While there is little doubt that President
Tpuman always believed that what he was doing was morally justified,
and even praiseworthy, it seems hardly likely that he would have been
prepared to.back his own judgement agéﬁnst that of the State Department,
which opposed partition, if personal and political pressures had been

pro-Arab and not pro-Zionist.

1.This can been seen by examining the table entitled "Policies and
votes of U.N. members,” given on p. 94 and 95.

(93)




Policies and Votes of U.N., Members

1.Europe Policy stated in Vote in Ad General Assembly
Ad Hoc Committee Hoc Committee Vote November 29

a)Western

Norway Y Y Y
Sweden Y Y Y
Jceland - Y Y
Denmark A Y Y
Belgium A A Y
France - A Y
Luxembourg - A h4
Netherlands - A Y
Britain A A A
b)Eastern
Czechoslova k;a Y b4 Y
Yugoslavia N A A
Greece - A N
2.The Americas
Bolivia Y Y Y
Donimican Republic Y Y Y
Guatemala Y Y Y
Panama Y Y Y
Peru Y Y Y
Uruguay Y Y Y
U.S.A. Y T Y
Venezuela Y Y Y
(continued p.95)
Key
vote or statement in favour of partition,
] i1 " a ga in St n °

abstention on partition.
absence or no policy stated

I 2=

Within the geographical divisions, countries with a similar votihg
pattern have been grouped together.
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The Americas (continued)

Brazil
Costa Rica
Ecuador
Nicaragua

Paraguay
Haiti

Chile
Argentina
Colombia
Honduras
Mexico

El Salvador
Cuba

3.The Soviet Bloc

Poland
UeS+S.Re

Byelorussia
Ukraine S.S.Re.

4.The Commonwealth

Canada
South Africa

Australia

New Zealand

5.The Arab League

Egypt

Iraq

Lebanon
Saudi Arabia
Syria

Yemen

- Y
- Y
- Y
- Y
- A
Y Y
- A
- A
- A
- A
A A
N N
Y Y
Y Y
- Y
- Y
Y Y
Y Y
- Y
A A
N N
N N
N N
N N
N N
N N

(continued on p.96)

. (95)
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6.0ther Countries of Asia and Africa

Philippines
Liberia
Ethiopia
Thailand
Turkey
Afghanistan
India

Iran
Pakistan

==

Z2=zm== =
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Success in America brought American influence in other
countries to the aid of the Zionists, Western Europe was recovering
from the Second World War and was largely dependent on American aid.
Latin America was very much influenced by American economic policy.
Also, Latin American countries had been encouraged to rely for arms
on the sale of U.S.A. surplus or obsolete military supplies. ‘Europe
and latin America together totalled 29 U.N. members, just over 50%.
fmerican political and economic influence was also important over

the whole World,

Finally, for reasons entirely unconnected with Zioniqgl Russia
had decided to support partition. This automatically provided 4
votes dominated by Russia, and, of course, Russia was able to put
pressure on other countries, particularly in Eastern Europe.
Mtogether, therefore, the Zionists could rely on, or have reasonable

hopes of at worst an abstention, about 41 countries out of 57,

Policy statements and votes cast support the thesis outlined
above. Only 3 countries with a Christian/Buropean background voiced
opposition to partition. Of these, two (Greece and Yugoslavia) were
of Eastern rather than Western Christian traditions, and one
(Yugoslavia) had a Moslem minority. Only Cuba was a real exception.

In Western Europe there is circumstantial evidence of American pressure,
particularly after the Ad Hoc Committee vote of November 25, 1947.

In the Committee, only 2 (Norway and Sweden) declared support for
partition, while 3 (Denmark, Belgium, and Britain) declared they would
abstain, and 4 (Iceland, France, Luxembourg, and the Netherlands)

did not declare an attitude. However, in the Committee vote, one
previously uncommitted (Iceland) and one previous abstainer (Denmark).
supported partition. At the General Assembly vote, on November 29,
1947, all Western HEurope, except Britain, voted for partition., Britain,
of course, was in a desperate financial situation and dependent on
America, However, it would probably be a mistake to assume American
influence had no effect in Britain's case., Rather than defying American
pressure by abstaining, Britain, more likely was being forced, by

American pressure, not to oppose a U.N. action, of which Britain very

strongly disapproved,
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) American influence does not appear so obviously in Latin
America, buththe pattern of voting suggestd that American pressure
converted to support meny countries which would have-prefered to
abstain. 9 refused to commit themselves in the Committee, but, of
these, at the Committee vote, 4 supported partition, 4 abstained, and
1 was absent, but later supported partition. Of the rest, 7
consistently supported partition, and 1 (Cuba) consistently opposed
it. 5 appeared determined to avoid taking an attitude. Only Hdti

and Chile's behaviour was erratic.

REssian controlled votes were solidly behind partition
throughout. Czechoslovakia's support for partition suggests Russia
pressure (Czechoslovakia was still independent), and in the case of
thoslavia there is evid?nce that Russian pressure changed the

Yugoslavian vote from opposition to abstention.

Since voting in the U.N. is supposed to be free, the use of
pressure is generally concealed and therefore not well documented.
However, America was accused in the U.H. of "tackling each delegation
in hotel room, in bed, in corridors and ante rooms, to threaten them
with economic sanctions or bribe them with promises.™(l) Sir Mohamed
7afrullah Khan (Pakistan) declared that, although he succeeded in
persuading a "sufficient number" of delegates against partitionm,

"they were not permitted to stand by the right as they saw it."” These
accusations, which might well be taken for propaganda, are confirmed

by Sumner Welles, who declared that "every form of pressure" was used
where it had a chance of succeeding.(2) David Horowitz wrote afterwards

that partition was only accepted because of American pressure. (3)

It is difficult, however, to give examples. The votes for Haiti

and Philippines seem likely examples of pressure, with their delegates

1.General Assembly meeting No.124, November 26, 1946 (speech
by Lebanon) '

2.Welles p.63

3.Horowitz p.301
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making sudden changes of attitude.
position and traditions suggested
she was voting against partition,
brought to bear on us." American

Zionist pressure, which, in Americ

in high official positions, acting on their own initiative.
senators sent a telegram to the Ph
, two Supreme Court judges saw the

a vote for partition, and at least

Philippine delegation in person.

business interests in Liberia, tel

asking for a vote for partition. (1
for partition, when Liberia might

to vote against,

A further difficult arises
pressure was used. Zionists seem
of some American officials on the:

included in Weizmann's list of th

Lr behalf.

bse who did valuable work in

Cuba, whose geographical
support for partition, declared
"despite the pressure which has been
pressure is also confused with
a, often came from Zionist supporters

26

ilippine delegation asking for

Harvey Firestone, with considerable
ephoned the Liberian Government

\
) This may explain Liberiagvote

have been more naturally inclined

in trying to estimate what

to have overestimated the efforts

Bernard Baruch is

obtaining the partition vote(2), but Baruch was a close associate

of Forrestal, who certainly was n

found, on consulting Baruch, that

American pressure does not
extent until near November 25, wh
Committee, and only became very s
 indicated the partition plan was
of course, also used pressure, Ru
Costa Rica and Guatemala(5), and
almost certainly, only a tiny fra

outside of Lake Success, during t

1.Lilienthal pp.60-67 gives these
2.Weizmann p.560

3.Rogow p.156

4,Granados p.265

5.Granados p.264

in great danger.

bt a supporter of Zionism, and he

"ot all Jews are Zionists."(3)

seem to have been used to any great
en the final vote was taken in

trong after the Committee vote

Other countries,

ssia on Yugoslavia(4), the Arabs on
the few examples available are,
rtion of the activities inside and

he last days of November, 1947.

examples.,

99)



 CHAPTER FOUR
UNITED NATIONS ACTIVITIES BETWEEN THE SECOND REGULAR SESSION AND
THE SECOND SPECTAL SESSION

i)Russian,American, and British Policies,
If the work of the Second Regular Session was proof that the

U.N. could take decisions if only Russia and America co-operated,
then the work of the U.N. after the.Second Regular Session is proof
fhat, without their co-operation, npthing effective could be done.

The contrast was obvious. Up to November 29, 1947, Russia and
America were willing to compromise to reach agreement. After
November 29, “every word was weighed cautiously lest it should

commit the speaker to some action.”(1) This was understandable.

From the First Special Session onwards, the lesser powers had wanted
to thrust responsibility for Palestine onto the Great Powefs. Nothing
had happened to make them change their minds, not even the minds of
the majority who had voted for partition., Rather, the increasing
violence in Palestine, in early 1948, was likely, more than ever, to
make them determined not to become involved. In the Security Council,
in 1948, of the 6 non-permanent members, 2 (Argentina and Colombia)
had consistently abstained on partition. 1 (Belgium) had been a

last minute conversion, despite its delegate's obvious dissatisfaction
with the plan. Only 2 (Canada and the Ukraine) had consistently
supported partition, while 1 (Syria) was totally opposed, Little,
therefore, could be expected from the lesser powers in the Security
Council. Little more could be expected from the permanent members.

2 (Britain and China) had abstained. France had béen a last minute
conversion, Only America and Russia had consistently supported
partition, Upon their co-operation, therefore, depended any hope of
effective action in Palestine, either to enforce the partition
resolution, or to seek and agree an alternative solution. This

co-operation, however, was not forthcoming.

1.Horowitz p.315

(100)



Russia's attitude was the simplest of the three powers most
involved. Russid's aim had:been to get Britain to leave Palestine,
If Britain withdrew, and no great power dominated the Middle East,
then, to Russia, it would have been very satisfactory. Therefore,
Russia had no real incentive to see partition properly implemented.
Indeed, any plan to enforce partition after a British withdrawal
raised the danger of American troops entering the area. The Russians,
however, appeared to realise that America would be very reluctant to
send in her troops, and the main fear of the Russians, at this'time,
which can be deduced from U.N. records, seems to have been that
the Security Council might find some formula to satisfy Britain
and allow Britain to stay. Britain's determination to leave Palestine
must have appeared to the Russians to be based on her objections to
partition, therefore, to ensure that Britain did not change her mind,
the Russians strongly oppos%gwgny attempt to water down the partition
plan, still, of course, wita seriously proposing any means on _i
implementation. As months passed in 1948, it became obvious that
Britain was leaving, whatever happened, and, therefore, the Russians
lost interest. Their suspicions were, however, aroused, when America
proposed a second special session to consider a temporary trusteeship
for Palestine, which seemed again to raise the possibility of a halt
in the British withdrawal, and which, therefore, was opposed by

Russia,

U.S.A. policy was produced by a complex situation inside America,
The partition plan had never been popular within the State Department.
From his appointment on September 17, 1947, the Secretary of Defeqce,
Forrestal, had bscome convinced that support for Zionism would be a
desaster for American interests in the Middle East. By early 1948,
this conviction had become an obsession. In his belief, he was
largely supported by his colleagues, particularly the Joint Chiefs
of Staff, who believed that support for partition might lead to American

forced being committed which were needed elsewhere., The Joint Chiefs
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were particularly conscious of the need to economise on men and
materials, because Truman had insisted on cuts in the defense estimates,
for the financial year, July 1948-June 1949, to a level far below

that considered safe by the Joint Chiefs., Since it was generally
considered that the reduction in defence expenditure was to curry
favour with voters in the 1948 election, State Department Chiefs

were sympathetic to charges that Truman was putting political
considerations before national security, both on defence spending and
Palestine. They became particularly worried after the Russia coup

in Czechoslovakia, February 22, 1948. However, this would have made
little difference if, by about the end of March, 1948, Forrestal, and
probably Marshall, the Secretary of State, and other State Department
officials, had not become convinced Truman was going to lose the
Presidential election.(1) The State Department, therefore, concluded
they could act without reference to Truman, and resulted in the American
delegate in the Security Council proposing a temporary trusteeship

for Palestine to replace the partition plan. This was announced on
March 19, and Marshall took full responsibility fpr advising Truman,
although Truman had not been advised at all. That the State Department
could take such an action shows that Truman, at this time, was very
preoccupied with his election campaign, and had not been supervising
the State Department as closely &s he mighf have been expected
normally. Also, Truman had not been informed of the poésibility

by Zionists. The Jewish Agency certainly appreciated such a change

of policy was likely, but, over-persistent Zionist propagandists had
caused Truman to exclude Zionist§from his presence. However, on

March 18, Truman had given one interview to Weizmann, gained by the
intercession of Truman's former business associate, Eddie Jacobson,

and Truman had promised continued support for partition. The following
day, Truman was shocked to hear the State Department's proposals.

He felt he had been made to appear a liar. He could hardly contradict

1.Rogow pp.164-73 and 253-58
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the American delegate's proposal without making America appear
ridiculous, therefore he allowed the State Department to carry on

with arrangements for the Second Special Session. However, he

remained determined to support the Zionist cause, and did so by

giving Israel immediate recognition, as soon as the state was declared.
This was done without prior notice to the State Department, which

was till, in the U.N., struggling with various proposals for a solution
jn Palestine, other then partition. The State Department officials were
very bitter about the President's action, but his authority was not

questioned again over Palestine.

Much has been written about the incomprehensibility of British
policy, or lack of British policy, between November 29, 1947, and
May 14, 1948, when Britain ended the Mandate. However, examination
of the scanty evidence that is available suggests a thesis that

explains these inconsistencies.

Britain had decided to leave Palestine, before the Second Regular
Session began. This was not taken seriously at the time, but cannot
now be doubted. However, Jews and Russians were afraid Britain was
looking for an excuse to stay, and Americans assumed Britain would
stay, at least long enough to enforce partition, When it became obvious
Britain would not enforce partition, the State Department believed
that Beitain might stay on some other terms, and this was regarded
as a serious possibility by Jews and Russians. Writers since then have
persisted in these views, despite it being obvious that, if Britain
was anxious to leave in September 1947, Britain would be even more
anxious to leave in January 1948. Britain's financial state was even
worse, and violence in Palestine was increasing. Above all, the U.N.
had produced a plan which Britain could only enforce by going back on
all her solemn.declarations of policy during the Second Regular Session,

and by turning her troops on the Arabs, whose frigndship Britain
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considered vital, and co-operating with the Jews, whose terrorist
activities had certainly not endeared them to the British Government.
By the U.N, plan, British troops might be committed to hazardous
servicé in Palestine for a long time, and, at the end of it, when
Britain withdrew, there would probacly be a war betweem Arabs and Jews.
Britain might have considered staying in Palestine if the U.N. had
produced a plan which the Arabs might possibly, udder duress, have
accepted, but, since the U.N. did not, it must have seemed to Britain
that to stay in Palestine was going to do nobody any good and Britain

a lot of harm., However, by leaving, it is most unlikely that Britain's
motive was to sabotage partition, as was rumoured at the time. This
was explicitly denied by Creech-Jones to Weizmann. More likely,
Britain would havé prefered to see another country enforce partition,
or attempt to. Creech-Jones, in fact, told Weizmann Britain would

have welcomed an international force., (1)

British neutrality, therefore, was bound to be "benevolent™
towards the Arabs, but it is hardly likely that the Foreign Office
expected ot desired a complete Arab victory. Apart from humanitarian
considerations, for the Jews would have gone down fighting, prospect§
of an Arab victory would have brought pressure from Zionists in
America for U.S.A. intervention. The complications which might have
resulted from this could not be taken lightly. Most likely, therefore,
Britain did not desire a complete Arab victory, but rather that the
Arabs would fight the Jews, be forced to realise they could not be
eliminated, but salve their pride to some extent by modifying the
U.N. plan by force of arms, until it was acceptable without too
much loss of face. Creech-Jones told Weizmann that he believed
Jews and Arabs would have to fiéht it out, and the result would be
favourable to the Arabs.(2) The exact extent of Arab gains, hoped for

1.Vera Weizmann p.224
2.Weizmann p.580
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may never have been defined precisely in Britain., It is not likely

that Britain hoped for the Jews to lose both Eastern Galilee and the
Negev, for a too great Arab victory would have produce other complications,
although there is evidence that some Foreign Office staff felt this

would be desirable.(l) Wnat would probably have suited Britain was for
the Jews to have the smallest possible viable state, which would

have had to include Eastern Galilee, and, perhaps, some or all of

Western Galilee,

A complete, or nearly complete Arab victory was undesirable to
Britain, because it would have brought conflict in the Arab World
between the Mufti's supporters (Egypt and Syria) and Abdullah of
Transjordan., who was spppobted by Irag. Abdullah was ambitious to
extend his frontiers. Since Abdullah had an efficient British trained
and equipped army, better placed than any other Arab countrygs to invade
Palestine, there was a danger that Abdullah would enter Palestine as
a liberator and remain as a conqueror, arousing the hatred of his
opponents against Britain for helping him do it. On the other hand,
Abdullah's most attractive quality to Britain was his appreciation,
unique among Arab_leadnrs, that the only possible solution was a
compromise with the Jéws, therefore, of all Arab rulers, he was the
onlyhsuited to administer Arab Palestine with any hope of peace. The
Mafti certainly was not., If he had been established in an Arab
division of a partitioned Palestine, he would certainly have attacked
the Jewish part. The obvious course, therefore, for Britain, was to
allow Abdullah limitted success. In the light of the above, the
apparent inconsistencies in British policy become comprehensible.

The Jews were hampered by arms searches and a blockade until the
end of the Mandate, but the Arabs received no extra deliveries of
arms. Abdullah was encouraged by Bevin to invade the eastern Arab

area, but told not to invade terrdtory allocated to the Jews. Arab

1,Horowitz, who was in London December 17-29, 1947, writes that
Harold Beeley told him the U.N. frontiers were impractical, but
partition was unavoidable. He thought the Jews would lose
Eastern Galilee and the Negev. Horowitz says Beeley's views were
similar to a certain "British V.I.P." he met at Weizmann's in

New York.
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irregulars were to%ierated before the end of the Mandate, but Arab

Jous did

regular armies were told not to invade. The result was the
establish themselves, but not in the whole of Palestine. However,
the extent of Jewish success seems to have been greater than was
expected in Britain, and certainly was too much ever for the Arabs
to be expected to tollérate. However, before the end of the riandate
British hopes were reasonable, and, in late May seemed to be coming
true. If Britain did miscalculate the situation early in 1948, and

it would be reasonable to say the situation was incalculable except

within very wife limits, then it is understandable. Palestine had been

an exasperating problem, but was not a major issue at that time. -
British diplomats felt Palestine wabsted time better devoted to more
important issues, and may not have been prepared to give it their
full attention. In a very undiplomatic outburst to Mrs. Weizmann,
Creech-Jones reveaLIgd, "T have Po look after sixty million people.
I have on my desk papers on the Argentine trouble, Ceylon, Malaya,

China, and others-and here is Palestine!®™(1)
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ii)The Work of the Palestine Commission

In these circumstances, the activities of the U.N. became
iqﬂéfective. The Palestine Commission's duties were to take over
Palestine as Britain left, establish frontiers and provisional
governments, supervise the election of constituent assemblies and then
of regular governments. No provision had been made—for a refusal
by the British Government to co-operate. The Commission was to act
"under the guidance of the Security Council," which was to "take the
neéessary measures as provided for in the plan for its implementation."
The Council was to "consider whether the situation in Palestine
constitutes a threat to peace," and take action, if necessary, under
Articles 39 and 41 of the U.,N.Charter. It was to "determine as a threat
to peace...any attempt to alter by force the settlement envisaged by
this resolution." The Commission's members(i) were nominated by the
‘President of the General Assembly (Brazil) after the écceptance of the
partition resolution, and accepted without objection. Lobbying
had excluded at least one strong supporter of partition (Guatemala)
and, of the members, only Czechoslovakia had been a strong supporter
of partition and had been a member of Unscop, although the rest had

voted in favour.

The Commission met, for the first time, on January 9, 1948, and
elected Lisicky (Czechoslovakia) Chairman, with Medina (Bolivia)
Vice-Chairman, After the first meeting, the Commission met in private,
although press conferences were given afterwards. By the sixth meeting,
January 14, 1948, rules od procedure had been adopted. The Commission
fhen produced a plan of work, based on Part 1B of the partition plan,
and invited Britain, the uewish Agency, and the Arab Higher Committee to

send representatives to co-operate with the Commission. At this point,

1.Raul Diez de Medina (Bolivia)
Karel Lisicky (Czechoslovakia)
Per Federspiel (Denmark)
Eduardo Morgan (Panama)
Vincente J. Francisco (Philippines)
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the Commission's weakness became obvious. The Jewish Agency and
Britain accepted the invitations, but the Arab Higher Committee
refused to appear, pointing out that it had rejected partition
completely. Then in a meeting with Sir Alexander Cadogan (U.K.),
the Commission learnt that Britain still insisted on retaining
complete control until the Mandate ended, and would not co-operate
in implementing the partition plan in any way. Britain was not
prepared to allow the Commission into Palestine before May 1, 1948,
although, a concession was made, in that an advance party would be
allowed. This arrived in Palestine on March 2, and had to find its
own accommodation and servants, It did however, send some reports
to Lake Success, which was the only work done by the Commission

in Palestine.

The Commission, therefore, concentrated on gathering such
information as was available at Lake Success, and on presenting
a report on the situation in Palestine to the Security Council.
In this report, the Commission concluded that, unless adequate
military force was available, after the termination of the Mandate,
there would be ™uncontrolled, widespread strife and bloodshed."
The Commission informed the Council that even British troops were
losing control, Arab forces were organising, both inside and outside
of Palestine, to resist the partition plan, and the Arab Higher
Committee had declared that a Jewish state would be resisted by force.
The Commission did not exclude Jews from blame, for "certain elements
were committing irresponsible acts of violence." The Commission,
therefore, asked the Council for help against the forces being used

to frustrate the partition plan.
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iii)The Work of the Trusteeship Council
Meanwhile, the Trusteeship Council had been preparing a draft

statute for the City of Jerusalem, in accordance with its instructions
in part III C of the partition plan. A4 working Committee on

Jerusalem was established on December 1, 1947, to prepare a first

draft. The Committee produced a comprehensive plan, (1) which, after

a preliminary debate on February 18, 1948, the Council considered

in detail from February 19 to March 10, At the suggestion of Belgium(2),
during meeting 35, on March 10, formal approval and the appointment

of a governor, which were specified in the partition plan, were
postponed until not later than April 29. However, on April 21, the
Council accepted an American suggestion(3) to hand the whole question

over to the General Assembly.

1.T/122 (the plan, as ammended in the Trusteeship Council, appears
as T/118 and T/118/Rev.l)

2.T/SR.62

3.T/SR.63
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iv)The Work of the Security Council
At the very first meeting in which the Palestine Question

appeared on the Security Council's agenda, there was a fore-taste

of the conflict which was to stifle all initiative during much

of 1948, On the simple question of taking note of the Secretary
-General's letter, communicating the resolution of November 29 to

the Council, America made it clear that it did not welcome the
responsibility placed on the Council'by the resolution. While Russia
wanted the Council to "accept" the resolution, America wanted to
"take note"™ of the resolution. The importance America placed upon
what might be considered a trivial matter of wording showed quite
clearly that America wanted a way left open for the Council to

reject partition,

Serious discussion on Palestine in the Security Council did
not begin until February 24, 1948, when Lisicky (Czechoslovakia)
presented the Palestine Commission's first special report. At the
next meeting Colombia presented a proposal which assumed that the
Council had to reject the Commission's plea for help because the
General Assembly's request to the Council to give such help if
required was nét covered by Articles 39 and 41 of the Charter.
Colombia, therefore, wanted the permanent members to consult among
themsélves about what should be done, and a committee of 2 permanent
members and 3 noqﬂppermanent members to consider whether conciliation
was possible, As a last resort, a second special session was
suggested to reconsider the whole Palestine Question. A comparison
of the Colombian proposal and America's in the next meeting suggests
that Colombia's was U.,S.A. inspired. In fact Colombia withdrew her
proposal in favour of America's., America, however, wanted no more
than consultation among the permanent members. The American proposal
contained a paragraph stating that the Security Council should accept
the partition plan, subject to the U.N. Charter. The debate on this
paragraph is an illustration of how determined was the Security

Council not to get involved in Palestine., It became clear that the
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majority of members would regard this paragraph, if accepted, as

a rejection of responsibility for Palestine, because, by the
Imerican and Colombian interpretation, -the Council could not

take action to enforce the plan, and keep within the Charter.

If the paragraph were not accepted, then again responsibility

would be rejected. Belgium proposed that the paragraph be

ommitted, but the majority was determined on a vote. Finally,

this paragraph was rejected, although the provision for consultation
among the permanent members was retained, The permanent members,

therefore, held private talks, between March 5 and 19, 1948,

On March 19, 1948, Austin (U.S.A.) reported to the
Council on the talks.(1) He declered first that Britain had not
participated in the talks but had given information. The
permanent members had concluded that the Jew%ish Agency had
accepted the partition plan, but the Arab Higher Committee had
rejected it, neither would accept a modified partiticn plsan,
both believed partition could not be implemented peacefully, illegal
arms and armed groups were entering Palestine, and the British
withdrawal would be followed by violence. However, as Gromyko
(U.S.S.R.) remarked, everybody knew this already. What all wanted
was the permanent members' recommendations on what should be done.
This was not impressive. The Council ﬁas to make it clear that
it would not permit a threat to international peace and would take
action to restore order. However, £he action was not specified.
Russia mede a reservation that partition could_still be implemented

peacefully, and ought to be implemented.
Most of two meetings had been spent in discussing this report,
when the situation was completely changed by a new American proposal.

Mistin made a long speech, in which he amplified his previous

arguments that the Security Council was not competent to enforce

1.5/P.V.270
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partition. In the lighi of America's previaus support for partition,
the U.5.A. seems to have felt obliged to maice a very full case.
sustin (U.S.A.) declared that the U.N. was not automatically the
heir to the League of Nations, and, since Article 21 of the Charter
had not been invoked, the U.N. had not taken responsibility for
Palestine. This meant that the U.N., in the November 29 resolution,
had only taken responsibility for Jerusalem, under a trusteeship.

The Council had rejected responsibility for Palestine by rejecting
the paraphaph accepting the resolution in the American resolution

of March 5. The Council's only responsibility in Paiestine, therefore,
was the maintainance of international peace. Austin, therefore,
declared that a second special session should be called to arrange a

temporary U.N. trusteeship for Palestine.(l)

This provosal was debated in two more mestings before being
voted, on April 1, 1948, Gromyko (U.S.5.R.) accused America and
Britain of plotting to retain Palestine as a strategic base.
Shertok (Jewish Agency) condemned the proposal in the strongest
terms as unjust and unrealistic. Canad} France, and Belgium
gave the proposal guarded support. Thé'Arab states declared they
regarded a temporary trusteeship as acceptable, provided that it
led to a unitary state in Palestine. Finally, the proposal was
accepted with 9 in févour, and only Russia and the Ukraine
abstaining. At the same meeting,“the Council also approved
unanimously an American proposal to call on the Jewish Agency and
Arab Higher Committee to arrange a truce. Austin (U.S.A.) declared
this was purely to "save human life,"(2) Immediately official
business was oéer, Austin invited all members of the Council to
his office at 2 Park Avenue, on April 5, for informal conversations

on the trusteeship proposal.

1,American suggestions were circulated as a working paper (5/P.v.271)
at firet, and not as a formal proposal until March 20 (s/705)

2.3/704
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To enforce the truce, the Council established a Truce Commission,
consisting of those Council members, except Syria, which had career
consuls in Jerusalem (America, France,'and Belgium). The Commission
was not supported by any hilitary force, and was, therefore, branded
by Russia as "toothless." However, there was a reasonable prosbect
of a cease fire, as both the Jewish Agency and Arab Higher Committee
had been consulted before Colombia presented formal truce proposals. (1)
These proposals asked for both sides to cease both military activities
and préparations, and also political activities which might prejudice
the rights or claims of either side.(2) Only Russia and the Ukraine
abstained in the vote, after Russian attempts to have the Arab forces
coming into Palestine named as invaders had been defeated, Jews and
Arabs accepted this truce, though with reservations which appear
intended to provide a justification for truce breaking if it should
prove convenient. In fact, the acceptance seems to have been on paper
" only, for widespread fighting continued. The Truce Commission, at
first, continued negoﬁiations which had been begun in Jerusalem on
April 18, for a truce in Jerusalem only, by the High Commissioner.

However, Arab forces, which then appeared to be winning, would not
agree, to a truce, although the Jews would have accepted one. Iater,
the situation was reversed. On April 28, agreement was reached on a cease
_fire in the Old City, but, on the night of April 29-30, the Jews
launched attacks on Arabs outside the Old City. The Arab position
deteriorated, and by May 9, they were willing to accept a truce.
However, this time the Jews, now on the offensive, prevaricated.

A cease-fire was finally forced on both sides by the British Army's
use of artillery, which lasted from about May 8 until the Army's
withdrawal on May 14. During all this time-the Commission played

a subordinate role to the High Commissioner. They reported great
difficulty in contacting leaders on both sides, and, when the British

Army withdrew, were helpless to prevent fighting being resumed.
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CHAPTER FIVE
THE SECCND SPECIAL SESSION
i)American, British, Jewish, and Arab policies.

The Second Special Session preseﬁts an extremely confusing

picture. There were far more subcommittees, proposals and amendments
than in the First Special Session, yet the result was far less. the
sterility of the'Session can be blamed on four serious mistakes of the
State Department, First, they thought the Jews could be persﬁaded to
accept trusteeship if the alternative was war with the Arabs.
Secondly, they thought that, even if the Jews did not at first accept
trusteeship, the Arabs would be certain to win, and the Jews would
finally accept trusteeship as the price of American protection.
Thirdly, they believed Britain cguld be persuaded to stzy, to help

to enforce trusteeship. last, they believed President Truman would

allow them to defy his wished on Palestine policy.

The Department probably thought the Jews might accept trusteeship
because some Jewish Leaders in America, possibly even Shertok, may
have given this impression, perhaps because they thought trusteeship
might.have been accepted as a temporary expedient.(l) However, they
were overuled by Ben Gurion. The Department, also, seems to have had
hopes of winning Weizmann to their side. Shortly after announcing
their trusteeship proposal, three members of the U.S.A. delegation
(4ustin, Jessup, and Ross) visited Weizmann: They appear to have
suggested to Weizmann that the declaration of a state by the Jeus,
when the Mandate ended, would result in a war in which the Jews would
be beaten, and that the Jews should accept trusteeship for their own
good. The Department, therefore, wanted Weizmann to help them convince

the Agency of this. Weizmann complebely rejected their proposals.(2)

The Department's belief that the Arabs would win was a common

misconception, except among those closely acquainted with Palestine.

1.Bilby p.260
2.Weizmann p.579, Weisgal and Carmichaé: p.309
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However, the State Department was not in close touch with affairs

in Palestine.

The Department's belief that Britain might be persuddéd-to stay
was an astonishing blunder, shared by many others, including the
Jewish Agency. It seemed inconceivable that such an old established
and recently victorious imperial power should withdraw voluntarily
from an area it dominated. The example of the British withdrawal
from India, the previcus year, appears to have been generally
ignored. However, the State Department's persistence in this
belief, at least in public, right into the Second Special Session,
in face of point blank British refusal to have anything to do with
trusteeship, or to entertain the idea of staying in Palestine on
any terms, needs another explanation. The most likely is that the
State Department had run out of ideas when they found that the Jews
would not co-operate with trusteeship and were not going to be beaten

by the Arabs easily.

Finally, as already eazplained, the Department thought they
could defy Truman's wishes, because he was-unlikely to remzin in
power much longer. Truman, however, did not face an election until
November, and was quite prepared to assert his authority before then.
He replaced Hendersom, who had been in charge of Palestine affairs
in the State Department, with Hilldring, formerly alternate delegate
to the U.N. and a supporter of Zionism. The appointment may have
been Zionist inspired, and Hilldring may have been reluctant to accept
it but was persuaded by Weizmann.(l) In the end, Truman recognised
Israel without first informing the State Department, so that when
news reached the U.N., Jessup had to telephone the White House for
confirmation. At least one member of the U.S.A. delegation felt

deeply humiliated.(2)

1.Vera Weizmann p.230

2.Granados p.290 writes that a member of the delegation, a few minutes
after Jessup read a statement confirming that America recognised
Israel, declared, "That is White House language, not State Department."
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The British attitude was unchanged from the Second Regular
Session. Britain concentrated on getting out her troops. Areas
where either Arabs or Jews were in a considerable majority were
simply abandoned to them, beginning with Tel Aviv to the Jews and
Jaffa to the Arabs, on December 15, 1947. Violence between Jews
and Arabs steadily increased as reprisal was followed by counter-
reprisal. British policy was justified by the Minister of State
for Colonial Affairs, who stated, on January 20, 1948, that troops
were better employed in mixed areas and Jerusalem, to preserve order
there. Britain.persisted in refusing to implement the partition
resolution in any way. She refused to permit unlimigted Jewish
jmmigration, and refused entry to the Palestine Commission until
a fortnight before the Mandate ended. The result was the Commission
never even arrived in Palestine. The British justification was that
the Commission would be liable to attack by the Arabs, and would
receiw no co-operation from Arab civil servants, whose co-operation
was necessary for the success of the U.N. plan. Britain began to
disengage completely from Palestine. On February 22, 1948, Palestine’s
sterling balance (about £100 million) was blocked and Palestine was
excluded from the sterling area. The only British initiative in the
U.N. was her proposal of May 3, 1948, for a neutral authority to
take over Palestine when Britain left. Although often accused of
some plan of Machiavellian cunning associated with this proposal
designed to frustrate the Jewish state and ensure the continuation
of British presence in Palestine, it seems more likely the proposal

was only intended to facilitate a more peaceful British withdrawal.

The Jews were constantly afraid, before and during the Second
Special Session, that the partion plan might be revoked. In EZban's
opinion, "No American President would recognise a Jewish Btate after
the United Nations had voted to place its territory under trusteeship.”
He considered the adoption of trusteeship a real possibility, "in the
absence of an alternative solution." A still greater danger, he
considered, was the possibility that some of the Jewish leaders would

be frightened by the Second Special Session into postponing the
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declaration of a state. Veizmann, holding similar opinions,
thought the declaration of the state, on May 14, to be ™ow or

never."(1)

The only reél support for trusteeship, therefore, came from
the Arab states, but only because it was a step away from partition
towards their ideal of a unitary state, and the Arab states were
certainly not prepared to give up pressure outside the U.N. against
partition, during the Second Special Session, Following.their declared
intention of resisting the partition of Palestine by forde, the
Arab League, on January 15, 1948, announced that it was going to give
all possible help to the Arabs in Palestine, and Arab armies were
preparing to occupy Palestine as soon as Britain left. By January 23,
Fawzi el-Kawukji, who had previously led Arab irregular forces in the
Arab Revolt of 1936-9, had entered Palestine from Syria, to organise
the Arabs against the Jews. Following further discussions in February,
it was decided, if the U.N. set up an international police force to
implement partition, then the League would unite its armies into
an Arab People's Army," to liberate Palestine. By April 1948, only
the fact that Britain had, on January 23, warned Transjordan that an
invasion of Palestine before the end of the Mandate would result in
a refusal of Britain's annual subsidy to Jordan's Arab Legion, had
prevented an invasion by Abdullah. This held back the Arab's best
prepared force until May 14, Britain also warned the other Arabs'
armies to stay out of Palestine, therefore, no invasion took place
by regular forces before May i4., It was, therefore, very much in
the Arabs! interest to support the trusteeship proposal. The Americzn
working paper would, if implemented, have prevented partition, and
have removed the necessity for war. If accepted, but, like the
November 29, 1947, resolution, without effective implementation, then,
at least, it would destroy the title deeds of a Jewish state. The
Arabs could then reprent their invasion as a police action to restore

order, instead of it being represented as aggression against a

1.Vera Weizmann p.231
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sovereign state. At the very least, consideration of the trusteeship
proposal would call into question the partition proposal, and, in
these circumstances, chance events were more likely to favour the
Arabs than the Jews. The AraBs, Therefore, welcomed the trusteeship

proposal from the moment it was announced in the Secirity Council,
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ii)The Work of the Second Special Session.

The Second Special Session opened on Fridey, April 16, 1948,
at 11 a.m., with meeting No.129 of the General Assembly. Unlike the
First Special Session, no country tried to prolong the initial
procedings., Argentina was elected Chairman, in the morning session.
In the afternoon the General Committee was chosen, which met that
evening, to decide, with no real oppcsition; to recommend to the
" General Assembly, that the Security Council'’s request "to consider
further the question of the future government of Palestine,™ be placed
on the agenda of the First Committee. The General Assembly, at its
next meeting, on Monday, April 19, 1948, approved the General
Committee's recommendation by 44 votes to O with 10 abstentions.

Debate in the First Committee began on April 20. Most delegates
simply restated the positions they had adopted during the Second
Regular Session. America, therefore, proceded cautiously. Instead
of presenting trusteeship as a formal proposal, the U.S.A. asked for
the discussion of a working paper. This avoided the necessity of
asking immediatley for the partition resolution to be revoked, and
allowed time, before a vote was likely to put pressure on other
couatries. The working paper indicates that, even at this time, the
State Department was still relying on being able to persuade Britain
to stay in Palestine for a considerable period to administer trusteeship.
Although emphasising that trusteeship was to be temporary, the plan
provided that trusteeship would end when Arabs and Jews had agreed on
Palestine®s future government. Any possibility of agreement between
Arabs and Jews,had, By April 20, 1948, receded into the very distant
future. Trusteeship was to be "without prejudice to the rights,
claims, or positions of the parties concerned, or to the character
of the eventual political settlement."™ However, the integrity of
Palestine was to be maintained, which certainly prejudiced Jewish
claims to partition., Further restriction of Jewish ambitions was
implied by immigration being regulated by the Governor-General, "in
accordance with the absorptive capacity of Palestine."™ Provided
America persuaded the Trusteeship Council to appoint a Governor-
General who was not cohmitted to Zionism, immigration would probably
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have been just enough to remove the displaced persons problem, and
therefore aestroy the Agency's greatest propaganda asset, but would
have been nothing like enough to give the Jews a majority in Palestine.
The working papef also specified that the Governor#General was to

be supported by a judiciary chosen by the Trusteeship Council. The
people were to be represented by two houses, one chosen on 2
geographical basis, and one by the two communities separately. No
country, however, was named as the trustee, who was to provide the

force need to make the scheme work.(1)

In Committee, America was immediately opposed by Australia and
New Zealand, who declared that the U.li, should stick to its decisions.
Russia tried, unsuccessfully, to ruin iAmerica's plans at an eérly stage,
by asking that a decision be taken at once on trusteeship for Palestine,
in principle. This move was defeated, but most U..d. members seem to
have been at a loss about what to do, having been first subjected
to American pressure to vote for partition, and now faced the propospect
of egual American pressure to vote against. Their reaction was to
avoid committing themselves to anything. Granados wrote, "in the
last days of April and the first days of May, 1948, a strange lethargy
overtook the United Nations...;repetitious speeches....an interminable
orator would unfold a voluminous stack of notes.....the same arguments

we had heard over and over for an entire year."(2)

On April 26, three days after the Truce Commission had been
establiéhed, the Committee interrupted debate on the working paper,
to approve a French proposal to as the Trusteeship Council to do
something about the fighting in Jerusalem, which the Truce Commission
seemed unable to prevent.(3) when debate reopened, Granados (Guatemala),

who was working closely with Fabgegat (Uruguay) and the Jewish Agency,

1.4/C.1/277
2.Granados pp.278 and 280
3.4/P.V.132
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introduced a delaying tactic. He proposed a subcommittee to examine
whether trusteeship was actually desired or practical in Palestine.
Granados considered such a subcommittee would spend several days
hearing witnesses, several more in discussion and preparation of a
report, and, with luck, business would drag on until after the Jews
had declared their state. This delay was considered vital by the
Jewish Agency, because public opinion, throughout the World, would
approve a Jewish state set up in accordance with a U.N. resolution,
but would definitely oppose it, if established contrary to the U.N.(1)
Granados was immediately successful in delaying procedings, for two

days, April 27-8, 1948, were spent discussing his proposal,

On April 29, the Committee again began to consider the working
paper, item by item. On May 3, Creech-dJones (U.X.) reminded the
Committee that time was running short, and urged that a neutral
authority be appointed quickly to take o;er from Britain, to hold assets,
further mediation, and work towards a solution. On iy 4, the Committee
returned to Granados' proposal for a subcommittee, However, Granados'
original proposal had been much modified by amendments urged on
Granados privately by America, The subcommittee's task had become
to work out a plan for a provisional government of Palestine.

Granados had only accepted these amendments because he realised that,
without U.S.A. support, his subcommittee would not be set up, but

with American support it certainly would be, and he considered any
subcommittee would be useful in prolonging the work of the Session.

The American motive in supporting this amended subcommittee is obscure.
State Department officials may have felt that there was a real
possibility of Granados' original proposal being accepted against
American pressure, and this might have produced a recommendation
against trusteeship. Perhaps, in working with Granados, they hoped

to convince their new chief, Hilldring, that they were now trying to

follow the President's wishes. ihatever the Department's motives,

1.Weizmann pp.581-2, Granados pp.280-1
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Granados had judged the situation better. The subcommittee contained
so many shades of opinion that it proved impossible for it to carry
out its allotted task.(1) It began work on May 5, and decided to ask
the Rapporteur (Norway) to draft a working paper. This was considered
by the subcommittee on Monday, MaylO, but Moe (Norway) declared that
the paper did not necessarily represent the official view of the

~ Norwegian Government. Russia, therefore, objected to the working
paper because it did not represent an official Norwegian proposal,

and also because Russia considered Moe had gone beyond his instructions.
Finally, the subcommittee could only agree to discuss the paper
informally. The only result of the informal discussions was to take

a formal decision to ask the Arab Higher Committee and the Jewish
Agency their opinions of the working paper. They rejected it

completely. By then, it was May 12,

Meanwhile, the Trusteeship Council had been debating the
First Committee's request of April 26 regarding Jerusalem. The
Council, on Ma& 5, recommended to the General Assembly, that the
Mandatory Government appoiht a special municipal commissioner,
who should be neutral, acceptable to both Arabs and Jews. The
Council emphasised that this alohe would not bring violence to an end, (2)
therefore, on May 11, the General Assembly set up a subcommittee(3)
to consider further the protection of Jerusalem. Britain appointed
Evans (U.S.4.) as Municipal Commissioner, following agreement between
Arabs and Jews. The Trusteeship Council's work was, however,

completely overtaken by events,

The consistent lack of success with its trusteeship proposal
seems, by May 12, 1948, to have forced the State Department to realise

that trusteeship was, almost certainly, going to fail. Therefore,

1.This was Subcommittee 9 (China, Poland, Norway, Argentina, Belgium,
Canada, Cuba, Guatemala, France, India, Russia, America) Its
report is A/C.1/299

2.4/544

3.Subcommittee 10
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America persuaded Subcommittee 9 to recommend that a U.N.
commissioner be appointed for all Palestine, to act as mediator.

A French proposal far a commission rather than a mediator was
rejected. The Subcommittee's recomrendation was discussed by the
First Committee on May 13 and 14, The title "commissioner™

was amended to "Mediator" because some delegates objected to the
similarity between "Commissioner" and the Mandatory Government's
"High Commissioner." The General Assembly met at 5 p.m. to consider
the First Committee's report, on May 14. The proposal for a
Mediator was approved, but the whole resolution on the Mediator$
terms of reference was still being voted, paragraph by paragraph,
when news arrived of the declaration of the State of Israel and

its recognition by America. The American deleggtion were in confusion,

and had to confess ignorance of the recognition for some minutes.

The net result of the Second Special Session, therefore was
the appointment of a Mediator.(1) As Granados points out, the
Mediator's duties duplicated those of the Truce Commission,
and, in fact, the Mediator could just as well have been appointed
by the Security Council, like the Truce Commission, without all

* the trouble and expense of a Second Special Session.(2)

1.4/555
2.Granados p.286
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CHAPTER SIX
THE UNITED NATIONS AND PALESTINE FROM THE DECLARATION OF THE STATE
OF ISRAEL TO THE ADMISSION OF ISRAEL TO THE UNITED NATIONS

i)British and American Policies, and the Russian Attitude.
Once the State of Israel had been declared and recognised by

both America and Russia, the Jews ceased to have a special need for

the U.N., therefore the existence of the U.N. did not have a special
effect upon the situation, However, U.N. influence did not disappear
completely, for the Great Powers found the Security Council a convenient
means of expressing their wishes, and the existence of the U.N.
facilitated the setting up of neutral bodies to supervise truces and

arrange armistices,

The effectiveness of the Security Council was small because
of the difficulty of agreeing on solutions, or, if solutions were
agreed, on the meand of enforcement. The three powers most concerned
were all prepared to accept a Jewish state, but had different
approaches to Palestine. Russia'a main aim was, as usual, the
elimination of Western influence in the Middle East. The withdrawal
of Britain was a great success. To establish a strong Israel, detested
by the Arabs would be to introduce a discordant element into the area,
which might be exploited to Russian advantage in the future. It is
possible the Russians even hoped the new state would become their client.
However, in any case, Russia had nothing to lose and the chance of
gaining a great deal by supporting Israel. They, therefore called
for support for Israel, in the Security Council, and ignored Arab
protests. By the end of May, 1948, Britain and America seem to have
developed similar views. DBoth saw the best way of dealing with the
situation in handing over Arab Palestine to Abdullah. In this case,
Britain seems to have persuaded America to accept British ideas. The
main difference between Britain and America was the amount of support
each was prepared to give to Israel. America seems to have considered
' Iérael much weaker in relation to the Arabs than she really was and
wanted an Israel much larger than Britain would have liked. Also,

U.S+A. Palestine policy was dominated by the forthcomihg Presidential
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election, in November, 1948, in which the Jewish vote was of far
more immediate concern than the niceties of politics, far away

in the Middle East. Britain, however, took the Middle East situation
very seriously, probably made a much more accurate assessment of the
forces involved than America, and made more constructive proposals
during this period. In the Security Council, therefore, Ameria and
Britain both supported truces, although America supported truce

terms more favourable to Israel than did Britain. Both seem to have
hoped that the truces could be prolonged into armistices, and the
armistice lines become the basis of a new partition. This, finally,
did happen, although it was never formally accepted by the Arabs.
However, a truce could not be imposed without American pressure,

and, while America was willing to put pressure on the Arabs for

a cease-fire, during early Arab successes, America was not willing

to put pressure on Israel, during the rest of 1948, while the Israelis
were winning, until after the November election had seen the Jewish
vote safely gathered in. In Becember, therefore, American pressure
was applied firmly, for the first time, to Israel, and major fighting
quickly came to an end by January, 1949.

Following the cease-fires, the way was open for armistices.
Since the Arab states refused to recognise Israel, the U.N. was a
convenient mediator. The last armistice was signed with Syria, on

July 20, 1949, after Israel had becom a U.N. member on May 11,
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ii)The United Nations and Palestine from the Declaration of the
State of Israel, May 14, 1948, to the First Truce, Juhe 11, 1948.

In the war which, until May.14, had been réstrainedlby British
forces, the Arabs, at first, had some successes, pérticulérly in
Jerusalem and the Arab area according to the U.N. partition plan.

This was not due to any respect for the U.N., but simply because of
the trivial Jewish population in the areas allocated to the Arabs,
Isolated settlements like Kfar Etsion, 12 miles south west of Jerusalems
were easily overwhelmed. Arab attacks on the. Jewish areas were less
successful. The Egyptians iaunqhbddtwo attacks, one advanced through
the S.W. Arab area and attacked the central Jewish area, only being
halted by the Jews 20 mile south of Tel Aviv. The other crossed the
Negev, which was bj the U.N. Jewish, but was not defended by the Jews
because of the almost total absence of Jewish population, re-entered
the Arab area at Beersheba, and advanced to the outskirts of Jerusalem.
The Arab Legion of Jordan went to the help of the Arabs in Jerusalem,
who were in danger of being driven completely out of the city, isolated
the Jews in Jerusalem by occupying the police post at Latrun, which
dominated the road from Jerusalem to the coast, and took control of
the 0ld City. Palestinian forces siezed control of Palestine's most

" important airport at Lydda, 12 mile from Tel Aviv, but just within

the U.N. Arab area, Iraq.forces occupied Tul Karm on the edge of

the central Arab area, but only 10 mile, through the Jewish area,

to the sea. Lebanese forces, however, although obviously best placed
to defend western Galilee, were ingleffective, and remained so for the
entire war. Saudi Arabia and the Yemen supplied negligible forces.

By the First Truce, June 11-July 7, 1948, the Arab attacks had lost
momentum, due to-bad staff work and their refusal to co-operate with

each other, and the Jews were preparing a counter-attack.

On May 17, Austin (U.S.A.) introduced in the Security Council,
a resolution (1) and a questionnaire, which suggested he was now
firmly under Truman's control and working to support Israel. The
questionnaire demanded detailed information from the Arab states, the

Arab Higher Committee, and the Provisional Government of Israel, of
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their forces operating in Palestine. The object of the questionaire
appears to have been to provide evidence of Arab aggression to justify
further American proposals for action to expel the Arab armies from
Palestine, for later the American view was expressed that the Arab
states were acting contrary to international law, and that action

should be taken, particularly against Jordan, who had the most

successful Arab army. The resolution was to declare the situation in Palestine

a threat to peace within the meaning of Article 39 of the U.N.
Charter, to order all parties to issue cease-fire instructions, and

to muest the Truce Commission to report violations. Probably the
mention of Article 39 was intended as an extreme measure, to

frighten the Arabs, because America thought a quick cease-fire was
necessary to save the Jews. If the Americans wanted a speedy
solution, then they had miscalculated. Discussion of Article 39
delayed procedings. America was only supported by France, Russia,

and Colombia. Belgium and Canada pointed out that no U.N. forces
were available, and that to invoke Article 39 without proper provision
for enforcement would bring the U.N. into contempt. Britain,
probably embarrassed at the thought of having U.N. forces mixed

with her own, suggested that Article 39 was inappropriate as no threat
to peace existed. The British attitude was also acceptable to the
Arabs, who regarded the whole affair as a police action in aid of

the Palestinians, and not a war.

On May 18, 1948, a much amended questionnaire was approved by
the Council. The Arab states were still asked for detailed information
of the activities of their forces operating in Palestine, but a
distinction was drawn between areas of Jewish and Arab majority.

They were asked to justify their presence in both these areas, and

to give any evidence they had of Jewish incursions into areas allocated
by the U.N. to the Arabs. The Arab Higher Committee was invited to
declare its exact status, and to say whether it, or the Arabs of
Palestine, had requested foreign assistance, and again to report

on Jewish invasions of U.N. allocated Arab terribory. The Jews were
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asked what aireas they actually controlled, whether they had forces
outside that territory, and whether the Arabs had forces within the
territory they claimed to control. Finally, would they accept a truce
in Jerusalem3(l) The Arabs replied that the Arab states had been
jnvited into Palestine to subdue a rebellious minority, and the Jews
replied that they were in posseséion'of a substantial part of the

proposed Jewish state, and would accept a truce in Jerusalem.

Under these circumstances, therefore, the Council voted on the
American proposal on May 22, 1948. A British attempt, probably
aimed at gaining Arab favour, to declare the status of Palestine still
in need of clarification, was defefited (France, Russia, and America
abstained) The American proposal to declare the situation a threat
to peace within the meaning of Article 39 was also defeated (France
and Russia voted in favour). The result was another call for a
truce, again without proper probvision for enforcement.(2) The
Arab states accepted the truce on condition that the Jews ceased
immigration, and, since this was totally unacceptable to the Jews,
fighting continued. On May 24, therefore, the Russians raised the
question of applying Article 39, but when it was voted, on May 29,
it was rejected again.(3) On the same day, however, an amended
British proposal was accepted. (4) The original proposal had been
for a truce of 4 weeks, during which no fighting men, men of military
age, or war materials should be brought into Palestine. The
amendments, proposed by America, extended the ban to all the Arab
states, but allowed the entry of civilians, provided they were not
trained after entry. Although Britain had not proposed an arms embargo,
Cadogan (U.K.) had declared in the Security Council, that Britain
would respect a U.N. arms embargo, if it were imposed on the Arab

states. Under pressure from Britain, and afraid of losing their arms

1.58/735
2.8/773
3.5/P.V.310
4,8/P.V.311
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supplies from Britain permanently, the Arab states agreed to the truce,
while the Jews, facing a critical situation in Jerusalem, also agreed. (1)
Probably a truce would have been welcome, in any case to the Jews.

Their forces could be trained, organisation developed, and truce
regulations evaded, so that they would be stronger in relation to

the Arabs when the truce ended.

1.Levin pp.243-4
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iii)The First Truce, June 11 to July 7, 1948

During the truce, the Arab states' main suppliers of arms, in
the West, ceased to send them weapons, but Russia did not respect the
Security Council resolution, and allowed supplies to Israel from
her clieﬂfstate, Czechoslovakia, Arms from this source arrived in
increasing quantities in Israel throughout the war. The Jews aléo
succeeded in smuggling aircraft out of Europe and America, obtained
appreciable quantities, including two tanks, by corrupting Britisﬁ
officers, then in the last stages of withdrawal, and intercepted at
least one consignment due to be delivered to the Arabs. Also,

Jewish production of small arms continued in Palestine. The result

was, by the end of the first truce, Israel was much better equipped than on May
14, 1948, The Arabs failed to use the truce to re-equip, as far

as possible, reorganise, and plan future strategy. Instead, the

truce revealled the Arab governments either could not or would

not co-operate. They could not, very largely, because public

opinion, inflamed by Government propaganda predicting an early

victory over Israel, demanded a renewal of the war. This was
particularly so in Egypt, Iraq, and 8yria. This reduced their room

for manoeuvre. They would not co-operate because Abdullah had made

it clear he intended to annex eastern Palestine and recognise the
existence of Israel, while other Arab states opposed this. The

conflict between Abdullah and the the other Arab states had a particularly
bad effect in that Bgyptian forces in the south, which were not

allowed to co-operate with the Arab Legion, in the centre, were

sepafated by the Legion from the other Arab forces in the north

east and north.

In Palestine, Count Folke Bernadotte of Sweden, former head
of the Red Cross, who had been appointed Mediator by the Security
Council, built up a team of observers from Swedish officers he had
brought with him and a contingent from the Truce Commission
countries., Of these, America was very slow at providing its quota.
It has been suggested that this was due to fear of casualties which

would have led to a demand, in America, for direct intervention.
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It would have been particularly embarrassing if the casualties had
been caused by Jews, as an anti-Zionist feeling might have arisen

in America which would make it difficult to please Jewish voters
without losing votes elsewhere. It was also going to be difficult
for the Mmerican Govemmment to ignore reports of Israeli violations

of the truce, if the reports were written by Americans. The observers
were, of course, helpless to stop Czechoslovakian arms being unloaded
in the ddcks, before their eyes. Similarly, Irgun amms, siezed by

the Haganah, were not handed over to the U.N,

Since the U.N., Mediator had not been explicitly bound to
follow the November 29 partition plan, Bernadotte considered himself
free to make other suggestions. Following consultatiéns with both
Arabs and Jews, he announced a series of proposals on June 27, 1948.(1)
He presented these, in person, to the Security Council, on July 3.
He emphasised that he did not consider himself appointed to decide
Paleétine's future, but was only trying to make practical suggestions
to solve a difficult problem. The Jewish state, he considered, was
an established fact; and capable of looking after itself, but the
rest of Palestine would be betéer united with Transjordan., Since the
Jews were firmly established in two of the areas allocated to them
(the central coastal and eastern Galilee) and were in a strong position
to attack western Galilee, he suggested regularising the situation
by an exchange of Arab territory. Jews should have western Galilee,
and Arabs the Negev. This would give Israel a compact, defensible,
area, which they already occupied, and would do a minimum of injustice,
since the vast majority of Jews in Palestine lived in those areas.
Jerusalem, he consideredy could only be given to the Arabs, because of
its isolation in Arab territory. He also suggested that the new Arab
and Jewish states should form a union for economic purposes. Although
Bernadotte does not admit to British and American influence in his

recommendations, his ideas were certainly welcome to them. Probably it

1.5/863
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was because Bernadotte's solution actually seemed viable, and Britain
and America, by this time, would have been happy to see any solution
which brought peace in Palestine. Bernadotte's solution, in fact,
must have been particularly welcome to Britain, as it was similar

to British thinking on the subject since the Peel Commission.

The First Truce failed because Arab states, particularly
Egypt and Syria, and Iraq, were forced by the public opinion they
had themselves created, to continue the war, and also because a truce
at this time left Abdullah in too dominant a position for the other
Arab states. Bernadotte's proposal for an enlarged Transjordan were
particularly unwelcome. During the last week of June, Abdullah
explained, in person, his plans to King Farouk of Egypt, King Saud
of Saidi Arabia, and the Mufti, but failed to win them over.
In fact, the Arab League, on July 9, 1948, announce the formation
of an administrative council for Palestine, which was dominated by the
Mufti's supporters., Since a solution had not beed reached as the end
of the truce approachéd, Bernadotte appealed to Arabs and Jeus to
continue the trucey, on July 3 and 5, and, on July 6, requested the
Security Council to take further action. The Council approved a British
resolution, on this subject, on July 7, and Britain put pressure on the
Arab states to continue the truce. Abdullah was, of course, happy
to agree, since, if the Jewish state was restricted to the territory
it held on June 11, and the rest of Palestine had gone to Abdullah,
he would have made a very considerable gain. Britain probably got
Saudi Arabia, Irag, and the Lebanon to agree also, but war was forced
on the others by Syria and Egypt, for it was impossible for one
Arab country to stand aside while another engaged the enemy. Israel,
at this point, was also ready to continue the truce. Considering
Israeli gains after this truce, Egypt and Syria's attack was a very
great mistake. The end of the truce must also have been a disappointment

to Bevin, for, at that point, he believed, "the Palestine question

is settling itself."(1)

1.Nicholson p.145 (conversation with Bevin, June 17, 1948)
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iv)The Ten Days Campaign, July 8 to 18, 1948

Although Israel had been prepared to continue the First Truce,
when Egypt and Syria reopened hostilities, the Israelis were prepared
to counter-attack. Egypt had no success in the south. On the
norther front, Israel occupied almost all the remainder of western
Galilee. In the east, Transjordan, now very short of ammunition,
because of the arms embargo and the siezure of some of her supplies
by Egyptians, withdrew from exposed positions at Lydda and Ramla, and

concentrated their forces in Jerusalem.

Bernadotte, on July 9, appealed to both sides for a cease-fire,
and presented a report to the Security Council. America intréduced
a resolution on July 13, again to declare the situation a threat to
peace under Article 39 of the U.N. Charter. This time, only Argentina
and China abstained, and only Syria vote against. The resolution, (1)
therefore, was accepted. It called for a permanent truce, was approved
by the Council on July 15, accepted by Jews and Arabs, and came into
operation on July 18. The acceptance of the truce illustrated that,
when the Security Council worked together, as it did on this
occasion, states were reluctant to go against it. Of course, with
Russia voting for the truce, the Israelis could not be sure of Russian
intentions, and Russian approval was needed for the arms from
Czechoslovakia., Also, the Israelis were not quite ready to take over
further large areas of Palestine, apart from western Galilee. The
Arabsstates were ready to accept a truce when Jewish resistance
to their attacks and Jewish gains forced them to realise they had

not at that time, the strength necessary to eliminate Israel.

1.5/P.V.338
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v)The Second Truce and the Fhird:RegularrS&ssidny
The Second Truce lasted officially from July 18, 1948, to
the signing of armistices by each Arab state in 1949. However,
the truce was broken by a series of Israeli attacks, which by the
end of 1948, had vastly increased their territory. During the
Second Truce, U.N. activity continued in the Security Council,
but Palestine also appeared on the agenda of the Third Regular Session,

but with even less effect than during the Second Special Session.

Following the establishment of the Second Truce, Syria tried to
get Security Council approval for a request to the International
Court for an opinion on the status of Palestine arising out of the
end of the Mandate.(1) It faiked, due to the opposition of Russia
and America, although supported by 6 votes, including Britain.
On August 2, 13, 18,,and 19, the Council discussed the Palestine
situation, in light of a series of reports from Bernadotte that the
truce was increasingly being violated, Britain introduced a resolution
supporting Bernadotte's demand that five British subjects, thapped
from a U,N. building in Jerusalem by the Irgun, should be returned.(2)
Britain also raised the question of the future of Arab refugees from
Israel, whose numbers were estimated at 250,000 to 500,000, Israel
protested at the destruction of a pumping station at Latrun, by Arab
irregulars, which cut of Jewish water supplies in Jerusalem. The
Arabs had already refused to operate the station during the truce,
despite Bernadotte's pleas. Russia and Israel complaifed that Britain
had not released Jewish refugees from Cyprus. Britain replied that
they would contribute to .Jewish fighting strength, thus making it
clear Britain did not consider that the provision in the truce that

immigrants were not to be trained was enforceable. On August 18,

the Council received a report from Bernadotte, declaring that both sides

were beginning "deliberately to ignore"the truce , and he requested

the Council to issue a warning.(3)

1.5/P.V.340
2,5/898 and S/905
3.5/977
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fhe Council granted Bernadotte's request with a joint
resolution of America, Britain, Frénce, and Canada. The first
two paragraphs declared that each side was responsible for its
irregular forces and had a duty to pbevent truce violations, and were
supported by Russia.(l) However, on September 17, 1948, Bernadotte
was assassinated by members of the Stern Gang, probably because both
Stern Gang and Irgun particularly resented his suggestion that
Jerusalem be handed over to the Arabs. The Secretary-General (Lie)
appointed Ralph Bunche as Acting flediator in his place, and the
appointment was confirmed by the Security Council. Bunche continued
Bernadotte's work without a break. He reported that the Jewish
authorities were negligent, and had to assume full responsibility for
the murder. On truce observance, he confirmed Bernadotte's earlier
reports. Observers were being refused access to some ports and
strategic areas, movement of U.N. personnel was being deliberately
hindered, there was a reluctance to allow observers to investigate
violations of the truce until too long after the event to obtain
accurate information, and agreements reabhed between the Commission
and the authorities were not being observed by commanders in the
field. Finally, neither side was willing to give any special
protection to U.N. staff. ‘The Truce Commission supported Bunche in
a separate report, declaring that there had been a propaganda campaign
against Bunche and the Commission in Jerusalem, directed by the Jewish
military governor. Bunche, therefore, asked for a Council resolution
defining the rights and duties of all parties, to enable the U.N.
authorities in Palestine to work effectively. Britain and China
proposed a resolution embodying Bunche's requests. Britain urged that
there was "a threat to the foundation of the truce and to the
authority of the Security Council." Howevery debate was interrupted

by news of an Israeli offensive in southern Palestine,

At the beginning of the Second Truce, on July 18, Egypt still
held the main road between El Majdal and El Faluja, cutting off the

1.5/983
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Israeli settlements in the Negev, which Israel began to supply by

air. On September 14, Bernadotte approved a scheme by which Israel could have
used the road at certain times, under U.N. supervision, while

air supplies were to be restricted to more remote settlements,

again under U.N. supervision. Lack of co-operation by both sides
prevented the plan from coming into effect. Then, on October 15,
thelsraelis launched an attack on the road, occupied a large area

of the Negev, including Beersheba, and isolated a large Egyptian

force at El Faluja. The Israeli success was partly due to the lack

of co-operation between Egypt and Transjordan. Abdullah would not
risk his forces to help Farouk. Despite this flagrant violation of
the truce, it appeared, for a time, that the Security Council would
not so much as pass a resolution. Then Syria proposed that that

the Council adopt a series of recommendations that had been made by
Bunche in an oral report. Bunche had declared that both parties
should withdraw to positicns held before the outbreak, they should
accept U.N. proposal for administering the truce, and should negotiate
with each other, either directly or via the U.N., over Truce
arrangements in the Negev. This resolution was accepted by Israel,
subject to each part being open to separate negotiation, which gave
Israel the the opportunity to stand firm on any gains, and was
approved by the Council. Israeli attacks, however, continued until
October 25, and Israel then refused to give up any conquered territory.
Israel also violated the truce by attacking Fawz al-Kawukji on

Cctober 22, who, probaoly because he had got himself into a dangerous
position, obeyed the U.N. call to give up gains he had made during

the Israeli offensive in the south, but, after his withdrawal, was
attacked by Israel, and driven into the Lebanon, where, by October 31,

Israel had occupied 15 villages in the south-east,.

While trouble continued in Palestine, despite the Security
Council, the Third Regular Session met in Paris. Unlike the previous
three sessions, Palestine was not the most important item on the agenda.
Iﬂstead, it had to compete with 72 other items, particularly the
control of atomic energy, the reports of the U.N. Special Commission

on the Balkans, and the report of the Temporary Commission on Korea.
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So great was the work load that, on November 15, 1948, an ad hoc
committee was established to share work with the First Committee.
Even this did not enable the U.N. to complete its business, therefore
it was decided to hold a second part of the Third Regular Session

in April, 1949, which lasted Appil 5 to May 18.

On Palestine, the main item on the agenda was the Mediator,
Bernadotteds, progress report,(l1) and the Acting Mediator, Bunche's,
special report, which was presented later in the session.(2) In his
report, Bernadotte further developed his ideas. He considered it
essential to restore peace in Palestine, that there could be no
question of altering the status of Isradl as an independent country,
but its boundaries needed careful consideration. Boundaries had to
be fixed, either by agreement between Jews and Arabs, or if this
ﬁere not possible, by the U.N. In any case, boundaries should not
result in the fragmentation of Palestine. This meant that the '
boundaries prescribed by the November 29, 1947, partition resolution
were unsuitable. Refugees ahould be allowed to return home or
receive compensation, and Jerusalem needed special treatment,
International guarantees were required on boundaries and human
rights. Bernadotte suggested that the 1947 partition plan be altered
by the exchange of western Galilee for the Negev. Arab Palestine
should then be merged with Transjordan. Haifa should be a free port
and Lydda a free airport. Jerusalem should be international, as in
the partiticn plan. U.N. help should be given to the refugees, either
to return home or settle elswhere, and a conciliation committee should

be set up to supervise boundaries and report threats to peace.
Britain introduced a resolution supporting the transfer of

the Negev to the Arabs, western Galilee to Israel, and Arab Palestin
to Transjordan.(3) MacNeil (U.K.) asserted that the failure of Jews
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and Arabs to agree made the 1947 plan for partition with economic
union impracticai, and therefore it was essential to produce two
states which could exist imdependently. This required boundary
adjustment. Britain rejected completely the Israeli claim that

she should retain western Galilke by right of conquest but have

the Negev given to her in accordance with the 1947 U.N. rssolution.
America, howéver, did not endorse the Mediator's report, but
emphasised that territory awarded to Israel in 1947 should not be
$aken away without her consent(l)This made it obvious America supported
Israel's position that what she had conquered, but which had not
been awarded to her by the U.N. she could keep, but that which the
the Arabs had conquered, which had been awarded to Israel, should be
handed over to Israel. Soviet proposal were uncoﬁstructive, but
indicated support for Israel, e.g. Poland emphasised Israel's right
to existence, but wanted the Mediator's conciliation committee to
attempt to enforce the original ﬁartition resolution.(2) Russia

- called for the withdrawal of foreign troops from Palestine.(3)
Australia supported the Polish proposal.(4) Russia considered

the Mediator's plan caleulate& to increase British and American
power in the Middle East. Probably, Russia considered that the plan
might result in a settlement, and any settlement was bound to reduce
British and American unpopularity in the area, In opposition to

all this, Syria proposed a plan for a federal state in Palestine. (5)

The final product of the debate was based on a British proposal,
none of the other having survived. However, the British proposal was
diluted by the deletion of references to Bernadotte's suggestions on
boundaries, leaving little more than a proposal for a conciliation
committee and aid for refugees.(6) This was approved on December 4,
1948, Following detailed amendments in the General Assembly, designed
to remove phrases offensive to various delegations, a resolution

was approved on December 11, 1948.(7)

1.4/C.1/397 Rev.1

2.4/C.1/400

3.4/C.1/396 and A/C. 1/396 Add.1
4,4/C.1/SR.206

5.4/Ce 1/402

6.4/776
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The main provisions of the resolution were the establishment
of a Palestine Conciliation Committee, which was to take over the
duties of the Acting Mediator, and was to start work immediately,
refugees wishing to return home were to be allowed to do so, those
who ‘did not were to reeeive compensation, and the Commission was
to aid them in both cased. The Commission was to consistsof America,
France, and Turkey. Russia attempted to weaken the Commission and
exclude America, by proposing a commission of small powers,

including Poland, but this was rejected.(l)

On October 20, 1948, the Social Committee heard Ralph Bunche
explain the Palestine refugee situation. In debste, many members
expressed the opinion that the refugees were the result of the U.N.
partition resolution, and therefore U.N. members had a responsibility
to provide aid. The result was a recommendation, approved by the
General Assembly, to provide 29,500,000 dollars aid to refugees,
in the next 9 months.

During the Third Regular Session, the rift between Transjordan
and the other Arab states, particularly Egypt, continued to widen. -
On September 20, 1948, the Arab League announced an Arab government
for all Palestine, based on the administrative council established
on July 9. Abdullah immediately rejected it, and it never exerted
any authority outside Egyptian controlled southern Palestine.
Abdullah followed his rejection of the Arab League's government by
encouraging a national Palestine congress. A meefing of 5,000
"otables" at Amman, on October 1, called on Abdullah to take Palestine
under his protection, and, on November 28, a meeting at Jericho
proclaimed him King of all Palestine. This was accepted officially
by Abdullah, on December 7, 1948. The Israelis, therefore, could
rely on Jordan not going to the aid of either the Arab armies
in the north or the south, unless it was particularly to Abdullah's

advantage. On December 22, Israel again attacked Egypt, pimning down

1,4/P.V.186
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the main body of Egyptian troops in the Gaza area, while further
inland an Israeli attack from the Beersheba area drove the Egyptians

out of Palestine, and Israeli troops invaded Egypt.

In the Security Council, a British resolution calling for an
immediate cease-fire, was approved on December 29, but was ignored.
Britain, therefore, on December 31, declared that she would intervene
against the Israeli forces in Egypt if they were not withdrawn,
America, now that the Presidential election was over, was prepared
to act nore firmly towards Israel, threatened that if Israel troops
were not with drawn, American policy towards Israel might have to
be reviewed. Israel, therefore, withdrew, claiming to have no forces
within Egypt after January 2, although, probably, some small Israeli
forces remained until about January 7, 1949. The tension between
Britain and Israel was made worse by the shooting down of several
British aircraft on reconnaisance, by Israel. British support, and
the reduction in the American commitment to Israel should have been
to Egypt's advantage, but was not exploited because, on December 28,
1948, the Egyptian Prime Minister was murdered during disorders
resulting from discontent at Egypt's failure in the war. The
new Prime Minister informed the Acting Mediator that he was willing
to negotiate an armistice after a cease-fire. Fighting ended,

therefore, in the south, on January 7.

On January 12, 1949, delegations from Israel and Egypt arrived
at the Acting Mediator's headquarters at Rhodes, Sunche having been
invited by the Conciliation Committee to stay at his post. It was
agreed to prolong the cease-fire. On January 24, Israel agreed to
relief medical and food supplies being sent to the garrison at Faluja.
On January 30, Bunche invited the other Arab states to participéte
in the negotiations, and, on January 30, an armistice agreement was
signed between Israel and Egypt. This agreement allowed Egypt to
evacuate the Faluja garrison and retain a coastaﬁ,strip of Palestine,

25 miles long and 3% to 5% miles wide, including Gaza. Lebanon had

never taken much part in the fighting, and quickly followed Egypt's
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example. Israel withdrew from 4 of the villages occupied in

Lebanon, in October, 1948, and negotiations began on January 16,

1949, The signing of an armistice was, howeber, delayed until

Syria indicated willingness to negotiate, because the remaining
villages in Lebanon were regarded as essential defence against

Syria. The armistice with Lebanon was, therefore, delayed until

March 23, 1949, the demarcation line being agreed as the old border
between Lehanon and Maddatory Palestine. Negotiations between Israel
‘and Jordan began on March 2, 1949, Iraq refused to negotiate,

but agreed to accept terms agreed between Jordan and Israel. However,
negotiations were delayed because of a disput over the Negev. Israel
still claimed the area, and, on March 7, 1949, sent an invasion force towards
Aqaba. Since Irag had already begun to withdraw her forces from
central Palestine, Jordan forces were inadequate to oppose Israel,
therefore the Arab Legion withdrew from Palestinian territory into
Aqaba. Israeli troops reached the Gulf of Agaba on March 10, Bunche
arranged an end to the fighting on *arch 11, and, on March 13,

British forces in Agaba, under treaty with Transjordan, were increased
to brigade strength. This prevented any possibility of Israel
invading Jordan., In Central Palestine, however, Israel, at a secret
meefing with Abdullah, gave an ultimatum that Jordan should withdraw
several mile along the front previously held by Iraq, or war would
begin again., This was to relieve the constriction in Israel's centre.
Abdullah agreed, and an armistice was signed on April 3. Negotiations
with Syria were delayed by a coup d'etat in Syria, on March 30, 1949,
Negotiations began on April 12, and, after an agreement to demilitarise

lake Hula, an armistice was signed on July 20, 1949,
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vi)The Admission of Israel to the United Nations.

Israel's applisation for admission to the U.N. first came before
the Secutity Council on December 2, 1948. Britain proposed that
consideration of the application be postponed, because Israel had not
yet implemented Security Council resolutions on Palestine., However,
Britain was defeated, only being supported by Belgium, China, and
Syria. Then France proposed a postponement of one month. This was
rejected, only being supported by Britain, Belgium, China, Syria,
and Canada. Next, Syria proposed that the application should not
be considered until the whole Palestine Question had been examined by
the International Court. However, Syria was only supported by Belgium.
Israel's application was, therefore, considered by the Council, and
received strong support in debate from America and Russia, However,
when it was voted it received only the votes of Argentina, Colombia,
Ukraine, Russia, and Americaj Syria voted against; Belgium, China,
France, and Britain abstained.(l) On March 3, 1949, the Council
again considered the application. Britain declared that she would
abstain, unless Israel promised not to oppose the return of refugees
and the internationalisation of Jerusalem., Since Israel refused,
Britain d&d abstain. However, at the vote on March 4, there was
no other abstention, and only only Egypt voted against. The Council,

thefefore, recommended Israel's admission to the U.N.

In the second part of the Third Regular Session, in April
and May, 1949, Israel's appli¢ation was refe{éd to the Ad Hoe
Political Committee, in which it was debated from May 3 to May 9.
After a bitter debate, in which accusationssand counter accusations
were hurled, conserning refugees, the internationalisation of
Jerusalem, Bernadotte's murder, and the atrocities of both sides in
the Arab-Israeli war, a joint resolution of Australia, Canada,
Guatemala, Haiti, Panama, America, and Uruguay was passed, by
33 votes to 11, with 13 abstentions, recommending to the Genersl
Assembly that Israel be admitted. Following a similar debate
in the General Assembly, Israel was, finally, admitted to the U.N.
by 37 votes to 12, with 9 abstentions.(2)

1.5/P.V.386
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CHAPTER SEVEN

CONCLUSIONS _

The object of this thesis has been to estimate the effect
the existence of the U.N. had upon the events in Palestine,
1947-9. To make conclusions on this, it is necessary, by examining
the direction of events early in 1947, to make some estimate of
how the situation was evolving, how it might have developed without
the U.N., and to compare it with what in fact happened after the

U.N. became involved.

In early 1947, it was becoming obvious to all statesmen
interested in the Palestine problem, that the only peaceful solution
would be by partition. Peel had suggested this in 1937.- Gradually,
the Jewish Agency leaders, led by Weizmann, had come to accept it.

In Transjordan, Abdullah was willing to é%cept that some special
provision would have to be made for the Jews., Although in their
public declarations, other Arab statesmen had been adamant in
rejecting partition, it is not unreasonable to assume that they
might have accepted partition eventually, provided that the partition
plan was not too obvioﬁsly unjust and was backed by a force
sufficiently overwhelming for them to be able to explain to their
people that, although they were just as firm as ever against partition,
it was impossible to do anything about it. Overwhelming force

was an essential proviso, After so many affirmations of opposition
to partition, no Arab ruler or government, except Abdullah, could
compromise with partition and survive. The real question, therefore,
was what should be the boundaries of the Arab and Jewish states,

and who should provide the necessary force.

In 1947 and 1948, events demonstrate that the implementing
authority would have had to be Britain, for America was steadfast
against involving American troops, neither America nor Britain would
have allowed Russia to interfere, and other countries repeatedly

demonstrated they were determined not to get involved in Palestine.
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Britain, however, had a particular interest in maintaining good
relations with the Arab states, therefore any plan which Britain
woﬁld be willing to enforce would have to be as acceptable as
possible to the Arab states. Any plén, therefore, would have been
largely a product of Britain with this in mind. Certainly, other
countries would have attempted to apply pressure on Britain, and
certainly the effective diplomacy of the Zionists during the
Second Regular Session would also have been applied here, However,
in this case, it would have been very difficult for Truman to
apply pressure to Britain to produce a settlement very favourable
to the Jews, DBritain would simply have had to ask America for
help and Truman would have found it necessary to explain either
why the problem was too difficult for America, which would have
completely justified the British position, or why America did not
sort out the whole thing for the British, which was what Truman's
military advisers would have been completely against, Truman,
with the presidential election in mind, would certainly not have
put himself in a position of having to refuse a Jewish backed

demand for intervention in Palestine.

Assuming, therefore, that, in the absence of the U.N., Britain
would have been left almost alone to produce a solution, it is also
~ reasonable to assume that Britain would have made an attempt to
produce a viable solution. The alternative of withdrawal without
a solution would have never been contemplated by British statesmen,
as the example of India, in 1947, demonstrates. This is not to
say British statesmen would have been happy with the solution, but
they would have had to produce the best possible in the circumstances
and make it work. However, it seems quite likely that British
statemen had in mind a not too unsatisfactory solution, although,
as Cunningham pointed out to Unscop, they could not satisfy everybody.
A Jewish state would have been established most easily in those
areas where the Jews were a majority. This, of edurse, would not
have produced a viable state, but it is inconceivable that Britain
would have made Unscop's mistake of assuming an economic union of
Arab and Jewish states would work. Therefore, Britain would have

had to add to the Jewish state sufficient territory to make it
viable and defenéible.
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In these circumstances the choice of boundaries is limitted.
Taking the Unscop division of Palestine as a starting point, only
the central Jewish area had a Jewish majority, and Jews only
in eastern Galilee were they even a large minority. Eastern Galilee
would have had to be included in the Jewish state, however, to make it
economically viable., This Jewish state would have been too
fragmented to be defenfible, therefore the obvious course would have
been to include western Galilee, which had only a very small
Jewish minority, thus producing a solution which was proposed by
Bernadotte in 1948. It cannot be denied that this plan would have
produced a Jewish state with initially an Arab majority (516,760 to
501,040) but in the Unscop plan the Jews only had a majority if
105,000 Bedouin were neglected. Also, in a Bernaddttestype solution,
a greater number of Jews would be in the Jewish state than in
Unscop's plan (501,940 instead of 499,020), Jewish immigration
would quickly have provided a Jewish majority, and this could have been

permitted before the state was established.(1)

A partition plan like this would have had certain special
advantages for Britain. It was not necessary to provide a viable
Arab state from the rest of Palestine, because Transjordan had once
been part of Palestine and could be reunited with the Arab area.
This would probably have suited Britain very well, for Abdullah was
the only Arab leader both to place a real value on association with
Britain and to take a realistic attitude towards the Jews, Abdullah
might well have accepted a Jewish state in part of Palestine and
a continued British presence in the rest if the rest were given to him-
as a great extension to his Kingdom. Jerusalem alone might have been
enough to decide him, Britain would, therefore, no longer have had
to rely on bases in Egypt which were considered, rightly, insecure
in the long term, and the Mufti, who was no friend of Britain, would

have had no influence in Palestine.

1.4pp.III contains Unscop's figures for the populations of the
areas in the Unscop plan.
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This should have produced a peaceful solution. Arab states
would have denounced the new state of Israel, but would have done
nothing because it would be obvious to their people that they could
do nothing. There would certainly not have been the sense of shame
felt by the Arabs after their defeat in the Arab-Israeli War in
1948, which has made settlement of the problem very difficult.
Israel would, in fact have been quite safe. Egypt could not have
harmed Israel without passing through the enlarged Transjordan,
which Abdullah certainly would not have allowed. With Egypt therefore,
there could not even have been frontier incidents. Egypt would

not even have been able to put pressure on Abdullah as long as
Britain was his ally and British bases were maintained in Arab
Palestine, Lebanon never was enthusiastic about the use of armed
force against Israel, even in 1948, therefore little trouble would
have been expectéd there. Syria, with the only other frontier to
Israel would not have acted alone. Also, in these circumstances,
there would have been less pressure within the Arab states for an
attack on Israel, for there would have been no refugee problem,

In 1948, Jewiéh atrocities against Arabs, which resulted in the

Arab exodus, were excused by ARab atrocities against Jews. However,
a settlement imposed peacefully by Britain would have given the Jews
no excuse for putting direct pressure on the Arabs to leave. Any
terrorist action, or racialist laws even, would have lost Israel
World sympathy and could have given Britain an excuse for punitive
measures, like reducing Israel's territory, which might have redéemed

Britain a little in Arab eyes.

Such a solution would still have undermined Britain's
position in the IMiddle East, although secure bases in Palestine
Wouid have been some compensation., However, it is reasonable to
suppose that, to British statesmen, a solution like this was the
best to be hoped for. It is unlikely that they expected the U.N.
to find a different solution, but the existence of the U.N. gave
Britain the opportunity to try to spread responsibility for
the settlement in Palestine, and to divert some Arab wrath and
also most likely some Jewish wrath onto others. Britain probably
_hoped for the U.N. to endorse a British solution. Doubtless, events

in 1947-48 did not follow the course predicted in London.
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Once the Palestine Question was in the hands of the U.N.,

it wasremoved from British control, and given over to countries

which had iittle knowledge or interest in Palestine. —Fhe—Awab
~statess The Arab states gained nothing, because they could not avoid

in the public debates in the U.N. pressing for the complete

rejection of partition and refusal to make any concession whatever,

in conformity with the policy they had declared to their peoples.

The only Arab state which might have taken a more reasonable

attitude was Jordan, but she was not a U,N. member. This made it

obvious to U.N. members that it was no use trying to produce a

solution to satisfy the Arabs, therefore, in the U.N., less effort

was put-into trying to modify U.N. plans in Arab favour than would

have been the case if the Arabs had given even a hint of willingness

to compromise. Also, it made the Arab states appear unreasonable

to the World at large, and therefore made Zionist pressure more

effective., Once the Arabs were forced to realise that the U.N.

was going to recommend a solution completely contrary to Arab

wishes, the Arabs were so far committed to oppose partition, even

by force, that they could not avoid going to war as soon as Britain

declared the Mandate ended, and forced them to continue the war

to their own disadvantage when the First Truce and Bernadotte's plans

were about to give them the best ﬁossible terms they could have

hoped for. The Arab states only stopped fighting when their

failure against Israel could no longer be concealed from their public,

Governments fell and armistices were signed, but only after the

Arabs had lost far more than they could have gained months before

by negotiation.

For the Jews, reference to the U.N, was a gpeat opportunity.
Jewish representatives at the U.N. could-pose as national representatives.
Jewish pressure could sway the votes of those disinterested in
Palestine, Particularly importgnt was the Jewish pressure on the
American President as the presidential election began to dominate
American politics. In this case, the Jews had a special advantage
in the great personal influence Weizmann was able to exert over

Truman. Jews did not suffer in the U.N. from the Arab weakness of
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having committed themselves so far they could not compromise.

Also, the average Zionist was willing to trust his leadership to

a far greater extent than the Arab public. This made it possible
for the Jews to accept the Unscop plan although the instinctive
reaction of Jews in general was, at first, complete rejection.
Further, since most western statesmen, who formed a majority in the
U.Ney believed partition was the only possible solution, once the
Jewish Agency had accepted partition in principle, while the Arabs
rejected it completely, the Jews became the only party in the
dlspute with whom agreement was possible. This gave UFN. members
the choice of recommending a solution acceptable to the ‘Jews or
~acceptable to nobody. Naturally, the Jewish Agency exploited this
situation by going to the limit of what the U.N, would give to the
Jews., In fact, a solution which gave the Jews a state in the
richest part of Palestine, with a population 50% Arab, and which
dominated strategically and economically an Arab state almost 1007
Arab, could hardly have been more to the Jewish advantage if
dictated by the Agency itself, for it gave a minority an effective
control over a majority, while preserving a superficial impression
of democracy. It can be argued, in fact, that the Jews went too
far in exploiting their advantages in the U.N., for the adoption of
the Unscop plan, on November 29 1947, led to a war which the Jewish
Agency did not want, and, if the Arab-Ispaeli War of 1948 is regarded
as a tragedy for the Jews, then the Agency went too far in

exploiting their advantage.

The Unscop plan put Britain in a very difficult position.

" It could not be enforced, except at very great cost in both the
material sense .and in Britain's standing with the Arab states, Under
these circumstances it was perfectly reasonable for Britain to warn
the U.N. she might not enforce a U.N. plan. Of course, Britain's
declaration that she was leaving Palestine and that she would not
enforce any plan to which botEeArabs and Jews did not agree was not
to be taken 100} seriously, but the common mistake in the U.N. was

to ignore the British declaration altogether. What should have been

realised was that no co;operation whatsoever could be expected in a
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plan which ignored Arab interests, but there might have been some
co-operation with a plan to which both sides did not agree, i.e.

a modification of Unscop in the Arab interest. As already described,
such a modification might have preserved peace, and this was apparent
to disinterested observers like Bernadotte in 1948, However, in the
U.N., great issues in Palestine were far less important to most U.N.
delegates than the least issues concerning their own countries, therefore
Jewish votes and influence throughout the World counted for more
than the merits of Unscop's plan, and once Jewish influence in
Imerica had put the U.S.A. firmly behipd partition and Russia had
followed suit, to go against tne partition plan was to risk the
disfavour of the World's two greatest powers., In these circumstances
it is surprising so many delegations abstained. Once the U.N, had
adopted the Unscop plan, almost unmodified, Britain had no choice but
to refuse complete co-operation and to withdraw as threatened. By
November 29, 1947, the decision to leave Palestine could not have
been reversed, for financial and political reasons, unless the U.N,
had produced a practical solution, enforcible at little cost, which
the partition plan was neither., If Britain had co-operated in any
way then there would have been a considerable risk that Britain would
become so involved that the withdrawal would have to be halted, e.g.
to protect U.N. staff. The attitude of many delegations in the U.N.
during the Second Regular Session suggests that some at least assumed
this would happen. Another important consideration was, if Britain
expected to be taken seriously in the World councils in the future,

she had to carry out her threat.

While it ié possible to suggest that the Agency might have been
too successful, it is impossible to find any success at the U,N.
for the Arabs. An examination of their record there illustrates
how désastrous the reference to the U.N. was for them. Being
completely unable to move from total opposition to partition made
them throw away very many opportunites to destroy the Agency's
hopes. In fact, it reasonably can be concluded that Argb disadvantages
were at least as iﬁportant as Jewish diplomatic skill in ensuring
Jewish success at the U.N. and eventually in securing a much larger

state of Israel than they would otherwise. It was certainly a
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tactical mistake to oppose the establishment of Unscop. Once a
majority had agreed to a special session it should have been obvious
that a majority agreed with the purpose of the session, i.e. to
establish a special committee on Palestine. The Arab states should,
therefore, have concentrated on improving Unscop's terms of reference.
In this they might have had some success, for America was several
times put in embarrassing positions, but only by Asaf Ali (India)

who proved the Arabs' best friend, and not by the Arabs themselves.

At the very best, the Arab failure at the First Special Session

made the Arabs appear to be people who p%rsued lost causes and whose.
words, therefore, could be disregarded. The Arab Higher Committee
boycott was a mistake. With the best will in the World, it would

be very difficult for any committee, opposed with open hostility

on one hand and welcomed with open arms on the other, to remain
completely impartial. BEven if the Higher Committee persisted in
rejecting partition, it should have welcomed Unscop as warmly as

the Jews, and prevented the Jews presenting a misleading picture of
Arab backwardness and the Jews' supreme contriﬁution/;6’economically
and culturally in Palestine. The Arab states appreciated the Higher
Committee's mistake, but their meeting with Unscop in Beirut, entirely
unconstructive, and in some ways insulting, was not calculated to
change Unscop's minds. In the Second Regular Session, the Arabs
wasted time producing s plan for a unitary state, based neither on
Unscop's majority or minority plans, and therefore doomed to failure.
If the Arabs had been able to concentrate on suggesting reasonable
modifications to the Unscop plan, which would have been quite easy,
they could have rendered it unacceptable to the Jewish Agency, and
therefore made the Agency appear unreasonable, while the Arabs

were making enormous concessioms. A rival Arab plan, based on the
majority plan, but modified in Arab favour, could easily have drawn
enough votes from the partition plan to ensure its failure. An
amendment even, proposed about November 27, that the Negev should

be suﬁtracted from the Jewish state, with a hint, however, insincere
at possible Arab co-operation in return, would certainly have succeeded.
If the Arabs had freely offered co-operation on these terms the Jewish
Agency would hardly have been able to objecﬁ, and Britain could not
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have avoided keeping her word to implement a plan to which both
sides'agreed. Certainly Jewish objections to losing the Negev would
have been difficult to sustain, since the liegev contained a
populationiless than 1% Jewish. On a purely practical level,

the Agency would probably have calculated that, while their supporters
might have mustered enough voted to defeat the Arab amendment,

the pdan might then have become unacceptable to the very few members
whose votes were needed for a 2/3 majority. However, the Arabs

were too firmly committed against partition to contemplate, in the
public arena of the U.N, any such action. They therefore continued

their course to war, defeat, and the loss of most of Palestine.

The American and Russian part deserved special mention. Since
the Russians considered their interest would be served by a British
withdrawal from Palestine, the Russians were ready to support any plan
which seemed likely to ensure this. They therefore were careful not
to commit themselves until they were absolutely sure of their ground.
The Americans, however, were too much influenced by internal politics.
Since the State Department was continually against the Unscop partition
plan, it is only fair to conclude that America supported the partition
plan to suit internal politics and either were ignorant or chose
to ignore the probable consequences in Falestine and throughout the
Middle East, This makes due allowance for Truman's personal
concern for his election prospects and for Weizmann's influence.

Once America was committed to the partition plan, the Russian

course was obvious. The British declaration thét she would withdraw
if the plan were adopted must have at first indicated to the Russians
that Britain's ally, America, would not support the partition plan.
Once America supported it, there was a real possibility of success
given Russian help, therefore Russia supported partition after #merica
had declared her support. The Russiaﬁs must have been most pleased
at America playing into their hands. The existence of the U.N.,
therefore, made it possible for American internal politics to play

a much larger part in Palestine than otherwise, and allowed Russia

to exploit the situation.
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In conclusion, therefore, the existence of the U.N. resulted
in the introduction into the Palestine Problem of a large number
of irresponsible parties, or parties with other inteérestsiin Palestine
than a solution of the Problem in the best interests of Palestine's
inhabitants. To produce a viable solution would have been possible
though not easy in early 1947, and it would have been implemented
by Britain. The U.N., however, produced a solution which Britain
could not implement except at into%i;rable cost, and which no other
state, not even those who had voted for the U.N. solution, were
willing to implement themselves. In the end, therefore, the solution,
such as it was, was supplied by war, and even that left a host of

problems for the future.
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APPENDIX I

The Terms of Reference of the United Nations Special Committee
on Palestine, (1)

WHEREAS the General Assembly of the United Nations has been

called into special session for the purpose of constituting and

instructing a Special Committee to prepare for the consideration

at the next regular session of the Assembly a report on the

Question of Palestine,
The General Assembly
RESOLVES that:

1.

5

7o

A Special Committee be created for the above mentioned
purpose consisting of the representatives of Australia,
Canada, Czechoslovakia, Guatemala, India, Iran, Netherlands,
Peru, Sweden, Uruguay and Yugoslaviaj

The Special Committee shall have the widest powers to
ascertain and record facts, and to investigate all questions
and issues relevant to the problem of Palestine;

The Special Committee shall determine its own procedure;

The Special Committee shall conduct investigations in
Palestine and wherever it msy deem useful, receive and
examine written or oral testimony, whichever it may consider
appropriate in each case, from the mandatory Power, from
representatives of the population of Palestine, from
Governments and from such organisations and individuals

as it may deem necessary;

The Special Committee shall give most careful consideration
to the religious interests in Palestine of Islam,

Judaism and Christianity;

The Special Committee shall prepare a report to the General
Assembly and shall submit suéh proposals as it may consider
appropriate for the solution of the problem of Palestine;
The Special Committee's report shall be communicated to the
Secretary-General not later than 1 September 1947, in order
that it may be circulated to the Members of the United Nations
in time for consideration by the Second Regular Session of

the General Assembly;

1.4/309 (Resolution of the General Assembly, May 23, 1947. Paragraphs
8 and 9 authorised the Secretary-General to make appropriate
arrangements)
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APPENDIX II

The Unscop Plan for Partition with Economic Union, as Amended
in the Second Regular Session,

1. W.Galilee

2.8,Galilee )

3.Plains of Sharon and Esdraelon
4,Jaffa

5eJerusalem

6.Samaria and Judea

7.Gaza

8.Negev

==~ Mediterranean and Red Sea Coast

== Land frontiers of Mandatory Palestine and the coasts of
Lake Tiberias and the Dead Sea

=== [N, partition boundaries

[} 4irab state

[:::] Jewish state
] Jerusalem
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APPENDIX ITI
Populations of the Individual Sectors of the Unscop Partition Plan

as Amended in Subcommittee 1 of the Ad Hoc Committee on the

Palestinian Question, but without Ilater Amendments Transfering
Jaffa and Beersheba to the Arab State.

Arab State

Arabs(1) Jews
W.Galilee 123,800 3,040
Samaria and Judea 485,350 5,020
Gaza 117,860 1,460

+ 22,000 Bedouin (approx.)
Total 749,010 9,520

Jewish State

E.Galilee 86,200 28,750
Plains of Sharon oy T
and Esdraelon 306,760 469,250
Negev : 103,820 _ 1,020
+105,000 Bedouin (approx.)
Total 601,780 499,020
Jerusalem
105,540 99,690

l.Included under Arab are all those inhabitants of Palestine
who were not Jews., There were about 1,076,780 Moslem Arabs,
145,060 Christian Arabs, and about 15,490 of other sects.
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NOTE ON SOURCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY

The main source for this thesis is the official records of

the U.,N, However, by themselves, they often present a very misleading
picture, declarations often being made purely for propaganda value,
David Horowitz and Jorge Garcia Granados were active participants in
the U.N. from First to Second Special Sessions., Horowitz's account,
although it contributes much detail, is often reticent on the aims

of Jewish policy. Granados writes very freely, but was distrusted
for his fanaticism, and even the Jews whom he supported thought he
indulged in wild ideas. The most detailed accounts are of Weizmann's
activities, by himself, his wife Vera, and by his colleagues Weisgal
and Eban (Eban's diary is quoted in Weisgal and Carmichael). These
can be supplemented by Truman. American policy appears clearly

in Forrestal's Diaries (his biographer, Rogow, is most useful) and
Welles, There are no really useful books from Britain, and nothing
useful in English from the Arabs (Hénry Cattan, who represented the
Arab Higher Committee during the First Special Session, confines
himself to legai_points), and nothing from Russia. The general works
I have found most useful have been by Hurewitz, Kirk, Monroe, and

Sykes.

Documents

U.N. documents can be found in the United Nations Guide to Official
Records, 1948-1962 (U.N. 1963) This includes documents before 1948,
Bound volumes have been published of verbatim or summary records of
all the General Assembly and Main Committes meetings,'plus important
documents - (reports of committees, proposals, resolutions ete.) in
annexes or supplements,

Other useful documents can be found in "The Arab States and the Arab

League, a Documentary Record," by Muhammad Khalil
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